
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
  

 
Please contact: Matthew Stembrowicz 
Please email: matthew.stembrowicz@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
Please direct dial on: 01263 516047 
 
Tuesday, 12 July 2022 
 
A meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee of North Norfolk District Council will be held in the 
Council Chamber - Council Offices on Wednesday, 20 July 2022 at 9.30 am. 
 
 
At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for 
approximately one and a half hours 
 

Members of the public who wish to ask a question or speak on an agenda item are requested to notify 
the committee clerk 24 hours in advance of the meeting and arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of 
the meeting. This is to allow time for the Committee Chair to rearrange the order of items on the agenda 
for the convenience of members of the public. Further information on the procedure for public speaking 
can be obtained from Democratic Services, Tel: 01263 516047, Email: matthew.stembrowicz@north-
norfolk.gov.uk. 
 
Anyone attending this meeting may take photographs, film or audio-record the proceedings and report 
on the meeting.  Anyone wishing to do so must inform the Chairman.  If you are a member of the public 
and you wish to speak on an item on the agenda, please be aware that you may be filmed or 
photographed. 

 

Please note that Committee members will be given priority to speak during the debate of agenda items 

 
 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services Manager 
 
To: Mr N Dixon, Mr S Penfold, Ms L Withington, Mr H Blathwayt, Mr P Heinrich, Dr V Holliday, 
Mr N Housden, Mrs E Spagnola, Mr A Varley, Mr C Cushing and Mr P Fisher 
 
All other Members of the Council for information. 
Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public 

 

If you have any special requirements in order 
to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance 

If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in 
a different language please contact us 

 
Chief Executive: Steve Blatch 

Tel 01263 513811  Fax  01263 515042  Minicom  01263 516005 
Email  districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk  Web site  www.north-norfolk.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

1.   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 
 

2.   SUBSTITUTES 
 

 
 

3.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS & STATEMENTS 
 

 
 

 To receive questions / statements from the public, if any. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

1 - 10 
 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 15th June 2022. 
 

 

5.   ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 
 

 To determine any other items of business which the Chairman decides 
should be considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 
100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

6.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

11 - 16 
 

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda. The Code of Conduct 
for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest 
and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

 

7.   PETITIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
 

 To consider any petitions received from members of the public. 
 

 

8.   CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE 
COMMITTEE BY A MEMBER 
 

 
 

 To consider any requests made by non-executive Members of the 
Council, and notified to the Monitoring Officer with seven clear working 
days’ notice, to include an item on the agenda of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 

9.   RESPONSES OF THE COUNCIL OR THE CABINET TO THE 
COMMITTEE'S REPORTS OR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
 

 To consider any responses of the Council or the Cabinet to the 
Committee’s reports or recommendations: 
 

 

10.   AMBULANCE RESPONSE TIMES MONITORING: ICB (FORMER 
CCG) & EEAST 
 

17 - 18 
 

 To receive and note the requested data, alongside responses to 
advance questions submitted by the Committee.  
 

 



 
11.   CCFA: IMPACT OF SECOND HOMES AND HOLIDAY LETS DATA REPORT 

 
19 - 102 

 
 Summary: 

 
 
 
 
 
Options considered: 

This report provides data on the possible 
impacts of second homes and holiday lets on 
the District of North Norfolk, and provides 
recommendations to implement possible future 
mitigation measures.  
 
1. Note the report and choose not to act upon 

the data. 
2. Request further analysis or appraisal of 

options available to the Council, and the 
appropriate resource to do so.  

3. Consider approval of the 
recommendations and await expected 
legislation aimed to mitigate the impacts of 
second homes and holiday lets.  
 

Conclusions: 
 

Data provided in the report shows that whilst 
there are a high number of second homes in 
select areas or Parishes, it remains difficult to 
prove any direct correlation between the 
prevalence of second homes and holiday lets 
with any tangible positive or negative impacts.  
 

Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. It is recommended that Members note 
the data provided in the report and 
consider the merit of draft policies 
relating to Council Tax and Planning 
restrictions, alongside the resources 
required to implement such policies.  
 

2. To recommend to Cabinet that NNDC 
supports the draft provisions of the 
Regeneration and Levelling Up Bill 
which would enable the doubling of 
Council Tax on second homes, 
alongside the Council making 
representations to Government seeking 
further legislative changes to enable 
the retention of increased tax revenue 
collected by 2nd tier authorities (District 
Councils). 

 
3. To recommend to Cabinet that NNDC 

supports the extension of planning 
controls proposed in the draft 
provisions of the Regeneration and 
Levelling Up Bill, alongside the Council 
making representations to Government 
seeking further changes to request that 
all second and holiday homes require 
planning permission. 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reasons for  
Recommendations: 
 

4. To recommend to Cabinet that NNDC 
responds positively to a call for 
evidence on the registration of tourist 
accommodation.  

 
5. If Members are not satisfied that the 

data provided in the report provides the 
necessary information required to 
support mitigation measures, it is 
recommended that consideration is 
given to what further investigation is 
required, and the resources necessary 
to undertake such investigations.  

 
To determine whether the data outlined in the 
report warrants the need to prepare for 
implementation of policies to mitigate the 
impacts of second homes and holiday lets.   

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt information and which are not 
published elsewhere) 
 

 
 

Cabinet Member(s) 
N/a 
 

Ward(s) affected 
All 

Contact Officer, telephone number and email: 
Matt Stembrowicz, 01263 516047, matthew.stembrowicz@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Nicky Debbage, 01263 516027, nicky.debbage@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Graham Connolly, 01263 516282, Graham.Connolly@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Mark Ashwell, 01263 516325, Mark.Ashwell@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Sean Knight, 01263 516347, Sean.Knight@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Stuart Quick, 01263 516263, Stuart.Quick@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Rob Young, 01263 516162, Robert.Young@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
 
 

mailto:matthew.stembrowicz@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:nicky.debbage@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Graham.Connolly@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.Ashwell@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Sean.Knight@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Stuart.Quick@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.Young@north-norfolk.gov.uk


 
12.   EQL SCRUTINY PANEL: PUBLIC CONVENIENCES REVIEW & 

RECOMMENDATIONS REPORT 
 

103 - 112 
 

 Summary The Council has sought to prepare a Public 
Convenience Strategy aimed at providing a clear 
path to future management of this non-statutory 
function that is felt to be essential for both 
visitors and the local population.  Public toilets 
are crucial to tourism and town centre 
economies but are facing ever increasing costs 
to provide. 
 

Options 
considered 

The panel has reviewed in-depth over the past 6 
months, the Draft Public Convenience Strategy 
and sought expertise and guidance from both 
officers and external consultants regarding a 
range of options and ideas.  The group also 
sought opinions from local Town and Parish 
Councils. 
 

Conclusion In general the panel supports the provision of a 
Strategy to ensure a holistic approach to the 
future management of the Council’s extensive 
portfolio of 38 public conveniences across the 
District.  The following recommendations are 
made regarding the Draft Public Toilet Provision 
Strategy Document.  
 
The Panel reviewed current provision, sought to 
identify options for the future and reviewed 
means of obtaining and achieving customer 
expectation. 
 

Recommendations The working group has made fourteen 
recommendations which are listed 
throughout the report and summarised in 
Appendix 3 on page 10 of the report.  
 

Reasons for 
Recommendations 

To ensure that the Council’s public 
conveniences are managed and maintained 
efficiently and effectively to a high standard for 
public use by residents and visitors.   

 
LISTOF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt 
information and which are not published elsewhere) 
Public Conveniences Strategy 
Cabinet Member(s):  Ward(s) affected:  All 
Contact officer, telephone and email: 
Maxine Collis Maxine.collis@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
01263 516256 
 to follow.  
 

 

mailto:Maxine.collis@north-norfolk.gov.uk


 
13.   WASTE CONTRACT: NEW TARGET OPERATING MODEL - VERBAL 

UPDATE 
 

 
 

 To receive and note a verbal update from the Director for Communities 
on the implementation of Serco’s new target operating model.  
 

 

WORK PROGRAMMES 

 
14.   THE CABINET WORK PROGRAMME 

 
113 - 114 

 
 To note the upcoming Cabinet Work Programme:   

 
 

15.   OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME AND UPDATE 
 

115 - 124 
 

 To receive an update from the Scrutiny Officer on progress made with 
topics on its agreed work programme, training updates and to receive 
any further information which Members may have requested at a 
previous meeting. 
 

 

16.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 
 

 To pass the following resolution, if necessary: 
 
“That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph _ of Part I of Schedule 12A (as 
amended) to the Act.” 
 

 

 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee held on Wednesday, 15 
June 2022 in the Council Chamber - Council Offices at 9.30 am 
 
Committee 
Members Present: 

Mr N Dixon (Chairman) Mr S Penfold (Vice-Chairman) 

 Ms L Withington Mr H Blathwayt 
 Dr V Holliday Mr N Housden 
 Mrs E Spagnola Mr A Varley 
 Mr C Cushing Mr A Brown 
 Mr P Fisher  
   
Members also 
attending: 

Mr J Toye (Observer) Mr E Seward (Observer) 

 Mr J Rest (Observer) 
Mrs W Fredericks (Observer) 

Mr T Adams (Observer) 

 
Officers in  
Attendance: 

Democratic Services and Governance Officer - Scrutiny (DSGOS), 
Chief Executive (CE), Democratic Services Manager (DSM), Director 
for Communities (DFC), Assistant Director for Planning (ADP) and 
Policy and Performance Management Officer (PPMO) 

 
 
1 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies were received from Cllr P Heinrich.  

 
2 SUBSTITUTES 

 
 None.  

 
3 PUBLIC QUESTIONS & STATEMENTS 

 
 None received.  

 
4 MINUTES 

 
 Minutes from the meeting held on 11th May 2022 were approved as a correct record 

and signed by the Chairman.  
 

5 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 None received.  
 

6 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Cllr A Brown declared a pecuniary interest for agenda item 12 and stated that he 
would abstain from voting and excuse himself from the meeting if any matters 
relating to the specific property concerned were discussed.  
 

7 PETITIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 None received.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
8 CONSIDERATION OF ANY MATTER REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE BY A 

MEMBER 
 

 None received.  
 

9 RESPONSES OF THE COUNCIL OR THE CABINET TO THE COMMITTEE'S 
REPORTS OR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 The DSM noted that Cabinet had accepted the recommendations from the Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee’s May meeting. 
 

10 MANAGING PERFORMANCE QUARTER 4 AND CUMULATIVELY FOR 
2021/2022 
 

 Cllr T Adams – Council Leader introduced the report and informed Members and 
began by stating that the 163 homes delivered was a good achievement against a 
target of 100, though he accepted that more were needed to address the numbers 
still on the housing waiting list. He added that continuing to meet targets would be 
challenging, given the circumstances presented by issues such as nutrient neutrality. 
Cllr T Adams reported that an Energy Officer had now been appointed, which was 
timely given the recent increase in energy costs. On building business growth and 
sustainability, Cllr T Adams stated that positive investment was being seen in areas 
such as North Walsham and in hospitality venues across the District. He added that 
additional investment was being targeted to encourage investment in the west of the 
District, whilst the NWHAZ project continued in the east. On customer focus 
priorities, Cllr T Adams stated that the Planning complaints process had been 
improved to accelerate outcomes, whilst significant progress had also been made on 
the climate coast and environment priorities, with a substantial number of trees 
planted toward the Council’s target. He added that on quality of life, the Reef was 
continuing to exceed expectations, whilst good progress had been made on 
delivering changing places facilities in North Walsham, Sheringham, Stalham and 
Holt. It was noted that the Council had also recently hosted the Mammoth Marathon 
and maintained its blue flag beaches. Finally on financial sustainability, Cllr T Adams 
stated that 90% of energy rebate payments had now been made, with remaining 
residents being contacted to register for payments.  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 

i. The CE noted that the report focused on performance against corporate 
priorities, whilst the Benchmarking report would consider national measures 
against similar and neighbouring authorities.  

 
ii. Cllr V Holliday noted that cross-referencing of the Performance and Bench-

Marking reports appeared to show interesting differences in performance. 
She added that affordable housing targets appeared to have been reduced 
from 183 to 100, and asked whether housing with care dwellings had been 
counted as part of overall affordable housing numbers. The CE replied that 
the housing waiting list could be discussed further under item 11, and noted 
that the Strategic Housing Team would need to provide information on the 
types of affordable housing delivered. He added that completion of care 
scheme projects such as Meadow Court in Fakenham would have been 
captured in performance reports, and that he would seek to determine 
whether these were included in affordable housing delivery data. Cllr W 
Fredericks stated that she would seek to provide a breakdown of the type of 

Page 2



dwellings included in the affording housing delivery data at the next meeting. 
Cllr A Brown suggested that there were 63 units at the Fakenham site 
counted as affordable homes, which may have been removed from the target 
figure. The CE stated that the reduction from 183 to 165 affordable homes 
may be a result of a delay in delivery of the exceptions scheme in 
Southrepps, caused by material supply issues.  

 
iii. Cllr C Cushing noted that there were 66 units at Meadow Court in Fakenham, 

thirty of which were shared ownership. He referred to efforts to make the 
planning process easier for affordable housing providers, which had a 
deadline of 31st March, and asked whether it had been achieved. Cllr W 
Fredericks stated that the ongoing impact of nutrient neutrality had detracted 
from officers being able to complete the task, though efforts continued to 
make the delivery of affordable homes easier for developers. She added that 
stakeholders were being encouraged to bring forward exception sites, 
alongside other efforts to support delivery. The CE suggested that it would 
help to have a standard approach to delivery, but this required further work to 
establish. Cllr C Cushing asked when a report on this could be expected, to 
which Cllr W Fredericks replied that she would provide further information at 
the next meeting. Cllr A Brown noted that most affordable housing schemes 
would take two to three years to deliver. Cllr J Toye stated that affordable 
housing scheme delivery was a complex issue with residents often opposed 
to allocated sites, whilst nutrient neutrality had caused further issues. He 
added that work continued to simplify the process, but it was difficult to 
provide a timescale at this time.  

 
iv. The ADP stated that the Council had previously won an award for innovation 

in partnership working with registered social developers and landlords to 
deliver housing across three different sites in an innovative and more 
affordable way, and these processes would continue to be utilised going 
forward.  

 
v. The Chairman noted that the report covered an extensive range of issues 

with various comments often made on the reporting format, and asked 
whether it would be possible to condense it, potentially with exceptions 
reporting. Cllr C Cushing stated that he was supportive of condensing the 
report to focus on outcomes, which he suggested would make it more 
accessible for scrutiny.  

 
vi. Cllr V Holliday stated that it would be unfortunate to lose a level of detail, but 

accepted that outcome focused reports would help to overcome process 
reporting that was not particularly useful. The DSM stated that it was 
considered good practice to use exceptions reporting, and the PPMO added 
that there were plans to overhaul the reporting framework for the next 
quarter, with focus placed on key outcomes and issues. It was suggested 
that this approach would reduce the report to approximately ten to twenty 
pages. Cllr N Housden suggested that a report summary formed of 
exceptions would be useful, with more detailed information to follow. The 
PPMO stated that she would raise the proposals for consideration.  

 
vii. Cllr W Fredericks suggested that it was helpful for Members to see what had 

been delivered, and there was a balance to be struck in future reports. Cllr S 
Penfold agreed that it was important to know where good progress had been 
made, but accepted the need to condense the report.  

 

Page 3



viii. It was suggested that a review of new reporting formats could be considered 
at the September meeting. Cllr V Holliday stated that it would be helpful to 
see new formats prior to September, to avoid impacting scrutiny of 
performance at the meeting. Cllr N Housden agreed and stated that whilst 
there was not a desire to erode the positive work that had been done, the 
Committee needed to focus on areas of concern.  

 
ix. Cllr E Seward noted that the performance reports had previously been 

checked by the Audit Commission, and whilst this was no longer the case, 
additional information provided context to performance.  

 
x. It was noted that existing workload on officers and the absence of a meeting 

in August meant that September was a realistic timeframe for consideration 
of new reporting formats.  

 
xi. It was confirmed following a question from Cllr L Withington that a range of 

options would be presented to allow the Committee to choose its reporting 
format going forward. The CE added that whilst the InPhase contract was 
due to end in November 2022, he had requested that the service be 
extended until at least the 2023 elections, to maintain consistency in the 
reporting process.  

 
xii. The recommendation was proposed by Cllr N Housden and seconded by Cllr 

C Cushing, alongside actions on revised report format options at the 
September meeting.  

 
RESOLVED 
 
1. To note this report and endorse the actions being taken by Corporate 

Leadership Team detailed in  Appendix A – Managing Performance. 
 
ACTIONS 
 
1. To revise and present new performance management framework data 

focusing on outcomes/issues and/or exceptions reporting and present at 
the September O&S meeting. 

 
2. To review the new performance management framework and agree on key 

outcomes/issues or exceptions reporting at September O&S meeting. 
 

11 NNDC PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKING 
 

 Cllr T Adams – Council Leader introduced the report and informed Members that it 
provided data on a range of measures with performance shown alongside other 
Councils. He added that Council Tax collection rates were a positive example, whilst 
more challenging measures included the number of residents on the housing waiting 
list. It was noted that measures such as this should be understood in the right 
context, with North Norfolk being a very desirable place to live with higher numbers 
of second homes and inward migration, which significantly increased housing 
demand.   
 
Questions and Discussion 
 

i. The PPMO reminded Members that a benchmarking briefing session had 
taken place, with a range of measures agreed for consideration. She added 

Page 4



that focus should be placed on areas where improvement was required, so 
that suggestions and recommendations could be made to address these 
areas.  

 
ii. Cllr V Holliday noted that the Council appeared to be fourth worst on the 

household waiting list, second worst on time taken to process housing benefit 
claims, third worst on household waste recycling and almost at the bottom for 
new enterprises created. She added that she did not see any decisions 
relating to actions, and felt that further benchmarking should be considered 
for matters relating to expenditure on central services, environmental and 
regulatory services, and public health. It was noted that actions taken in 
response to benchmarking data would be determined by Cabinet, though the 
Committee were free to make recommendations. Cllr V Holliday suggested 
that the Committee should make recommendations where benchmarked 
performance was poor, and add further measures as suggested. The CE 
stated that any recommendations would need to be carefully considered to 
account for the level of resource available, and noted for context that the high 
number on the housing waiting list was an issue shared with other regions 
with a high number of second homes. He added that this suggested that the 
policy tools may not be available to fully address the contributing factors. On 
recycling rates, it was noted that rural authorities often struggled to achieve 
rates comparable to urban areas, as a result of not collecting food waste. 
The CE stated that his concerns related to benefits performance, though an 
improvement plan was being developed to address the issue. 

 
iii. The Chairman noted that all benchmarking indicators required contextual 

background, and the aim of the report should be to identify areas where the 
Council was not performing as well as expected, why this was the case, and 
what could be done to address the issues.  

 
iv. Cllr W Fredericks stated that the speed of new housing benefits claims had 

been affected by legacy benefits that were changing to Universal Credit, 
which had caused complexities in working with the DWP, that had 
subsequently slowed down the process, though software was being 
considered to mitigate this.  

 
v. Cllr L Withington asked whether it would be appropriate to ask Cabinet where 

they could provide further contextual information to explain performance, 
taking into account that several issues were already being addressed as part 
of the Planning performance review and CCfA process. The Chairman 
replied that it was important to ensure that the Committee remained 
independent, and therefore must make its own decisions on what to consider 
when reviewing performance.  

vi. Cllr J Toye stated that it could be useful for the Committee to request reports 
on matters of concern, rather than seeking excessive data for consideration. 
The CE added that this had been the case for Planning performance which 
had been raised in the previous year, with clear progress made.  

 
vii. Cllr H Blathwayt noted that South Lakelands District appeared frequently in 

the benchmarking data, however this authority was now Westmorland and 
Furness unitary authority.  

 
viii. Cllr T Adams stated that he supported the Committee considering issues of 

concern, but felt that it would be helpful to provide further context of the 
issues that effected performance.  

Page 5



 
ix. The recommendations were proposed by Cllr A Brown and seconded by Cllr 

H Blathwayt.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
To Receive benchmarking information as follows;  
 
1. Use the CIPFA nearest neighbours comparator group.  
 
2. Report on a quarterly basis at the same time as the performance reporting.  
 
3. Seven key benchmarking areas to be included in the initial report as laid 

out in appendix 1. 
 
4. Performance areas are reviewed on a six-monthly basis.  
 

12 ENFORCEMENT UPDATE - JUNE 2022 
 

 Cllr J Toye – Planning and Enforcement Portfolio Holder introduced the report and 
informed Members that the enforcement matrix had been removed as it was 
available elsewhere and updated on a regular basis, whilst the report had been 
condensed to focus on exceptions.  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 

i. The Chairman noted that on several occasions reference had been made to 
a ‘number’ of actions, and suggested it would be more helpful if the specific 
metrics could be identified. He added that this could have been addressed at 
pre-agenda stage, but suggested that these figures could likely be clarified 
after the meeting. Cllr J Toye accepted the comments and suggested that he 
would seek to provide the information in the coming weeks.  

 
ii. The ADP informed Members that the DFPCC was now the senior reporting 

officer for matters of enforcement, though he was unable to attending the 
meeting on this occasion. He added that in terms of progress, the closure of 
a nine year case at Little Harbord House in Cromer, had resulted in a 
successful outcome of granting planning permission that would regularise 
issues on the site and deliver housing. It was noted that other cases were 
moving forward, with prosecutions being pursued where necessary.  

 
iii. The ADP noted that the overall figure for long-term empty homes remained 

at no more than 1% of the District, and was expected to soon fall below 400. 
He added that joint working with the Housing Strategy Team was being 
pursued to deliver a long-term empty homes Policy, with an expectation to 
complete in autumn 2022, which would enable enforcement action to be 
pursued on longstanding empty properties. It was noted that the combined 
enforcement caseload remained high, with 245 cases down from 305 in the 
previous reporting period, 144 of which were new cases, meaning that 164 
cases had been closed.  

 
iv. The ADP reported that a revised webpage for combined enforcement had 

gone live in December 2021, with an interactive e-complaint form that 
provided officers with greater clarity. He added that this was supported with 
an expediency matrix, alongside a revised enforcement plan that provided 

Page 6



officers guidance in their decision making. It was reported that recruitment 
would soon begin for a Conditions Monitoring Officer and an Enforcement 
Apprentice, which would provide significant additional resource to the Team.  

 
v. The Chairman referred comments on the Waterfront Rooms in Hoveton, and 

suggested ‘closure expected on receipt of application’ appeared an ambitious 
statement, given the years that had passed waiting for an application, which 
would then require approval and implementation. The ADP stated that the 
Council was engaged with the Waterfront Rooms as a potential compulsory 
purchase option, however if a planning application was received it would still 
be seen as significant progress for the site. He added that if the application 
was refused or undelivered, then the site could return to the enforcement 
process for further action. The Chairman replied that public perception had to 
be considered to manage expectations, as closure from the public’s point of 
view would only be realised when the site was cleared and redeveloped.  

 
vi. The Chairman referred to Arcady and asked whether this should feature 

within the report. The ADP replied that the matter related to the demolition of 
an unauthorised dwelling at Cley next the Sea, and stated that whilst it 
remained on the enforcement matrix, officers were awaiting the outcome of a 
planning appeal that would determine the way forward. He added that unlike 
the Hoveton issue where the Broads Authority were responsible for planning 
applications, Cley was within the remit of NNDC, and further action could be 
expected once the appeal outcome was known.  

 
vii. Cllr N Housden referred to Tattersett Business Park and asked whether the 

outstanding business rates had been collected. The ADP replied that the 
collection of business rates was moving forward through the legal process, 
and was subject to reclaim as a result of legal action. Cllr N Housden stated 
that minutes from September suggested that little progress had been made 
and more information was therefore required. The ADP replied that the 
Enforcement Board took the matter very seriously and were awaiting action 
from Eastlaw to pursue the matter through the legal process. Cllr N Housden 
stated that the Environment Agency had also been involved in recent 
meetings, and it would be useful to understand their contribution, as it was 
his understanding that there was still no licence in place for waste tyres on 
the site. The ADP replied that he would report directly to the local Member on 
matters relating to the Environment Agency, and stated that prosecution was 
expected to begin in Autumn 2022.  

 
viii. The Chairman referred to comments that Members were kept informed of 

enforcement action in their wards, which he suggested was not always 
adhered to, even though Member support was crucial to pursuing action, as 
had been the case in Hoveton. Cllr N Housden stated that he was aware of 
other meetings that he had been precluded from and suggested that this was 
not in-line with efforts to keep local Members informed. The ADP replied that 
if a recommendation was formed to place greater emphasis on notifying 
Members of enforcement action, he would be happy to pursue this with the 
Portfolio Holder. He added that Members were also welcome to approach 
officers for information, as the high number of active cases made it difficult 
for officers to determine where information was required. The DSM stated 
that notifying local Members was an issue that had been raised previously by 
the Licensing Committee, who had recommended strengthening guidance 
within the Member-Officer Protocol.  

 

Page 7



ix. Cllr V Holliday asked whether there were any performance measures for 
enforcement, such as case closures or time taken to close. The ADP replied 
that there were no national performance measures, though this could be 
actioned through the Portfolio Holder, using existing information on the 
number of cases closed and outstanding cases. Cllr J Toye stated that 
beyond providing information in enforcement reports, there had to be an 
element of self-help, as the InPhase system was available for all Members. 
The Chairman suggested that it would be helpful to be kept up to date on 
progress with significant cases, as well as keeping Parish and Town Councils 
up to date. It was suggested that Members had a duty to take an interest in 
enforcement action taken in their wards, and if not contacted automatically, 
they should approach officers for further information. Cllr A Brown noted that 
unlike the regular Planning system, it was not possible to track enforcement 
cases or register electronically for updates, though he had found that 
expressing an interest with officers had prompted regular updates. Cllr J 
Toye noted that enforcement cases could be tracked using the Planning 
system, albeit with less detail.  

 
x. Cllr L Withington suggested that a briefing could be useful to explain the 

compulsory purchase process. The ADP replied that the CPO process was 
led by the Legal Team, but he would be happy to support a briefing if 
required. He added that CPO of the Shannocks site in Sheringham 
continued, with efforts being made to start development in Autumn 2022, with 
completion expected by Autumn 2023. The Chairman noted that CPOs were 
complex but also very rare, and he did not feel that a general briefing would 
provide the level of detail required to understand the process.  

 
xi. Cllr N Housden stated that on matters of serious concern, such as the 

situation at Tattersett, it would be useful to have an Eastlaw representative in 
attendance to provide details of any legal proceedings in private session.  

 
xii. The Chairman summarised comments and noted the additional proposal to 

recommend that Members are notified of all major enforcement action or 
significant progress made in their wards. The recommendations were 
proposed by Cllr N Housden and seconded by Cllr P Fisher.  

 
xiii. Cllr A Brown abstained from voting.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
1. To note the continued progress of the Enforcement Board and the 

Combined Enforcement Team  
 
2. To request that Members are notified of all major enforcement action taken, 

or any significant progress made on cases within their wards, as outlined 
in the Member-Officer Protocol. 

 
13 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 

 
 The DSM introduced the report and informed Members it provided a summary of the 

work undertaken by the Committee in the 2021-22 municipal year. She added that it 
was a statutory requirement for the Committee to report its annual work to Full 
Council, and that it followed a regular format that would have been seen in previous 
years. It was noted that the Committee were using a range of tools to make effective 
recommendations such as pre-scrutiny, CCfAs, and sub-Committees in the form of 

Page 8



the Scrutiny Panel. The DSM stated that the Executive-Scrutiny Protocol was 
working well, with regular meetings now taking place and increased engagement 
with Cabinet Members regularly attending meetings. She added that if approved the 
report would go to Council for consideration in June.  
 
Questions and Discussion 
 

i. The Chairman noted that there had been no Call-ins during the 2021-22 
year, which should be taken as a positive indicator that matters could be 
resolved without the need for escalation. He added that the 
recommendations highlighted concerns that issues remained from previous 
years such as ongoing issues with substitutes, or the addition of late reports 
which limited the Committee’s efficacy.  

 
ii. Cllr S Penfold thanked the Scrutiny Officer for his support of the Committee 

and in his role as Vice Chair and the Chairman seconded the comments.  
 

iii. The recommendations were proposed by Cllr S Penfold and seconded by 
Cllr H Blathwayt.  

 
RESOLVED  
 
1. To recommended that Council notes the report, affirms the work of the 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee, and considers the following concerns 
raised within the report:  
 

 Additional Committee substitutes required to adequately address the 
number of apologies given.  

 Late submission of reports continues to cause volatility in the Work 
Programme.  

 Too many ‘last minute’ requests to include items under Urgent 
Business which degrades both the quality of scrutiny and the 
opportunity to add maximum value to the process. 

 
14 THE CABINET WORK PROGRAMME 

 
 The DSM noted that whilst several financial reports were expected in July, these 

were more likely to be considered in September, due to ongoing resourcing issues in 
the Finance Team. She added that the Engagement Strategy was similarly expected 
in July, with a workshop planned to discuss the Strategy on 24th June. 
 
RESOLVED  
 
To note the Cabinet Work Programme.  
 

15 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME AND UPDATE 
 

 i. The DSM noted that financial reports could be expected in September, whilst 
the Reef project had also been delayed as a result of officers awaiting 
closedown of the contractor’s accounts. She added that representatives from 
EEAST and the CCG had confirmed their attendance for the July meeting to 
discuss ambulance response times, with remote attendance expected. It was 
noted that that the Second Homes and Holiday data report and the Public 
Convenience Recommendations were also expected in July.  

Page 9



 
ii. The Chairman noted that he had agreed to delays in the Reef Project report, 

though he was concerned of delays with the financial reports and hoped that 
the Outturn report would be prioritised.  
 

iii. Cllr W Fredericks referred to comments on the number housing units 
delivered during discussion of the Performance report and noted that the 
number delivered included 64 affordable, 96 shared ownership, and 66 
housing extra care flats in Fakenham which were included in the total. Of 
these 66, 30 were  affordable rent and 36 shared ownership. It was noted 
that officers had also offered to provide a briefing on the impact of nutrient 
neutrality on housing deliveries in September.  

 
RESOLVED  
 
To note the Committee Work Programme.  
 

16 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

  
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 11.24 am. 
 
 

 
______________ 

Chairman 

Page 10



   

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 
in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register  
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 

 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence

or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not

participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



   

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of

the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –

a. your own financial interest or well-being;

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; or

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable

Interests  as set out in Table 2

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it

would affect your view of the wider public interest

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote 

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure  that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

Page 12



    

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 

Page 13

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or 
a body that such person has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the council 
— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and

(b) either—

(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were

Page 14



  

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and

provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building

society.

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:  

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body

(i) exercising functions of a public nature

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

Page 15



Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

Page 16



NNDC AMBULANCE RESPONSE TIMES MONITORING – DATA REQUEST & ADVANCE 

QUESTIONS 

 

Data Request: 

 Ambulance response times data for category 1, 2, 3 and 4 calls from last two quarters 

for England, East of England, Norfolk aggregate, and specific post codes NR23, NR24, 

and NR25.  

 Arrival to clear times of all hospitals in EEAST region from last two quarters for 

comparative analysis.  

 

Advance Questions: 

 

1. As a result of the move from CCG to ICB, what proposed changes can be expected if 

EEAST is commissioned at County level as opposed to the regional level?  

2. What is the plan for RRVs in Norfolk beyond September 2022? 

3. Can the ICB provide 10 actions/measures it is planning/implementing to make system-

wide improvements in the healthcare system that will help improve ambulance 

response times in North Norfolk?  

4. How does social care impact arrival to clear times at the NNUH and QEH-KL? 

5. Can EEAST provide 5 steps/measures it is planning/implementing to help improve 

ambulance response times in North Norfolk?  

6. Are CFRs recognised as being a valuable resource, embedded in rural communities, 

that could significantly remediate the adverse impact of poor rural response times and 

enhance the prospect of better patient outcomes? 

7. Will more support be given to properly fund and maintain CFR services in areas where 

ambulance response times remain an issue? 

8. To what extent are ‘drop and go’ or ‘rapid release’ measures being used at the NNUH 

and QEH-KL to improve ambulance availability and subsequent response times? 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
CCFA SECOND HOMES & HOLIDAY LETS: DATA REPORT 
 

Summary: 
 
 
 
 
 
Options considered: 

This report provides data on the possible 
impacts of second homes and holiday lets on 
the District of North Norfolk, and provides 
recommendations to implement possible future 
mitigation measures.  
 
1. Note the report and choose not to act upon 

the data. 
2. Request further analysis or appraisal of 

options available to the Council, and the 
appropriate resource to do so.  

3. Consider approval of the recommendations 
and await expected legislation aimed to 
mitigate the impacts of second homes and 
holiday lets.  
 

Conclusions: 
 

Data provided in the report shows that whilst 
there are a high number of second homes in 
select areas or Parishes, it remains difficult to 
prove any direct correlation between the 
prevalence of second homes and holiday lets 
with any tangible positive or negative impacts.  
 

Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. It is recommended that Members note the 
data provided in the report and consider 
the merit of draft policies relating to 
Council Tax and Planning restrictions, 
alongside the resources required to 
implement such policies.  
 

2. To recommend to Cabinet that NNDC 
supports the draft provisions of the 
Regeneration and Levelling Up Bill which 
would enable the doubling of Council Tax 
on second homes, alongside the Council 
making representations to Government 
seeking further legislative changes to 
enable the retention of increased tax 
revenue collected by 2nd tier authorities 
(District Councils). 

 
3. To recommend to Cabinet that NNDC 

supports the extension of planning 
controls proposed in the draft provisions 
of the Regeneration and Levelling Up Bill, 
alongside the Council making 
representations to Government seeking 
further changes to request that all 
second and holiday homes require 
planning permission. 

 
4. To recommend to Cabinet that NNDC 

Page 19

Agenda Item 11



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reasons for  
Recommendations: 
 

responds positively to a call for evidence 
on the registration of tourist 
accommodation.  

 
5. If Members are not satisfied that the data 

provided in the report provides the 
necessary information required to 
support mitigation measures, it is 
recommended that consideration is given 
to what further investigation is required, 
and the resources necessary to 
undertake such investigations.  

 
To determine whether the data outlined in the 
report warrants the need to prepare for 
implementation of policies to mitigate the 
impacts of second homes and holiday lets.   

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 
(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt information and which are not 
published elsewhere) 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member(s) 
N/a 
 

Ward(s) affected 
All 

Contact Officer, telephone number and email: 
Matt Stembrowicz, 01263 516047, matthew.stembrowicz@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Nicky Debbage, 01263 516027, nicky.debbage@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Graham Connolly, 01263 516282, Graham.Connolly@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Mark Ashwell, 01263 516325, Mark.Ashwell@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Sean Knight, 01263 516347, Sean.Knight@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Stuart Quick, 01263 516263, Stuart.Quick@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
Rob Young, 01263 516162, Robert.Young@north-norfolk.gov.uk  
 

Page 20

mailto:matthew.stembrowicz@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:nicky.debbage@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Graham.Connolly@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Mark.Ashwell@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Sean.Knight@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Stuart.Quick@north-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.Young@north-norfolk.gov.uk


 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 A Councillor Call for Action was made at the December 2021 meeting of the 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee, proposed by Cllr L Withington and seconded 
by Cllr J Toye. Whilst the actions taken a result of CCfAs are for the 
Committee to determine based on CCfA guidance, the initial Call was made 
of the following requests:  
 

A. “A request for O&S to consider holding a One Day Rapid Review 
Process, focussing on the management and mitigation of the impact of 
second homes, holiday lets, B&Bs or Air B&Bs (Visitor 
Accommodation) in North Norfolk by NNDC. 
 

B. As part of this review process a request for O&S to consider including:  
 

An evaluation of the current local situation including; an analysis of the 
current rates/types of visitor accommodation across the district, an 
analysis of the difference in safety between long term let and short 
term holiday lets and Air B&Bs, an analysis of the local housing need, 
identifying the detrimental and positive impacts of high numbers of 
tourist related accommodation across the district and other areas, a 
review of how we can maximise the benefits and mitigate the 
detrimental impact of high numbers of visitor accommodation. 
 

C. A review of actions taken to mitigate the impact of high levels of visitor 
accommodation across the country. 
 

D. The development of an approach and action plan to make clear: the 
NNDC position on visitor accommodation, identify what is already 
underway, the NNDC understanding of the impact of visitor 
accommodation levels across the district, the NNDC position on 
appropriate regulation and legislation which supports the NNDC 
position, an agreed approach which continues to protect and grow the 
local tourism-based economy, establish mechanisms that can be used 
by NNDC to ensure that residents can access truly affordable and 
energy efficient homes in the communities where they can access 
work, education and public transport based on the findings of this 
review, establish what needs to be done by other tiers of Government 
to support effective management of the impact of visitor 
accommodation in North Norfolk along with a strategy for lobbying and 
engagement to drive the findings forward, establish if there needs to 
be changes to establish adequate safety levels across visitor 
accommodation, what NNDC consider necessary to happen and lobby 
for through the actions/ responsibility/ legislation of other tiers of 
Government to support effective management of the impact of visitor 
accommodation in North Norfolk.” 

 
1.2 As a result of the initial CCfA, the Committee requested that a report be 

prepared by officers to outline the scope of an investigation, which was 
considered by the Committee at the April 2022 meeting. The scoping report 
identified investigation into the following areas of interest:  

 

 Current status of second and holiday homes in the District 

 What are the current positive/negative impacts? 

Page 21



 

 Does NNDC currently take any actions to mitigate possible impacts? 

 Could NNDC take any further actions to mitigate possible impacts?  

 What potential actions could NNDC take on a local level? 

 What potential actions could NNDC take on a national level? 

 Overview & Scrutiny Committee to agree next steps 
 
1.3 Following approval of the scoping report Members agreed that the data report 

should be presented at the July 2022 meeting of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.  
 

2. Investigation Summary 
 
2.1 The following data report seeks to establish the current position of second 

homes and holiday lets in the District of North Norfolk, any subsequent 
impacts this may have on issues such as housing availability, demand and 
cost. The report also considers existing policies utilised or considered by the 
Council in relation to second homes and holiday lets, and makes reference to 
future legislation that may provide further policy tools to local authorities to 
influence their prevalence and contribution to the District.  

 
2.2 As outlined in the report, the number of second homes in a given Town or 

Parish varies considerably across the District. It remains difficult to directly 
attribute any particular concerns such as rising house prices or supply 
shortages to second homes and holiday lets, given that there are so many 
other potential factors that could be attributed to these issues. This 
investigation takes into account factors such as inward migration from retirees 
and North Norfolk being a desirable place to live.   

 
2.3 The economic impact assessment suggests that North Norfolk is highly 

dependent on tourism, with the sector contributing over £500m to the local 
economy prior to Covid-19, thus supporting numerous local businesses, 
employees and residents. Whilst second homes and holiday lets undoubtedly 
contribute to this figure, it remains difficult to determine whether they provide 
an overall net gain or loss to the economy. It is similarly considered that the 
impact on communities is difficult to determine, with secondary data 
suggesting that there are both positive and negative impacts. It is suggested 
that ultimately residents concerns must be considered alongside the 
importance of tourism for the local economy.  
 

2.4 Existing policies in use or previously considered by the Council relating to the 
Revenues and Planning service areas are outlined in the report, alongside 
discussion of legislation being developed by the Government, that could allow 
Councils to influence the number of second homes in a given community. 
With regards to revenues, the Council charges 100% Council Tax charge on 
second homes, whilst holiday lets pay business rates. It is possible that draft 
legislation being prepared by Government could allow Council’s to increase 
Council Tax charges in the future. On planning policy, various options such as 
the ‘St Ives’ principle have been considered in the report that would place 
restrictions on new homes, however this is not deemed to be an effective 
solution as it would place increased pressure on existing dwellings. Similarly, 
further planning tools are being drafted by Government that could be used to 
influence the prevalence of second homes, with an outline provided in the 
report.  

 

Page 22



 

3. Corporate Plan Objectives 
 
3.1 The report is relevant to the local homes for local need theme of the Council’s 

Corporate Plan in which it is stated that, ‘With a local housing market driven 
by strong demand for second and holiday homes and people wishing to retire 
to the area, however many local people on average wages struggle to access 
the housing market through being able to afford a home of their own. Further, 
the availability of private rented accommodation is lower than in many other 
areas of the country due to the higher returns investors can make renting 
accommodation for holiday lets.’  

 
3.2 As a result, the data report seeks to directly address the impact that second 

homes and holiday lets have on the supply of housing and demand in North 
Norfolk, including the subsequent impact on issues such as house prices and 
the housing waiting list.  

 
3.3 The outcome of this report should therefore be given careful consideration as 

it seeks to support the overall delivery of a key theme of the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  

 
4. Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 
4.1 The report and its contents have no immediate or direct impact on the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy. It is possible that in future years Members’ 
decision on whether to support and/or implement policies relating to 
increased Council Tax for second homes or a transfer of properties to 
business rates could have a moderate financial impact, potentially creating a 
modest increase in revenue.  

 
5. Financial and Resource Implications 

 
5.1 As outlined within the recommendation, Members’ may seek to recommend to 

Cabinet that necessary resource is available to develop policies to address 
the impact of second homes, in-line with anticipated legislation from Central 
Government. This could have limited financial implications if additional policy-
writing resource is deemed necessary. Furthermore, if such policies are 
implemented in future, this could lead to an increase in Council Tax and/or 
Business Rates Revenues.  
 

6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct legal implications to note in relation to the content of the 

report.  
 
7. Risks 

 
7.1 The primary risk to the Council presented by the report is reputational, as 

residents throughout the District may have an expectation that the Council will 
act to limit any potential negative impacts caused by second homes and 
holiday lets, or seek to fully take advantage of any positive impacts. Therefore 
the Council should be careful to manage expectations by adequately 
assessing the existing policy tools available and identifying their efficacy and 
limitations.   

 
8. Sustainability 

Page 23



 

 
8.1 Sustainability has not been considered at this stage due to the limited scope 

of the investigation. If the matter is considered further, additional resource 
may be required to undertake any in-depth review. 

 
9. Climate / Carbon Impact 
 
9.1 Climate and carbon impact have not been considered at this stage due to the 

limited scope of the investigation. If the matter is considered further, 
additional resource may be required to undertake any in-depth review.  

 
10. Equality and Diversity 
 
10.1 There are no direct equality and diversity considerations to note in relation to 

the content of the report.  
 
11. Section 17 Crime and Disorder considerations 

 
11.1 There are no Section 17 Crime and Disorder considerations to note in relation 

to the content of the report.  
 
12. Conclusion and Recommendations 
 
12.1 Overall the impact of second homes and holiday lets on the District remains 

difficult to determine. This report has outlined the current position, and any 
existing or future policies that could be used to influence or mitigate what are 
perceived as negative impacts. As a result, if Members agree that the data 
provided in the reports presents a cause for concern, it is recommended that 
Members note the data provided in the report and give consideration to the 
merit and possible implementation of policies being prepared by the 
Government relating to Council Tax and Planning restrictions, alongside the 
resources required to implement such policies. It is also recommended that 
the Council responds positively to a call for evidence on the registration of 
holiday lets, and seeks input from Members if it is felt that any further 
investigation is required.  

Page 24



1 
 

CCFA: POSSIBLE IMPACTS OF SECOND AND HOLIDAY HOMES IN 
NORTH NORFOLK 

 

Contents: 

1. Summary  

2. Definitions and Numbers of Second and Holiday Homes 

How Second and Holiday Homes may affect: 

3. Housing Market  

4. Economy  

5. Revenues 

6. Communities  

Consideration of Existing Polices / Available Policies & Further Options: 

7. Housing  

8. Revenues  

9. Planning 

Supporting Evidence: 

10.  Appendices 

A:    Second and Holiday Homes 2022 

B1:  Second Homes 2022 – Heat Map 

B2:  Second and Holiday Homes Combined 2022 – Heat Map 

C:    National Second Homes Comparisons 

D:    Affordable Housing Stock – Comparison with Second and Holiday   

Homes 

E:    Affordable Housing Completions (2011 – 22) – Comparison with 

Second and Holiday Homes 

F1 - 3:   Evidence from elsewhere – impact of restricting Second Homes 

  

Page 25



2 
 

1. Summary 

1.1 As at 1st April 2022 North Norfolk district (the district) had 7,169 second and holiday homes.  The 

4,508 second homes represent 8.0% of council tax homes and the 2,661 holiday homes 4.5% of all 

homes (council tax homes plus holiday homes liable for business rates).  North Norfolk has the second 

highest proportion of second homes in England (after the City of London) and one of the highest in 

terms of total numbers.  Comprehensive national statistics are not available to make comparisons with 

holiday home numbers. 

1.2 The changing demographics of the district is the main driver of the housing market.  People aged 

65+ made up 32% of the population in 2018 compared with 17.8% for England.  The Office for National 

Statistics projects that this proportion will rise to 36.4% by 2028 and continue to rise thereafter.  In 

the period between 2018 and 2028 deaths (15,264) are projected to exceed births (7,285) by more 

than two to one.  Nonetheless, the population will grow from an estimated 104,000 in 2018 to around 

110,087 by 2028.  This projected growth is due to net inward migration, mainly from other parts of 

England. Property prices in North Norfolk remain lower than many other areas in the East of England 

so that many moving to the area may have sufficient income/savings to buy in a location of their 

choice. 

1.3 From the available evidence it is difficult to conclude that the high numbers of second and holiday 

homes is affecting house prices and affordability1 across the district as a whole.  However, there may 

be some local effects.  The three wards in the district with the highest numbers of second and holiday 

homes also have the highest house prices.  This could be partly as a result of high numbers of holiday 

and second homes in those areas or because high value areas are attractive locations for home 

purchasers, or a combination of both factors. 

1.4 At the time of the 2011 census 16.6% of housing in the district was in the private rented sector.  

We await the release of up to date information from the 2021 census.  Recent national research 

indicates that the sector is in decline with landlords leaving the market, mainly by selling rental homes 

but with a small number (1%) converting to short-term ‘holiday’ lets.  Our ‘snapshot’ surveys of 

properties to let in the district show reduced numbers to let and rising rent levels.  We do not know if 

this is due to a decline in the private rent sector and, if so, if this is because landlords are using 

properties for short-term ‘holiday’ lets. 

1.5 As at 1st April 2021, there were 6,366 affordable homes in the district.  All the towns and parishes 

in the district have affordable homes and, whilst the proportions vary, there is no correlation with the 

number of second and holiday homes.  

1.6 Currently the Council charges 100% of Council Tax on the majority of second homes.  The Council 

has chosen to use its discretionary powers to not reduce the Council Tax on second homes. As second 

home owners are liable for the same Council Tax charge as other properties, second homes have a 

neutral impact on revenue income for the Council.  The Council retains 8p for every £1 of Council tax 

collected.  The situation is different for holiday homes. Holiday homes are liable to pay non-domestic 

(business) rates.  The Council retains 40p for every £1 of non-domestic (business) rates, even where 

the owner receives Business rates relief.   

1.7 In 2019, tourism contributed £529 million to the North Norfolk district economy and provided 

employment for an estimated 11,898 people.  This represents about 20% of the jobs in the district.  In 

                                                           
1 In this report we use the ratio of median house prices to median income as a measure of affordability.  See 
section 3 for further information. 

Page 26



3 
 

2020 the sector declined sharply due to Covid 19.  Figures for 2021 are not yet available but are 

expected to show some recovery. 

1.8 Staying visitors (as opposed to day visitors) account for 5,009, or a little under half, of the 11,898 

tourism related jobs.  Of the £519 million tourism generated income 10% or £53 million is for 

accommodation. 

1.9 Staying visitors have a range of options for overnight accommodation.  Traditionally this included 

guesthouses, bed and breakfast and private hotels.  Increasingly staying visitors are choosing self-

contained accommodation, which could be a holiday let or their own second home. In terms of second 

and holiday homes, there are two conclusions we can draw: 

i. Second and holiday homes play a significant part in generating local income and employment. 

ii. The trend toward self-contained holiday accommodation, rather than bed and breakfast or 

hotel accommodation may be contributing to the increased numbers of second and holiday 

homes. 

1.10 The Council’s housing policies focus on the delivery of new housing and in particular affordable 

housing across the district.  The policies include enabling work and grant funding to help affordable 

housing scheme viability.  Two areas of activity tend to focus on parts of the district with high numbers 

of holiday and second homes: 

i. Support to community-led housing groups. 

ii. Delivery of rural exceptions housing sites. 

1.11 Most of the district’s community-led housing groups are in parts of the district with high numbers 

of holiday and second homes.  Similarly many, though not all, of the recent and planned exceptions 

housing sites are also in areas with high numbers of holiday and second homes. 

1.12 There are two changes planned by government that will give the Council additional powers 

affecting second and holiday homes. 

i. Changes to non-domestic (business) rates. – Business Rates are typically lower than 

Council Tax and small businesses can benefit from exemptions. Currently to qualify for 

non-domestic (business) rates an owner of a holiday home needs to make the home 

available for let for at least 140 days a year.  From 1st April 2023 the owner must also 

actually let the property for at least 70 days in the previous year.  If the owner is unable 

to confirm the property is let for 70 days they would instead be liable to pay Council Tax 

and lose any Non-Domestic (Business) Rate relief. 

ii. Increases on Council Tax for second homes.  - The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill 

proposes to give local councils the power to charge up to 100% extra Council Tax on 

second homes.   

1.14 The government has also launched a call for evidence into the benefits and challenges 

presented by the rise in short-term holiday lets. The evidence gathered should help inform the 

development of policy options, which the government intends to consult on later in 2022. This may 

include a registration scheme for holiday lets, similar to schemes that already run in Scotland and 

Northern Ireland which aim to ensure standards are met in holiday lets.  

1.15 The Council’s planning policies support the delivery of affordable housing.  Plan ning policy 

requires that new housing development of more than 10 homes provide 45% affordable homes.  In 

addition, the Council’s policy on affordable housing in the countryside allows for the development of 

affordable housing on rural exceptions housing sites. 

Page 27



4 
 

1.16 The Council has previously considered, and rejected, the option of imposing occupancy 

conditions on new-build market housing.  An occupancy condition would require the owner to use the 

home as their principal home and prevent its use as a second or holiday home.  The Council rejected 

this policy on a number of grounds but principally because: 

i. It could only apply to new-build homes and prospective second/holiday home owners 

could choose to buy existing properties without an occupancy restriction thereby 

deflecting demand into the existing housing stock. 

ii. There are doubts about the effectiveness and impacts of such policies. 

iii. It could be difficult and costly to police such restrictions. 

1.17 There is draft provision in the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill that would require second 

home owners to obtain planning permission if they do not let their property for holiday purposes 

for at least 90 days.  This would give the Council the option to consider planning policy to manage the 

numbers and distribution of some types of second homes use in specific locations.  We assume the 

Bill will not apply retrospectively to existing second homes.   

Page 28



5 
 

 

   

2. Definitions and Numbers of Second and Holiday Homes 

2.1 In this section of the report we look at information held on the numbers of Second and Holiday 

homes in the district.  In particular: 

i. Definitions of Second and Holiday Homes  

ii. The profile of Second and Holiday Homes in the district and national comparisons. 

Definitions: Second & Holiday Homes 

2.2 In planning legislation, the use of a home as a second home is not separately classified. Both a 

main, or principle residence, and those used as a second home fall within the same use class (Use Class 

c3) which defines a dwelling as:  

2.3 Use as a dwelling house (whether or not as a sole or main residence) by a single person or by 
people living together as a family, or by not more than 6 residents living together as a single household 
(including a household where care is provided for residents). 

 
2.4 Planning legislation does not require the submission of a planning application to change the use 
of a property from one type of C3 use to another type of C3 use. As a result, most existing dwellings 
can be used as second homes without the need for planning permission and fall entirely outside of 
the scope of planning control. The only exceptions are those properties which are already subject to 
some form of occupancy condition, for example, all affordable homes and those subject to agricultural 
or key worker restrictions. 

 
2.5 Similarly, the use of dwellings, or parts of dwellings for holiday letting purposes is not in a separate 
use class for planning purposes and most authorities take the view that the use of parts of dwellings 
for bed and breakfast, air B&B, or short-term holiday letting will not require planning permission. Only 
in those circumstances where the holiday use is materially different to the use of a property as a 
dwelling would planning permission be required, for example, the conversion of a single house to 
multiple units of holiday accommodation would need planning permission. As it stands, there is 
currently no system for statutory registration or licensing of guest accommodation in England. Only 
London has powers to restrict short-term and holiday letting activity, under the Greater London 
Council (General Powers) Act 1973 (as amended by Section 44 of the Deregulation Act 2015). This 
stipulates that use of any residential premises in Greater London as temporary sleeping 
accommodation is considered a ‘material change of use’ for the purposes of planning permission if 
used in this way for more than 90 nights per calendar year. This only applies to premises where the 
person providing the accommodation is liable to pay council tax.  

 
2.6 Examples:  
 

i. The use of a dwelling as a second home where the second home owner uses it themselves 
and occasionally for holiday use by family would not normally require planning 
permission. 

ii. The use of some of a dwelling for bed and breakfast/Air B&B accommodation for parts of 
the year is not likely to be a change of use and therefore would not need planning 
permission. 

iii. The use of an entire property for multiple units of holiday accommodation would be a 
change of use and planning permission would be required. 

Page 29



6 
 

2.7 For the purposes of determining tax liability (Council Tax or Business Rates) the following 

classifications are used: 

 Second homes – These are homes which are liable to pay Council Tax. They are not a sole or 

main residence and are classed as unoccupied, but are NOT substantially unfurnished (i.e. they 

are furnished).  This is the key difference between Second and empty homes – see below. 

Data on the number of Second Homes is gathered from Council Tax returns annually. Second 

homes do not receive a discount on Council Tax, but pay 100%.  

2.8 There are two further classes of ‘second homes’ which have not usually been included in our 

analysis of Second Homes as they cannot serve as a main residence due to their restrictions. The 

majority of these seasonally restricted Second homes are chalets in places such as Mundesley, Bacton, 

Stalham and Cromer:   

 Seasonal - Properties that are not a sole or main residence, are furnished and which have 

seasonal planning prohibition preventing occupation for a continuous period of at least 28 

days. These homes are subject to a 10% Council Tax discount, and  

 

 Pre-1948 - Properties built before 1948 that are defined as being not capable of occupation 

all year round. These homes are subject to a 35% Council Tax discount. 

2.9 The above discounts are local discretions decided annually by NNDC members otherwise the 

standard discount of 50% would apply which is legislated in the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

 Holiday homes – These are properties which are declared to be let commercially and which 

are liable to pay Non-Domestic (Business) Rates (or may receive rate relief e.g. Small Business 

Rates Relief, which is the case for ¾ of Holiday Homes). Currently properties are classed as 

Non-Domestic (Business) Rates if they are available to let for 140 days or more.  Proof of actual 

holiday letting is not required. 

2.10 From 1 April 2023 owners of these properties in England must have had their property available 

to let for 140 days or more in the previous year and must have in fact let in that way for at least 70 

days during that year. Otherwise these will not be valued by the Valuation Office Agency to be liable 

for business rates and would instead be liable to pay Council Tax. 

2.11 Holiday Homes are identified from the business description. Camping sites, caravan sites and 

chalet parks are excluded from the figures but “Self Catering holiday units” have been included to give 

the most accurate figures reasonably possible of holiday homes. 

 Empty homes – these are unoccupied properties which are substantially unfurnished. Empty 

homes are charged 100% Council Tax for two years. A levy is charged for homes empty more 

than two years raising the total Council Tax to be paid to 200%. Homes empty for more than 

five years are charged 300% and those empty over 10 years are charged 400%.  

 

The profile of Second & Holiday Homes in the District  

Number of second homes  

2.12 As at 1/4/22 there were 4,508 properties recorded as Second Homes in North Norfolk. This is an 

increase of 59 from the 2021 figure of 4,449. The percentage of Second Homes (as a proportion of all 

Council Tax homes) remains at 8%. Second homes as a proportion of all homes (including Council Tax 

and those homes paying Business Rates as Holiday homes) has risen to 7.7% (previously 7.6%).  

Page 30



7 
 

2.13 There are a further 851 properties that fall into the two categories identified above - 617 with 

the  seasonal planning prohibition preventing continuous occupation, and 234 properties built before 

1948 that are defined as being not capable of occupation all year round. If these categories are 

included the total as at 1/4/22 is 5,359 (9.6% of all Council Tax homes). This is the basis for calculating 

Second Homes in national returns and comparisons with other parts of the country. 

Number of holiday homes  

2.14 As at 1/4/22 there were 2,661 properties recorded as Holiday Homes. This figure has increased 

more significantly than Second Homes (up by 246, a 10.2% increase from the 2021 figure of 2,415). 

BBC research (with results from 152 councils) has shown a 40% increase in Holiday Homes paying 

business rates over the 3-years 2018-2021. The equivalent increase in North Norfolk for that period 

was 23% (form 1,959 Holiday Homes in 2018 to 2,415 in 2021).  

2.15 The total number of Second and Holiday homes has increased to 7,169 (up 305, a 4.4% increase 

from the 2021 total of 6,864) 

2.16 Over the past 4 years the figures/proportion of Second & Holiday homes has continued to grow, 

although the largest growth has been in Holiday Homes rather than Second Homes. 

 

Table 1 : Numbers and Proportions of Second and Holiday Homes 2019-2022 

As at 1st April 2019 2020 2021 2022 

No. Second Homes 4458 4476 4449 4508 

%* 8.1% 8.1% 8.0% 8.0% 

No Holiday Homes 1999 2221 2415 2661 

%** 3.5% 3.9% 4.1% 4.5% 

* % of Second Homes as proportion of Council Tax homes 

**% of Holiday Homes as proportion of all homes – Council Tax plus Holiday  

Source - NNDC Council Tax and NNDR April 22 

Please note the increase in Non-Domestic (Business) Rates properties over the past few years has 

been linked to revenue services growth work and businesses needing to be rated to obtain some of 

the business rated Covid grants.  

Distribution of Second & Holiday Homes  

 2.17 As at 1/4/22 there were 67 parishes with levels of Second and Holiday homes at 10% or more. 

There is only one remaining parish with zero Second and Holiday homes – Brumstead. The parishes 

with the highest percentage of Second and Holiday homes remain broadly the same, with two parishes 

now at, or above, 50% - Morston – 52.2% and Salthouse at 50% (those above 40% are, Blakeney – 

44.2% and Cley – 44%) 

Details of 2022 Second & Holiday Homes can be found in Appendix A, together with a heat map 

showing the concentration of homes in Appendices B1 and B2  

 

Page 31



8 
 

Comparative levels of Second Homes  

2.18 As Second Homes are a defined class of Council Tax property we are able to compare rates across 

councils. However, we are not able to do the same with Holiday Homes as there is no standard 

definition. National Council Tax figures are taken at the first Monday of October each year so will not 

be the same as those shown above, and these figures also include Second Homes with planning 

restrictions meaning they cannot be occupied all year round (seasonal and pre-1948).  

2.19 As at 4/10/21 (the latest data available) there were 253,400 Second Homes in England, 1.01% of 

all Council Tax homes. The comparative figure for North Norfolk as at 4/10/21 was 5,397 Second 

Homes, 9.7% of all Council Tax homes.  By number, Cornwall Unitary Authority has the highest number 

of Second Homes at 13,260 (4.78%), North Norfolk is 7th. However, by proportion of Second Homes 

the City of London has the highest proportion (22.43% homes but from only 7,636 Council Tax homes). 

North Norfolk is second highest in England in terms of proportion of Second Homes (followed by 

Kensington & Chelsea at 8.97% and the Isles of Scilly at 8.10%).   

National Council Tax Second homes data is set out in Appendix C 

  

Page 32



9 
 

3. The Housing Market: How Second and Holiday Homes May 

affect the Housing Market  

3.1 In this section of the report we look at the housing market in the district and consider how the 

high numbers of holiday and second homes may affect the housing market.  In particular: 

 Demographics and how these may affect the housing market  

 House prices in the district. 

 The supply of privately rented housing. 

 The supply of affordable housing. 

3.2 First we look at the changing demographics of North Norfolk.  This is the main driver of changing 

housing demand in the district. 

North Norfolk District –Demographic Information 

Summary of Demographic Information  

3.3 North Norfolk has a very high proportion of people aged 65+.  The proportion is projected to rise 

to nearly 40% by 2036.  With high proportions of older people it is not surprising that the projected 

number of births in the district (10 years to 2028) is less than half the projected number of deaths.  In 

spite of this, the population is projected to grow and this is due to inward migration mainly from other 

parts of England. 

3.4 Inward migrants will be young and old, rich and poor.  However there will be more that are older 

and these are also likely to have income and/or savings to afford to buy a North Norfolk home, possibly 

using the proceeds of a sale from a more expensive location.   

3.5 A large part of the demand for housing, particularly housing for sale, is from in-migrants.  It seems 

likely that given a choice these in migrants will choose to buy in areas also popular for holiday and 

second homes.  So it is possible that it is in-migrants, rather than holiday and second homes that push 

up house prices in parts of the district. 

Table 2 : Age Profile comparisons 2016-2036 

Age 

Group  

North Norfolk East of England England 

2016 
(1000s) 

2036 
(1000s) 

2016 
(1000s) 

2036 
(1000s) 

2016 
(1000s) 

2036 
(1000s) 

65-69 9.7 10.2 360.0 428.1 3,032.1 3,612.8 

70-74 8.1 10.3 285.0 408.4 2,381.3 3,416.3 

75-79 5.9 8.6 211.7 329.3 1,796.0 2,741.9 

80-84 4.7 6.7 163.4 251.0 1,345.4 2,049.5 

85-89 3.1 5.5 104.1 199.7 840.2 1,570.8 

90+ 1.7 3.4 60.5 123.8 487.8 946.2 

All 65+ 33.2 44.7 1,184.7 1,740.3 9,882.8 14,337.5 

All ages 103.6 112.1 6,129.0 6,915.6 55,268.1 60,905.5 

% 65+ 32.0% 39.9% 19.3% 25.2% 17.8% 23.4% 

Source Table 2 Sub National Population Projections 2016, Population Projections for Local Authorities – ONS 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/subnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2016basedprojections 

Page 33

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ons.gov.uk%2Freleases%2Fsubnationalpopulationprojectionsforengland2016basedprojections&data=05%7C01%7C%7C958fc3d5bc0444d9bdd908da3cc9f3f7%7C9f672fd198824545912b3e81310be672%7C0%7C0%7C637889135320065658%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=TLbX5CssMPhbuOkSpWM%2F1ASddArJ6zAOR6U9w1T3FX4%3D&reserved=0


10 
 

Graph 1: Age Profile comparisons 2016-2036

 

 

3.6 North Norfolk District has more older people (age 65+) than the rest of the East of England and 

England.  The proportion of older people is projected to increase for all parts of England with North 

Norfolk continuing to have an older than average population.  

Population Projections 2018 to 2028 

3.7 For North Norfolk District the projected population growth between 2018 and 2028 is driven by 

inward migration.  In fact the population would decline if it were not for inward migration as deaths 

will exceed births.  By contrast Norwich – a district with a much younger population – births exceed 

deaths. 

Table 3: Population Projections North Norfolk/Norwich 

  
North Norfolk 

 
Norwich 

 
Population 2018 

 
104000 

 
142000 

 

      
Changes 2018 to 2028 

     
- Births 

 
7285 

 
15755 

 
- Deaths 

 
15264 

 
11173 

 
- Internal inflow  

 
56501 

 
133860 

 
- Internal outflow 

 
44349 

 
142630 

 
- International inflow 

 
3324 

 
23292 

 
- International outflow 

 
1424 

 
13443 

 
- Cross border inflow 

 
1156 

 
2568 

 
- Cross border outflow 

 
1142 

 
2951 

 

      
Net Change 

 
6087 

 
5278 

 

      

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2016 2036 2016 2036 2016 2036

North Norfolk East of England England

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Percentage of Population aged 65+

Page 34



11 
 

Projected Population 2028 
 

110087 
 

147278 
 

      
%age change 

 
5.85% 

 
3.72% 

 

      
%age Aged 65+ 

     
- 2018 

 
32.80% 

 
14.80% 

 
- 2028 

 
36.40% 

 
16.20% 

 
Source: Office for National Statistics (March 2020) - Subnational population 

projections for England: 2018-based 

 

Graph 2: Population Projections North Norfolk/Norwich 

 

 

3.8 This gives us some insight into what drives demand for housing.  For North Norfolk District a 

significant part of the demand for housing is from people moving into the district from other parts of 

the country.   

3.9 We can make some assumptions about the people moving in.  Unfortunately the available statistics 

do not provide the detail to confirm these assumptions: 

1. They are mostly older people – likely because if there were large numbers of young people the 

age profile of the district would include more younger people. 

2. They are mostly single people or couples – likely because the people moving in are older i.e. 

have no children or children who are no longer dependent. 

3. Most have money to buy a home in the district – likely because the alternatives of private or 

affordable rent are difficult to access. 

4. Some will have previously owned a second/holiday home in the district – likely to be true to 

some extent.  However, there is no data on the number of second/holiday home owners who 

move to the district permanently. 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

Births Internal
Inflow

International
Inflow

Cross border
Inflow

N
u

m
b

er
s

Category

Population Projections 2018 to 2028 (Births, Deaths & Flow)

North Norfolk Norwich

Page 35



12 
 

House Prices in the District 

Summary of House Price Information 

3.10 Median house prices in North Norfolk at £295,000 (September 2021) and are slightly above the 

median for England of £285,000 but less than the median for the East of England of £325,000. 

3.11 However, because incomes in North Norfolk are relatively low North Norfolk performs less well 

in terms of median affordability.  Median affordability2 is the ratio of median house prices to median 

income.  The higher the ratio the less affordable the market sale homes.  For North Norfolk median 

affordability is 10.54.  This is worse that England at 9.05 and worse than the East of England at 10.08.   

3.12 Can we attribute this lack of affordability to the high numbers of holiday and second homes?  

When we compare North Norfolk with other English districts the evidence is inconclusive.   

1. Of the 10 districts outside of London with the highest proportion of second homes five have low 

levels of affordability compared to England and four have high levels of affordability.  The 10th, 

King’s Lynn and West Norfolk is on a par with England. 

2. Of the 10 least affordable districts in England (lowest median affordability) none are in the top 10 

for the proportion of second homes and only three are above the national average.  

3.13 However, when we look at parts of the district (district wards) there appears to be a pattern.  The 

three wards with the highest house prices also have the highest proportion of holiday and second 

homes. We need to be careful, correlation does not imply cause.  

3.14 In conclusion, there is no clear evidence that high numbers of holiday and second homes effects 

house prices and affordability for the district as a whole.  There is possible evidence that there are 

some local effects on house prices and affordability in parts of the district.  This may warrant further 

local research to see if high numbers of holiday and second homes in these locations causes high house 

prices or if there is some other factor at work (e.g. the general ‘attractiveness’ of an area leading to 

high demand for homes) . 

 

Median House Prices and Median Affordability – Year to September 2021 

3.15 Compared to house prices in the East and South East the median house price in North Norfolk at 

£295,000 is not high.  However, the median price is higher than Breckland and Norwich.  When we 

take into account incomes and look at the measure of median affordability, house prices in North 

Norfolk compared with median incomes (10.54) are higher than the East (10.08) but still lower than 

the South East (10.74) and Cambridge (12.19). 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
2 House price to earnings ratio:  Dividing the house price for a given area by its earnings, we produce a ratio 
which serves as an indicator of relative affordability. A higher ratio indicates that on average, it is less 
affordable for a resident to purchase a house in their local authority district. Conversely, a lower ratio indicates 
higher affordability in a local authority.  
 

Page 36



13 
 

Table 4 : House Price Comparisons 

Location Median House Price Median Affordability 

(Median house price/median 
income – the lower the ratio 

the more affordable the house 
prices) 

England £285,000 9.05 

East £325,000 10.08 

1. Breckland £250,000 9.27 

2. Cambridge £450,000 12.19 

3. North Norfolk £295,000 10.54 

4. Norwich £217,000 7.36 

South East £365,000 10.74 

Source: Office for National Statistics - House price to residence-based earnings ratio. 

Graph 3: House Price Comparisons 

 

 

3.16 Does this provide evidence that holiday and second homes are the cause of the relatively high 

house prices by comparison with incomes.  The evidence is far from conclusive.  Compared with 

Norwich house prices are relatively expensive and Norwich doesn’t have large numbers of holiday and 

second homes.  But nor do most of the districts in the South-East but here house prices compared to 

incomes are more expensive. 

National Comparisons – Second Homes and House Prices  

3.17 The table below shows the top ten local authorities (outside London) in terms of percentage of 

second homes and compares this to median house price and median affordability (derived from 

median house price/median income).  

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

£0

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

£300

£350

£400

£450

£500

England East Breckland Cambridge North
Norfolk

Norwich South East

M
e

d
ia

n
 A

ff
o

rd
ab

ili
ty

M
ed

ia
n

 H
o

u
se

 P
ri

ce
s 

(£
'0

0
0

)

Median House Prices & Median Affordability

Median House Price Median Affordability Median house price/median income.
(The lower the ratio the more affordable the house prices)

Page 37



14 
 

3.18 The table shows very limited correlation between local authorities with high levels of second 

homes and housing affordability - many of the top ten are below the median affordability ratio in 

England i.e. house prices compared to incomes are relatively low. 

Table 5: Local Authorities (Outside London) with the Highest Proportion of Second Homes 

Local Authority  % of Second Homes Median House Price Median Affordability  
North Norfolk 9.68% £295,250 10.54  
Isles of Scilly 8.10% £420,000 16.96*  
South Hams 7.58% £352,998 11.26  
Scarborough 6.94% £182,500 6.42  
South Lakeland 6.88% £265,000 8.83  
Chichester 5.39% £410,000 13.67  
Cornwall UA 4.78% £275,000 10.74  
Great Yarmouth 4.77% £205,000 7.35  
Eden 4.70% £228,250 7.18  
Kings Lynn & WN 4.33% £255,000 9.07  
      
England 1.01% £285,000 9.05  

Source: Council Tax data October 2021 / ONS House Price data September 2021 

* The data for Isles of Scilly is from 2019, sample sizes are too low for more recent data  

Graph 4: Local Authorities (Outside London) with the Highest Proportion of Second Homes 

 

 

 

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00

14.00

16.00

18.00

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

M
ed

ia
n

 H
o

u
se

 P
ri

ce
s 

£

Local Authority

Median House Prices, % Second Homes & Median 
Affordability

Median House Price % of Second Homes Median Affordability

%
 S

ec
o

n
d

 H
o

m
es

 &
M

ed
ia

n
 A

ff
o

rd
ab

ili
ty

Page 38



15 
 

3.19 The table below shows the top ten local authorities (outside London) in terms of median 

affordability (derived from median house price/median income) and compares this to median house 

price and percentage of Second Homes.  

Table 6: Local Authorities (Outside London) which are Least Affordable 

Local Authority  % of Second Homes Median House Price Median Affordability 

Hertsmere 0.60% £525,000 14.88 

Epsom and Ewell 0.11% £523,000 14.82 

Elmbridge 0.48% £620,000 14.78 

Mole Valley 0.55% £570,000 14.69 

Three Rivers 0.08% £500,000 14.25 

Brentwood 0.38% £490,000 14.12 

Chichester 5.39% £410,000 13.67 

Epping Forest 0.71% £497,250 13.55 

Welwyn Hatfield 1.07% £420,000 13.28 

Cotswold 3.72% £408,000 13.11 

     

England 1.01% £285,000 9.05 

Source: Council Tax data October 2021 / ONS House Price data September 2021 

3.20 Again the table shows very limited correlation between local authorities with the highest ratio of 

house price to income (i.e. the least affordable) and those with high levels of second homes. Only 

three of the least affordable areas (Chichester, Welwyn and Cotswolds) are above the national average 

level of second homes. 

3.21 In terms of affordability ratio, North Norfolk at 10.54 is ranked 97th in the country (including 

London authorities). 

Median House Prices Compared with Percentage of Holiday and Second Homes 

3.22 House prices are not uniform across the district.  The following table compares median house 

prices with the average percentage of holiday and second homes for the wards in North Norfolk 

District. 

3.23 There is a possible correlation between house prices and the percentage of holiday and second 

homes.  The three wards with the highest house prices; Priory, Coastal and Wells with Holkham are 

the three wards with the highest Percentage of holiday and second homes.  After this the pattern is 

less clear.  The next four wards in terms of house prices; Holt, Gresham, Erpingham and Stibbard have 

relatively low percentages of holiday and second homes.  Whilst Bacton and Mundesley with relatively 

low house prices have high levels of holiday and second homes. 

3.24 But even if a correlation exists it does not imply cause.  There are two alternative interpretations 

and without further evidence we cannot conclude which if either is correct. 

Interpretation 1 – Some parts of the district are popular – both to live and to holiday.  This results 

in high house prices in these popular parts of the district.  High percentages of holiday and second 

homes do not cause higher house prices. 

Interpretation 2 – With a fixed supply of housing (little new development) extra demand from 

holiday and second home owners pushes up prices.  High percentages of holiday and second 

homes do cause higher house prices. 

Page 39



16 
 

3.25 But even if second and holiday homes contribute to higher house prices it seems very likely, albeit 

very difficult to evidence, that house prices would still be high, to the extent that those on median 

incomes would still be unable to purchase, even if there were no second and holiday homes.  

Table 7 : House Price compared to Second/holiday home proportions 

Ward  

Median House Price 
September 2021  

%age Holiday and 
Second Homes – April 
22 

     
Priory  500,000  24.34% 

Coastal  495,000  40.63% 

Wells with Holkham  460,000  33.02% 

Holt  390,000  13.13% 

Gresham  390,000  14.29% 

Erpingham  362,500  8.76% 

Stibbard  352,500  8.37% 

Roughton  345,500  10.47% 

St Benet  343,000  15.65% 

Hoveton & Tunstead  335,000  6.42% 

Walsingham  333,000  16.48% 

Sheringham South  328,500  16.32%* 

Stody  306,000  12.52% 

Happisburgh  305,000  15.54% 

Poppyland  304,000  18.10% 

Hickling  298,750  16.74% 

Beeston Regis & The Runtons  295,000  12.39% 

Mundesley  290,000  18.45% 

Cromer Town  287,500  14.07%* 

Sheringham North  277,500  16.32%* 

Trunch  276,750  5.59% 

Bacton  265,000  18.28% 

Suffield Park  248,000  14.07%* 

Lancaster South  247,000  1.60%* 

North Walsham Market Cross  235,000  1.24%* 

Stalham  232,500  4.00% 

North Walsham East  232,000  1.24%* 

Lancaster North  231,000  1.60%* 

North Walsham West  225,000  1.24%* 

Briston  220,000  5.42% 

Worstead  197,000  3.11% 

The Raynhams  195,000  8.2%% 

Source: Median House Prices – Office for National Statistics House Price Statistics for Small Areas (HPSSAs) 

%age Holiday and Second Homes from NNDC Council Tax and NNDR April 22 (Ward figures are calculated by combining 

parishes in the ward). 

*For Cromer, Fakenham, North Walsham and Sheringham we assume that the holiday and second homes are spread 

uniformly across the towns i.e. the wards that make up the Towns have similar proportions of holiday and second homes. 

 

 

Page 40



17 
 

Graph 5: House Price compared to Second/holiday home proportions 

 

 

 

The Private Rented Sector 

Summary of Private Rented Sector Information 

3.26 At the time of the 2011 Census 18.1% of English households rented privately.  This increased to 

20% in 2016/17 but reduced to 19% in 2019/20. Recent national research shows that the supply of 

privately rented housing is in decline.  Most landlords who decide to leave the market are selling (91%) 

but a small proportion (1%) are moving into short-term lets.  With declining numbers of properties to 

let rents are rising across the country. 

3.27 At the time of the 2011 census 16.6% of North Norfolk households rented privately.  We have no 

information on changes in the number of privately rented homes since 2011.  We do have ‘snapshot’ 

information on the number of privately rented homes available to let.  These show declining numbers 

and rising rent levels.  We do not know if the decline in numbers is because there are fewer privately 

rented homes or because tenants are choosing not to move.  It is possible that landlords are choosing 

to move to short-term holiday lets but we have no evidence to support this. 

The Private Rented Sector Nationally 

3.28 Good information on the private rented sector is limited, especially at a local level. Much of the 

information available comes from snapshots/ sample surveys or is anecdotal. The last ‘full’ 

information available on the private rented sector comes from the 2011 Census. Information on 

tenure at a local authority level from the 2021 Census is not expected until 2023   

3.29 Just over 4.4 million households live in the private rented sector in England, 19% of all 

households. By comparison, 17% (4.0 million) live in the social rented sector and 65% (15.4 million) 

0
5
10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

%
 H

o
lid

ay
 &

 S
ec

o
n

d
 H

o
m

es
 

M
ed

ia
n

 H
o

u
se

 P
ri

ce
s 

£

Ward

Median House Prices & Percentage Holiday Homes by North 
Norfolk Wards

Median House Price…
% Holiday and Second Homes…

Page 41



18 
 

are owner occupiers. The number and proportion of private rented households has declined from 20% 

and 4.7 million households in 2016-17. (Source: English Housing Survey Private rented sector, 2019-

20). 

3.30 National average asking rents outside of London hit a new record of £1,088 per calendar month 

(pcm), rising from £982 pcm last year. This 10.8% rise in asking rents is the first time annual growth 

has exceeded 10%. Average rents are now 15% higher than the same period two years ago, just as the 

pandemic started. Tenants are faced with the most competitive rental market ever recorded by 

Rightmove, with more than triple the number of prospective tenants as there are rental properties 

available. Total tenant demand is up 6% and available properties are down by 50% compared to last 

year. In the East of England average rents are £1,331 pcm a year-on-year rise of 10.3%. (Source: 

Rightmove Rental Price tracker Q1 2022)  

3.31 Propertymark member agents were surveyed between 30 March and 29 April 2022. Respondents 

reported working for businesses that had a combined total of over 4,000 branches across the UK. The 

number of properties available to rent has been diminishing with a large portion of landlords choosing 

to sell their properties. A lack of property is the root cause of rent increases and rising figures on social 

housing lists. Our qualitative research shows that the most common reasons for landlords to choose 

to sell their properties and no longer provide homes are risk, finances, and viability. The vast majority 

of respondents (91%) told us that the primary reason landlords leave PRS management by a letting 

agent is to sell their property. Only four per cent said it was to move to self-management, while  one 

per cent said the primary reason was to move to short-term lets (other reasons: four per cent).The 

data shows the number of properties available to rent through letting agents in the month of March 

halved between 2019 and March 2022. During this period 84 per cent of landlords who removed their 

property from the rental market did it to sell. Over half of the rental properties sold in March 2022 

alone did not return to the PRS. The UK average number of properties available to rent per branch 

decreased by 49% from 30.4 to just 15.6 between March 2019 and March 2022, clearly revealing the 

loss of available places for renters to live. (Source: A shrinking private renter sector – propetymark 

report June 2022)  

The Private Rented Sector in North Norfolk 

3.32 At the time of the 2011 census 7,650 (16.6%) of North Norfolk Households rented privately.  This 

was a little below the 18.1% recorded for England. 

3.33 Information from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) shows rising rents but no clear pattern 

in terms of number of lets in North Norfolk. 

Table 8: Rent Levels / affordability 

  Count of 

rents 

Mean £s Lower 

quartile £s 

Median £s Upper 

quartile £s 

Oct 20 - 

Sep 21 

ENGLAND 480,750 898 585 755 1,050 

 North Norfolk 1,470 678 550 650 750 

 Norwich 2,340 842 650 750 900 

Oct 19 - 

Sep 20 

ENGLAND 436,810 845 550 725 960 

 North Norfolk 1,060 669 550 650 730 

Page 42



19 
 

 Norwich 2,240 796 625 700 850 

Oct 18 - 

Sep 19 

ENGLAND 513,900 852 550 700 950 

 North Norfolk 1,140 663 548 625 725 

 Norwich 2,360 805 595 695 850 

Source: ONS Private rental market summary statistics in England: October 2020 to September 2021 

3.34 Whilst preparing the current Housing Strategy we took ‘snapshots’ of the lettings market in 

August 2019 and again in June 2020.  We have taken a third snapshot in June 2022 for this report.  

3.35 There are two obvious conclusions: 

1. The number of properties available to let is in sharp decline; 97 in August 19, 82 in June 20 and 

only 30 in June 22.   

2. Average rents are rising and with no increase in LHA since 2020 there is only one property in 

June 22 within LHA. 

3.36 Nationally only 1% of landlords leaving the market choose to move to short-term rental (e.g. 

holiday lets).  The proportions for North Norfolk might be higher but we have no evidence to support 

this. 

Table 9 - Properties Available to Rent – June 2022 

Properties Available to Rent – June 2022 

Bedroom Size 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4-bed 

Average Rent £ pcm £713.00 £774.44 £1034.50 £975.00 

Number available to rent 10 9 10 1 

LHA (Central Norfolk and Norwich) £495.00 £600.00 £710.00 £950.00 

LHA (Kings Lynn) £450.00 £575.00 £675.00 £850.00 

Number within LHA 1 0 0 0 

 

Table 10 - Properties Available to Rent – June 2020 

Properties Available to Rent – June 2020 

Bedroom Size 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4-bed 

Average Rent £ pcm £558.42 £646.79 £848.24 £1,370.71 

Number available to rent 19 39 17 7 

LHA (Central Norfolk and Norwich) £495.00 £600.00 £710.00 £950.00 

LHA (Kings Lynn) £450.00 £575.00 £675.00 £850.00 

Number within LHA 3 12 0 0 

 

 

Page 43



20 
 

Table 11 Properties Available to Rent – August 2019 

Properties Available to Rent – August 2019 

Bedroom Size 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4-bed 

Average Rent £ pcm £525.36 £650.81 £781.92 £1,358.33 

Number available to rent 28 37 26 6 

LHA (Central Norfolk and Norwich) £415.00 £520.09 £604.15 £797.81 

LHA (Kings Lynn) £392.77 £500.85 £577.85 £728.22 

Number within LHA 4 1 0 0 

Source: Rightmove – properties advertised to let within 3 miles of the districts towns (Cromer, Fakenham, Holt, Hoveton, 

North Walsham, Sheringham, Stalham and Wells). 

 

 

Affordable housing 

Summary of Affordable Housing Information 

3.37 The number of affordable homes in the district was 6,366 (as at 1/4/21); fewer than the total of 

Second and Holiday homes which was 7,169 (as at 1/4/22). There appears to be no clear link between 

the number of affordable homes and the number of Second/Holiday homes in parishes across the 

district. 1,002 new affordable homes have been delivered over the past 11 years in the district, again 

there is no clear correlation between where new affordable homes have been built and areas with 

high levels of Second/Holiday homes. However, areas with higher house prices will support delivery 

of more affordable homes (as this is more viable where sales values are higher) and, anecdotally, 

support for new affordable homes is often higher in communities with high levels of Second/Holiday 

homes. 

    

Affordable homes in the District 

3.38 As at 1/4/2021 there were 6,366 affordable homes owned by registered providers (housing 

associations) in North Norfolk. Of these 6,092 are rented homes and 274 shared ownership/equity 

homes. These figures do not include affordable homes held by other organisations such as charities 

(e.g. Blakeney Neighbourhood Housing Society) or alms-houses, so the real total is likely to be closer 

to 7,000. The affordable homes held by registered providers account for 11% of all Council Tax homes 

in the district, nationally 18% of homes are affordable rented or shared ownership (Source: 2011 

Census).  This compares to 7,169 Second & Holiday Homes (4,508 Second and 2,661 Holiday) as at 

1/4/22, which represents 12.2% of all homes (Council Tax and business rate Holiday Homes).    

3.39 Appendix D provides details of the number of affordable homes in each parish (and the level of 

Second/Holiday Homes). The table below shows the ten parishes with the highest levels of affordable 

housing.  

 
 
 
 

Page 44



21 
 

Table 12 : Distribution of Existing Affordable Homes & Second/Holiday Homes  

Parish 
Affordable 

homes 
All Council 
Tax homes 

% 
Affordable 

Homes 

% Second 
& Holiday 
Homes* 

    

   

Bodham 62 242 26% 15.3%    

Wells 336 1560 22% 34.8%    

Gimingham 46 214 21% 8.6%    

Little Barningham 12 61 20% 9.7%    

Morston 11 58 19% 52.2%    

Ryburgh 62 329 19% 5.4%    

Felbrigg 18 99 18% 13.2%    

Binham 43 238 18% 35.0%    

Fakenham 726 4117 18% 1.6%    

Warham 18 104 17% 19.8%    

District Total 6366 56136 11% 12.20% 

Source: stock data from RPs as at 1/4/21, Second & Holiday homes data from Council Tax and NDR data 1/4/22.  
* The % of Second and Holiday homes is of all homes - i.e. all council tax homes and self-catering holiday homes 

 
Graph 6: Distribution of Existing Affordable Homes & Second/Holiday Homes 

 

 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Parish

Percentage of Affordable and Second & Holiday 
Homes

% Affordable Homes % Second & Holiday Homes*

Page 45



22 
 

3.40 The vast majority of the affordable housing stock was built in the 20th Century, much between 

the wars/post WW2 and the distribution of these homes is largely due to availability/ownership of 

land at the time. Whilst there appears to be little correlation between the levels of affordable homes 

and Second/Holiday homes in parishes, many of the parishes with the highest levels of affordable 

homes also have higher levels of Second/Holiday homes, in particular Wells and Binham have high 

levels of both.   

New Affordable Homes 

3.41 Over the past 11 years (2011/12 – 2021/22) a total of 1,002 new affordable homes have been 

delivered in the District (727 rented and 275 shared ownership/equity homes). These homes are 

delivered through two main routes: on market-led development where a proportion of affordable 

homes are secured through section 106 agreements; and development of predominantly affordable 

homes, often on rural exception sites, by registered providers. This means that the section 106 homes 

will be built in towns/larger villages were planning policy allows development. Exception sites will be 

more widely spread across the district. The table in appendix E shows the detail of where new 

affordable homes have been delivered and compares this to the level of Second/Holiday Homes in 

those parishes. New affordable homes have been delivered in 38 of the 121 parishes across the 

district. The highest number of new affordable homes have been built in the towns (Fakenham 197, 

North Walsham 139, Holt 132, Wells 72, Hoveton 63, Stalham 54 and Cromer 37), the only town with 

relatively low numbers of new affordable homes is Sheringham with 14.  

3.50 There appears to be no clear correlation between the number of new affordable homes delivered 

and the levels of Second/Holiday homes in parishes. However, high levels of Second/Holiday homes is 

not a barrier to delivery of new affordable homes - many of the parishes with the highest levels of 

Holiday/Second homes have also seen relatively high numbers of new homes built over the past few 

years (e.g. Wells 72, Bacton 24, Binham 14, Blakeney 13). Areas with higher sales prices for new homes 

will be able to deliver more affordable homes viably – for example new development in Wells 

delivered 45% affordable homes, whereas in lower value area lower levels, or even no, affordable 

homes have been delivered on market developments.  Anecdotal evidence also suggests that 

communities which have higher levels of Second/Holiday homes may be more aware of the need for 

affordable homes and more supportive of new affordable homes being built. Some of these 

communities have also established local solutions to help deliver affordable homes – for example 

Homes for Wells or Blakeney & Neighbourhood Housing.  

 

  

Page 46



23 
 

4. Revenues: How Second and Holiday Homes may affect the 

Council’s revenues 

Revenues – Council Tax  

4.1 NNDC is responsible for the collection of council tax but only a small portion of this goes to the 

authority. Each £1 of council tax that we collect is split as follows: 

 

 75p - Norfolk County Council 

 14p - Norfolk Policy Authority 

  8p - North Norfolk District Council 

  3p - Town and Parish Councils 

4.2 There used to be a local Norfolk agreement historically where NNDC received extra monies back 

for second homes but not any longer, councils now just receive their own share. So in terms of 

revenue income to NNDC currently Second homes have a neutral impact, i.e. we receive the same 

income from these homes as principle homes.  

Revenues – Non-Domestic (Business) Rates 

4.3 The business rate retention system was introduced in April 2013. Councils retain up to half of the 

rates revenue raised from businesses in their local area, with the remainder retained centrally by the 

government and used to provide grant funding for local authorities. 

4.4 The local retention is split 40% to NNDC and 10% to Norfolk County Council, with remaining 50% 

to central government. 

4.5 Central government does also award NNDC with increased funding up to 100% in cases where NDR 

relief schemes are introduced nationally and these reduce our NDR income. This is often paid via a 

Section 31 Grant.   Therefore, regardless of whether a Holiday home receives business rate relief, 

NNDC will still receive the same income. i.e. 40% of the Business Rates   

4.6 Growth in NDR is growth to NNDC by 40% as per the retention rules subject to the Norfolk County 

Business Rates pooling arrangements. 

  

Page 47



24 
 

5. Economy: How Second and Holiday Homes may affect the 

District’s Economy 

5.1 North Norfolk is a highly popular tourist destination with much to attract visitors including 45 miles 

of stunning coastline, attractive market towns and villages, places of cultural and historical interest 

and a proportion of the Broads National Park. 

5.2 Prior to Covid19 it was estimated that tourism contributed over half a billion pounds to the local 

economy (£528,931,378 in 2019). In 2019 there was an estimated 9,317,000 day trips, with an 

estimated value of £292,356,000. In the same year there was an estimated 602,200 overnight trips for 

a total of 2,474,000 nights, with an estimated value of £142,955,000.  

5.3 In 2020, the volume of trips and the value of contribution to the local economy decreased by more 

than half (estimated at £237,339,241 in 2020). Day trips fell to 4,115,000 (-56%) and overnight trips 

decreased to 285,600 (-53%). A report for 2021 is presently not available, although it is anticipated 

that this will indicate a partial recovery given that North Norfolk appeared to benefit from the 

‘staycation phenomena’, perhaps in part due to the districts comparatively low Covid-19 figures.   

 

 

Snapshot of north Norfolk Visitor Economy 

5.4 As the above Snapshot illustrates, most visits are for paid accommodation, for the purposes of 

holidays and, whilst here, people spend their money across a number of uses. In 2019 it was estimated 

that the visitor economy supported 11,898 jobs with the equivalent of 5009 attributed to supporting 

overnight visitors (see Figure Y). In total, it is estimated that tourism jobs account for 20% of total 

employment in North Norfolk. 

Page 48



25 
 

   

Visitor Economy jobs supported. 

5.5 However, tourism related jobs are generally lower paid than many other sectors and a proportion 

of these are seasonal. This is likely a contributing factor to North Norfolk’s comparatively low median 

wage (see table below). It is therefore possible that North Norfolk’s high dependency on a lower wage 

visitor economy is a significant contributing factor to the housing affordability ratio for local residents.   

5.6 Although it is widely believed that rural depopulation is a consequence of local residents’ inability 

to compete with incomers in rural housing markets there is a counter argument, albeit not evidenced, 

that outward migration is possibly more closely aligned to a lack of employment, education, and 

leisure opportunities rather than to a lack of housing. Indeed North Norfolk presently has no local 

training providers/institutions and those wishing to pursue higher education, who do not wish to go 

to Norwich, will need to relocate, possibly not returning due to a lack of higher paying local 

employment. This is commonly referred to as ‘brain drain’. 

 North Norfolk Norfolk England 

Median Annual Pay – 
Full Time Workers  

£28,019 £29,006 £31,490 

Median Annual Pay – 
All Workers 

£22,907 £24,318 £26,192 

Median salaries in North Norfolk 

5.7 Traditionally Bed and Breakfast providers, Guest Houses and independent hotels dominated the 

local make up of holiday accommodation in North Norfolk. However, over the last two decades the 

visitor accommodation market has substantially changed, with visitors expecting more choice and a 

wider range of quality offerings. Moreover, the ‘Airbnb phenomena’ and the ease with which 

holidaymakers can make better-informed choices and book directly with enterprising alternative 

accommodation providers, has further threatened the traditional accommodation model. As such, 

North Norfolk has seen a number of hotels exit the market in recent years, typically because the costs 

of maintaining the accommodation, particularly larger properties, is such that the business is no longer 

viable and competition from holiday lets and alternatives has impacted on bookings. 

5.8 Holiday lets are therefore an integral part of the make-up of holiday accommodation within the 

District. The common debate is whether there is a net gain from this i.e. would a house occupied  by 

a family for 365 days a year make a higher contribution to the local economy than if was let out as 

holiday or occupied as a second home for potentially less than half the year and being left empty for 

lenghty periods? Unfortunately, this is very difficult to calculate given that there is little primary 

evidence and that there are a multitude of factors to consider. In 2019 Airbnb estimate that their 

accommodation yields £5bn for the UK Economy and argue that, given most hosts pay a 3% fee, this 

means that the majority of what they charge stays with the host – although of course the host may 

Page 49



26 
 

not be local and therefore may not remain within the local economy. Nevertheless, we do know that 

overnight stays do contribute significantly to the local economy through direct, indirect and induced 

spend. Had a family occupied the same house then they will likely contribute significantly to the local 

economy. However, unlike holiday lets and second homes, they place greater demand on local 

resources (schools, doctors, dentists, etc.).  

  

Page 50



27 
 

6. Communities: Impact of Second & Holiday Homes 
 

6.1 Much of the debate around the impact of second and holiday homes on communities is perceived 
to be negative, on the basis of a loss of community, a cause of social change, and subsequent tension 
(Gallent, Mace, and Tewdwr-Jones, 2005). This has fuelled much of the political debate that now 
surrounds the issue, giving rise to investigations such as this that are appearing at various popular 
tourism locations all over the Country and beyond. This effect, when combined with other potential 
issues such as rising house prices and limited availability of affordable homes or social housing for 
local residents, has led many areas and in some cases Countries, to seek to limit the prevalence of 
second homes and holiday lets, with St. Ives, Wales (BBC, 2022) and Switzerland (C. Hilber, O. Schöni, 
2020), all being notable examples. It is also clearly a concern for residents and communities of North 
Norfolk, with two emerging Neighbourhood Plans in Blakeney and Wells seeking to place principle 
homes as a condition of occupation. Data gathered by various scholars appears to show however, that 
the impact on communities is mixed, and that there are both discernible positive and negative impacts 
that are founded on the subjective beliefs, perceptions or feelings of the residents that live and work 
within these communities, who are most affected by change.  
 

6.2 It has been argued by scholars such as Gallen, N. 2013, that second homes in rural areas could be 

linked to a phenomenon of community development, by which communities are increasingly 

connected to new skills and knowledge, subsequently raising a communities social capital. In most 

cases this would be seen or referred to as a form of gentrification, by which new residents seek to use 

their connectivity and existing social capital to broaden the offering and further domesticate the areas 

in which they inhabit. As Gallen argues, whether this is seen positively or negatively in communities 

will depend on the alignment between existing and introduced tastes, behaviours and thoughts. It 

could be argued that this effect has already been seen in areas with a high prevalence of second and 

holiday homes across the District, with the arrival of more gastro pubs and coffee shops appearing in 

towns and villages. It should be noted however, that this impact is separate from maintaining 

important local services such as post offices, local shops, bank branches, schools and doctors 

surgeries. The loss or decline of these services cannot and should not be solely attributed to the 

prevalence of second and holiday homes, as they form part of a much wider trend across the country, 

with varying reasons available to explain such trends. A further aspect worthy of consideration 

highlighted elsewhere in the report notes that North Norfolk is subject to net inward migration of 

people retiring to the area, which has likely contributed to societal and community level change, with 

the latest consensus data suggesting that the District has one of the oldest populations in the Country. 

This will also bring with it various impacts on the housing market that have been explored in the 

relevant section of the report.  

 

6.3 On balance, data appears to suggest that the impacts of second homes and holiday lets on 

communities can be argued both positively and negatively, and it therefore remains difficult to 

definitively conclude whether they provide a net-gain or loss to communities. It does however remain 

important for Members and Local Authorities to listen to and acknowledge the thoughts, feelings and 

concerns of local communities and residents that are affected. Councils should therefore seek to 

carefully consider and act appropriately where possible, when relevant legislation is proposed that 

could be used to mitigate negative impacts. Concurrently, Councils could also seek to support 

communities further by taking advantage of the opportunities presented by the desirability of second 

home and holiday let ownership,  and if Members are supportive of emerging legislation that could 

increase Council Tax charges on second homes, this could be used to the benefit of communities, in a 

similar vein to S106 funding. It must also be acknowledged, as outlined in the economic impact 

Page 51



28 
 

assessment, that with a local economy so dependent on tourism, many communities in North Norfolk 

could suffer substantial economic harm if too stringent action was taken, which could then cause 

detriment to the local economy. This was shown to be the case on a much larger scale in Switzerland, 

where an outright ban on second homes caused significant economic harm to local economies (C. 

Hilber, O. Schöni, 2020). Overall then, the impact on communities remains an important aspect of the 

debate that should be given careful consideration when considering what actions local authorities 

should take going forward.  

 

  

Page 52



29 
 

7. Housing – Existing Policies/ Available Policies and Further 

Options 

Affordable Housing Delivery  

7.1 In the last 11 years (2011 to 2022) housing associations delivered significant 1,002 new affordable 

homes in the district.  In the last four years housing associations have delivered 454 new homes, 

including 82 on rural exception housing schemes (EHS), often in areas with high levels of 2nd/holiday 

homes e.g. Binham and Bodham. 

7.2 The development pipeline of new affordable housing includes EHS (at different stages) many in 

areas of high 2nd/holiday homes including: Salthouse, Blakeney, Wiveton, Bacton, Hindringham, 

Warham, Walcott, Happisburgh. 

7.3 On rural exception housing schemes the Council’s allocation policy gives priority to applicants with 

strongest local connections to the host parish and the parishes adjoining the host parish. 

Action taken by the Council to Support New Affordable Housing  

7.4 The Council’s is able to support affordable housing delivery through enabling, financial support 

and Planning Policies. 

7.5 Enabling, mainly work carried out by the Community Housing Enabler, includes; using need 

information to inform the location of new housing, site finding, consultation and community 

engagements work, liaison with Planning/free pre-application service and support to housing 

associations. 

7.6 The Council has two pots of money available to support delivery of affordable housing.   

1. In 2016 the Council received from government £2.4m of Community Housing Fund.  

Government allocated the money to districts in proportion to the number of second and holiday 

homes and North Norfolk’s allocation was one of the highest reflecting the high numbers of 

holiday and second homes in the district.  The Council has used the money to support existing 

and newly forming community-led housing groups to deliver new affordable housing (in Wells, 

Holt and Sheringham) and establish a new community-led housing group in Swanton Novers.  In 

the first 2-3 years we targeted activity at parishes with levels of 2nd/holiday homes above 10%. 

2. The Council holds £2.5m of s106 commuted sums.  This is money paid by developers in lieu of 

on-site affordable housing.  The Council has set an annual budget from this fund which is 

available to provide ‘top-up’ funding for affordable housing across the district.  The aim of the 

‘top-up’ funding is to cover shortfalls in affordable housing development budgets and so help 

deliver schemes with marginal viability. 

7.7 The Council’s planning policies support the delivery of affordable housing.  In particular, policies 

requiring affordable housing on allocated sites and policy allowing Exception Housing Schemes on 

sites in villages and outside of the development boundaries of the districts towns and service villages. 

7.8 NNDC also uses Section 157 restrictions to ensure that ex-council homes, bought under the Right 

to Buy in Designated Rural Areas can only be sold on to those who have lived/worked in Norfolk for 3 

years.  These homes must be used as a principal home, i.e. cannot be used as a second or holiday 

home.  

Page 53



30 
 

8. Revenues – Existing Policies/ Available Policies and Further 

Options 

Revenues – Council Tax  

8.1 Currently NNDC members are allowed, and have determined, to use the council tax discretionary 

powers to reduce the council tax discount to 0%, i.e. to charge 100% Council Tax on the majority of 

Second Homes (except those with seasonal use restrictions which still receive some discount). 

Policy Changes – Council Tax Second Homes 

8.2 The 2022 Queen's Speech contained plans to allow councils in England to increase council tax from 

1 April 2024 on Second homes. The Levelling Up & Regeneration Bill, which includes proposed changes 

to the Local Government Finance Act 1992, has now started its journey through the Houses of 

Parliament.  

The Bill includes draft provisions which state: 

• there is no resident of the dwelling, and  

• the dwelling is substantially furnished and   

• A billing authority’s first determination under this section must be made at least one year 

before the beginning of the financial year to which it relates.  

• A billing authority may make a determination varying or revoking a determination under this 

section for a financial year, but only before the beginning of the year.  

• Where a billing authority makes a determination under this section it must publish a notice of 

the determination in at least one newspaper circulating in the area.  

• The notice must be published before the end of the period of 21 days beginning with the date 

of the determination 

8.3 If this became law and Members used this discretion the determination would not just allow the 

council tax discount to be reduced by up to 100% (current powers) but would also allow an increase 

to the council tax charge on these properties by no more than 100% (i.e. a doubling of the existing 

charge). 

Revenues – Non-Domestic (Business) Rates - Holiday lets 

8.4 Any property that is used for commercial purposes may need to be rated for business rates 

purposes, depending on the exact nature of its usage. 

8.5 Self-catering and holiday let accommodation – Currently, if a property is in England and available 

to let for short periods that total 140 days or more per year, it will be rated as a self-catering property 

and valued for business rates. 

Policy Changes – NDR Holiday Lets 

8.6 The Non-Domestic Rating (Definition of Domestic Property) (England) Order 2022. This Order 
amends, with effect from 1st April 2023, section 66 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which 
defines domestic property for the purposes of non-domestic rating and provides that a property is not 
domestic property if the owner intends to let it commercially as self-catering accommodation for short 
periods totalling 140 days or more. There are also two additional conditions.  

1- that the property must have been available to let in the same way for 140 days or more in the 
previous year, and  

2- it must have been in fact let in that way for at least 70 days during that year.   

Page 54



31 
 

8.7 The above new legislation is largely based on the current legislation for holiday lets in Wales and 
Scotland. Currently if the property was in Wales it will be rated as a self-catering property and valued 
for business rates if it’s both: 

• available to let for short periods that total 140 days or more per year 
• actually let for 70 days 

8.8 The Valuation Office will work out the rateable value of your property based on its type, size, 
location, quality and how much income the business is likely to make from letting it. If the property 
and its rateable value is less than £15,000 Rateable Value then it may be eligible for Small Business 
Rate Relief. 

8.9 If the self-catering premises is in Scotland and available to let for 140 days or more a year then 
from 1 April 2022, it will also need to be actually let for 70 days in a financial year. 

8.10 Future changes in Wales - Under the plans from 1 April 2023 Wales will raise the threshold, so 

properties will need to be made available for at least 252 days, and actually let for 182 otherwise they 

will be valued as council tax properties. 

Potential registration Scheme for holiday lets 

8.11 The government has recently put out a call for evidence to help understand the impact of the 

increase in short-term holiday lets in England following the rise in use of rental booking websites and 

apps. This will inform a review looking at the holiday lets market and the opportunities and challenges 

presented for both consumers and tourism communities affected. This review comes after Airbnb 

listing data showed a 33% increase in UK listings between 2017 and 2018.  

8.12 The call for evidence links to the government’s “Tourism Recovery Plan” published last year which 

set out plans for recovery and help to the tourism industry following the pandemic. It recognises the 

significant growth in the range and volume of guest accommodation, particularly short-term and 

holiday lets. The Plan recognises that alongside benefits (to consumer choice and access to new 

income streams for homeowners) there are also concerns about compliance of some accommodation 

with existing regulations and the impact of high numbers of holiday lettings on local communities. 

8.13 The Tourism Recovery Plan included consideration of a Tourist Accommodation Registration 

Scheme in England. The call for evidence should gather insight and information in the following areas: 

 changes and growth in the short-term letting market 

 benefits of short term lets 

 challenges, including compliance with the existing regulatory framework and housing and 

community impacts 

 the impact of potential policy responses 

8.14 Registration or licensing schemes for holiday lets already exist in some countries and cities — 

including Scotland and Northern Ireland and a similar approach in London.  Registration might include 

physical checks of premises to ensure regulations in areas including health and safety, noise and anti-

social behaviour are obeyed. Further measures the Government is considering include a registration 

‘kitemark’ scheme with spot checks for compliance with rules on issues such as gas safety, a self-

certification scheme for hosts to register with before they can operate, and better information or a 

single source of guidance setting out the legal requirements for providers. 

Page 55



32 
 

8.15 The call for evidence is open for 12 weeks up to 21/9/22. The government intends to publish a 

summary of responses later in 2022. Officers will use the information gathered for this report and the 

views of Overview & Scrutiny to help inform our response to this consultation  

  

Page 56



33 
 

9. Planning – Existing Policies/ Available Policies and Further 

Options 
 

Existing Policy 

9.1 Existing planning policies focus on the direct delivery of affordable housing (via both the affordable 

homes rural exceptions programme and policies which require house builders to deliver affordable 

housing within their proposals). Current Policies require 45% of dwellings on larger sites of more than 

10 units to be provided as affordable dwellings. The new Local Plan is likely to require 30%-35% in the 

higher value parts of the District and 15% in the lower value areas. The new Local Plan will include a 

lower site size threshold of 6 dwellings or more requiring affordable delivery. 

Available Policies 

9.2 As outlined in the definitions section most types of second homes and holiday home use are for 

planning purposes treated the same as a principal dwelling. This means that it is not necessary to 

secure planning permission if you wish to use an existing dwelling for second home or holiday home 

use.  

9.3 The position on new build proposals is different. Where new homes are being built it is possible to 

impose occupancy restrictions designed to ensure that the property is only used as a principal 

residence and not for second homes purposes. This is the approach taken in St Ives, and elsewhere, 

where new dwellings provided via the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans are subject to such 

occupancy restrictions. The intention of such policies is to increase the supply of homes available to 

live in by ensuring they can’t be used for second home/holiday home purposes. 

9.4 North Norfolk does not operate such restrictions and to date has taken the view that the 

imposition of occupancy controls of this type on new housing stock are unlikely to be effective. This is 

because: 

i. The amount of new housing stock proposed to be built in those parishes with the highest 

proportion of second homes is very small. With the exception of Wells-next-the-Sea, all are 

small village communities located within the coastal Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

where planning policies limit new house building. Imposing controls on new homes in these 

locations would only limit the occupancy of a very small part of the homes available for second 

home use. Furthermore, under adopted planning policies any larger schemes (above 10 units 

in the current Local Plan and above 5 units in the new Plan) must include affordable homes. 

The occupancy of such homes is already limited to ensure they a not used as second homes.  

ii. Any controls imposed on new build homes seems likely to result in the deflection of the 

demand for second homes into the existing housing stock, where no current planning controls 

exist. As a result, the overall proportion of second and holiday homes in any given community 

is unlikely to reduce as a consequence of such restrictions. 

iii. The impacts of imposing such restrictions on house prices is unclear but it seems likely that 

any reductions in sales values which might result from such restrictions would be relatively 

marginal and would not render the majority of properties genuinely affordable. Second homes 

restrictions do not in of themselves deliver affordable homes for local people and therefore 

this would be of little assistance to those in housing need. On the contrary, it is possible that 

such restrictions may have some adverse impacts on the delivery of affordable homes in the 

host community. This is because reduced finished development values are often cited as 

grounds for reducing the quantity of affordable homes provided – any restriction on 

Page 57



34 
 

occupancy may have an impact on sales values and limit the ability of the scheme to subsidise 

the delivery of affordable homes. 

iv. There are concerns about how compliance with such conditions would be monitored and the 

resource implications of such monitoring and any resulting enforcement action.  

9.5 Analysis of the impacts of such restrictions elsewhere (Appendix F1 - 3) would appear to suggest 

that the policy has not delivered any measurable benefits and may have had a range of adverse 

impacts including:  

 Increased house values for second home owners and no appreciable house price reductions in 

the wider market. 

 A switch to converting exist properties and away from new build with a consequential reduction 

in affordable housing delivery.  

 An adverse impact on the construction and tourist economy.   

Possible new planning controls  

9.6 There are draft proposals in the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill to introduce some planning 

controls over the use of the existing housing stock for second home purposes. The Bill includes 

provisions which would require second home owners to seek planning permission in those 

circumstances where they do not let their properties for holiday purposes for at least 90 days in each 

year. This provision appears to be targeted at those second home-owners who only use their homes 

infrequently for their own or family use.  

9.7 There is no detail in the Bill in relation to how such an approach would be implemented in practice 

and no clear timetable for its introduction. Such a measure if it were to be introduced seems unlikely 

to apply retrospectively to those properties already in second homes use. 

9.8 If introduced such a measure might allow for LPAs to develop new policy approaches to the 

proportions of second homes in communities as it offers the potential to address (in part) the 

‘deflection’ issue identified above.  It would nevertheless be important to consider the pros and cons 

of such approaches. 

 

Page 58



Second & Holiday Home Analysis 2022 (based on Council Tax and NNDR information as at 1/4/21 & 1/4/2022)

Parish 
Code Parish

2021 2022 Change 2021 2022 Change 2021 2022 Change 2021 2022 2021 2022 Change 2021 2022 2021 2022 Change 2021 2022
1158 Morston 58 58 0 65 67 2 24 26 2 36.9% 38.8% 7 9 2 10.8% 13.4% 31 35 4 47.7% 52.2%
1010 Salthouse 127 127 0 157 158 1 49 48 -1 31.2% 30.4% 30 31 1 19.1% 19.6% 79 79 0 50.3% 50.0%
1049 Blakeney 568 561 -7 706 706 0 168 167 -1 23.8% 23.7% 138 145 7 19.5% 20.5% 306 312 6 43.3% 44.2%
1059 Cley 330 330 0 375 377 2 116 119 3 30.9% 31.6% 45 47 2 12.0% 12.5% 161 166 5 42.9% 44.0%
1029 Stiffkey 153 151 -2 176 176 0 42 39 -3 23.9% 22.2% 23 25 2 13.1% 14.2% 65 64 -1 36.9% 36.4%
1163 Wiveton 82 82 0 103 103 0 16 16 0 15.5% 15.5% 21 21 0 20.4% 20.4% 37 37 0 35.9% 35.9%
1048 Binham 237 238 1 260 260 0 68 69 1 26.2% 26.5% 23 22 -1 8.8% 8.5% 91 91 0 35.0% 35.0%
1146 Wells-Next-The-Sea 1557 1560 3 1799 1804 5 373 383 10 20.7% 21.2% 242 244 2 13.5% 13.5% 615 627 12 34.2% 34.8%
1124 Kelling 114 111 -3 127 129 2 27 26 -1 21.3% 20.2% 13 18 5 10.2% 14.0% 40 44 4 31.5% 34.1%
1154 Weybourne 433 432 -1 490 489 -1 101 102 1 20.6% 20.9% 57 57 0 11.6% 11.7% 158 159 1 32.2% 32.5%
1019 Sidestrand 57 57 0 63 66 3 10 11 1 15.9% 16.7% 6 9 3 9.5% 13.6% 16 20 4 25.4% 30.3%
1123 Thornage 109 110 1 118 118 0 22 25 3 18.6% 21.2% 9 8 -1 7.6% 6.8% 31 33 2 26.3% 28.0%
1015 Sea Palling 302 303 1 339 342 3 51 53 2 15.0% 15.5% 37 39 2 10.9% 11.4% 88 92 4 26.0% 26.9%
1131 Thursford 116 115 -1 130 132 2 19 18 -1 14.6% 13.6% 14 17 3 10.8% 12.9% 33 35 2 25.4% 26.5%
1132 Langham 240 235 -5 261 259 -2 46 41 -5 17.6% 15.8% 21 24 3 8.0% 9.3% 67 65 -2 25.7% 25.1%
1136 Letheringsett With Glandford 135 135 0 147 147 0 23 23 0 15.6% 15.6% 12 12 0 8.2% 8.2% 35 35 0 23.8% 23.8%
1113 Horning 661 661 0 743 743 0 87 90 3 11.7% 12.1% 82 82 0 11.0% 11.0% 169 172 3 22.7% 23.1%
1051 Briningham 72 73 1 76 78 2 15 13 -2 19.7% 16.7% 4 5 1 5.3% 6.4% 19 18 -1 25.0% 23.1%
1159 Wighton 138 135 -3 149 149 0 24 20 -4 16.1% 13.4% 11 14 3 7.4% 9.4% 35 34 -1 23.5% 22.8%
1092 Great Snoring 106 106 0 115 114 -1 18 18 0 15.7% 15.8% 9 8 -1 7.8% 7.0% 27 26 -1 23.5% 22.8%
1134 Lessingham 385 380 -5 406 406 0 59 66 7 14.5% 16.3% 21 26 5 5.2% 6.4% 80 92 12 19.7% 22.7%
1100 Helhoughton 240 117 -123 247 124 -123 22 21 -1 8.9% 16.9% 7 7 0 2.8% 5.6% 29 28 -1 11.7% 22.6%
1083 Bacton 796 786 -10 890 890 0 98 95 -3 11.0% 10.7% 94 104 10 10.6% 11.7% 192 199 7 21.6% 22.4%
1096 Gunthorpe 149 150 1 157 156 -1 29 28 -1 18.5% 17.9% 8 6 -2 5.1% 3.8% 37 34 -3 23.6% 21.8%
1147 Walsingham 498 499 1 536 540 4 72 75 3 13.4% 13.9% 38 41 3 7.1% 7.6% 110 116 6 20.5% 21.5%
1097 Hanworth 107 107 0 108 108 0 23 22 -1 21.3% 20.4% 1 1 0 0.9% 0.9% 24 23 -1 22.2% 21.3%
1107 Hindringham 256 261 5 274 278 4 41 41 0 15.0% 14.7% 18 17 -1 6.6% 6.1% 59 58 -1 21.5% 20.9%
1122 Itteringham 74 73 -1 82 82 0 10 8 -2 12.2% 9.8% 8 9 1 9.8% 11.0% 18 17 -1 22.0% 20.7%
1053 Brinton 116 113 -3 126 124 -2 17 14 -3 13.5% 11.3% 10 11 1 7.9% 8.9% 27 25 -2 21.4% 20.2%
1143 Warham 105 104 -1 109 111 2 14 15 1 12.8% 13.5% 4 7 3 3.7% 6.3% 18 22 4 16.5% 19.8%
1085 Barsham 128 127 -1 138 138 0 16 16 0 11.6% 11.6% 10 11 1 7.2% 8.0% 26 27 1 18.8% 19.6%
1169 Overstrand 599 595 -4 638 638 0 78 79 1 12.2% 12.4% 39 43 4 6.1% 6.7% 117 122 5 18.3% 19.1%
1114 Horsey 42 42 0 48 48 0 4 3 -1 8.3% 6.3% 6 6 0 12.5% 12.5% 10 9 -1 20.8% 18.8%
1160 Mundesley 1752 1742 -10 1924 1930 6 173 168 -5 9.0% 8.7% 172 188 16 8.9% 9.7% 345 356 11 17.9% 18.4%
1119 Swanton Novers 104 105 1 106 107 1 17 17 0 16.0% 15.9% 2 2 0 1.9% 1.9% 19 19 0 17.9% 17.8%
1067 Dunton 54 54 0 63 63 0 2 2 0 3.2% 3.2% 9 9 0 14.3% 14.3% 11 11 0 17.5% 17.5%
1084 Field Dalling 152 155 3 165 167 2 19 17 -2 11.5% 10.2% 13 12 -1 7.9% 7.2% 32 29 -3 19.4% 17.4%
1148 Beckham East/West 134 135 1 146 146 0 14 14 0 9.6% 9.6% 12 11 -1 8.2% 7.5% 26 25 -1 17.8% 17.1%
1168 Walcott 412 404 -8 441 438 -3 41 41 0 9.3% 9.4% 29 34 5 6.6% 7.8% 70 75 5 15.9% 17.1%
1099 Happisburgh 435 436 1 463 466 3 44 49 5 9.5% 10.5% 28 30 2 6.0% 6.4% 72 79 7 15.6% 17.0%
1102 Hempstead 89 91 2 94 95 1 12 12 0 12.8% 12.6% 5 4 -1 5.3% 4.2% 17 16 -1 18.1% 16.8%
1018 Sheringham 4123 4145 22 4322 4366 44 487 501 14 11.3% 11.5% 199 221 22 4.6% 5.1% 686 722 36 15.9% 16.5%
1081 Baconsthorpe 113 113 0 117 118 1 14 14 0 12.0% 11.9% 4 5 1 3.4% 4.2% 18 19 1 15.4% 16.1%
1007 Runton (East & West) 909 903 -6 952 950 -2 110 104 -6 11.6% 10.9% 43 47 4 4.5% 4.9% 153 151 -2 16.1% 15.9%
1033 Suffield 70 69 -1 71 71 0 9 9 0 12.7% 12.7% 1 2 1 1.4% 2.8% 10 11 1 14.1% 15.5%
1050 Bodham 245 242 -3 262 262 0 22 20 -2 8.4% 7.6% 17 20 3 6.5% 7.6% 39 40 1 14.9% 15.3%
1155 Wickmere 65 65 0 74 74 0 1 2 1 1.4% 2.7% 9 9 0 12.2% 12.2% 10 11 1 13.5% 14.9%
1095 Gresham 211 211 0 223 223 0 20 21 1 9.0% 9.4% 12 12 0 5.4% 5.4% 32 33 1 14.3% 14.8%
1079 Aylmerton 242 242 0 250 251 1 26 27 1 10.4% 10.8% 8 9 1 3.2% 3.6% 34 36 2 13.6% 14.3%
1064 Cromer 4787 4807 20 4961 5017 56 483 493 10 9.7% 9.8% 174 210 36 3.5% 4.2% 657 703 46 13.2% 14.0%
1080 Felbrigg 97 99 2 104 106 2 8 7 -1 7.7% 6.6% 7 7 0 6.7% 6.6% 15 14 -1 14.4% 13.2%
1111 Holt 2350 2426 76 2440 2540 100 205 219 14 8.4% 8.6% 90 114 24 3.7% 4.5% 295 333 38 12.1% 13.1%
1025 Southrepps 436 445 9 457 465 8 36 39 3 7.9% 8.4% 21 20 -1 4.6% 4.3% 57 59 2 12.5% 12.7%
1031 Stody 101 100 -1 106 105 -1 5 8 3 4.7% 7.6% 5 5 0 4.7% 4.8% 10 13 3 9.4% 12.4%
1118 Ingham 189 184 -5 196 193 -3 17 14 -3 8.7% 7.3% 7 9 2 3.6% 4.7% 24 23 -1 12.2% 11.9%
1133 Trimingham 192 189 -3 198 195 -3 18 17 -1 9.1% 8.7% 6 6 0 3.0% 3.1% 24 23 -1 12.1% 11.8%
1034 Sustead 108 109 1 111 112 1 10 10 0 9.0% 8.9% 3 3 0 2.7% 2.7% 13 13 0 11.7% 11.6%
1070 East Ruston 242 245 3 265 268 3 6 8 2 2.3% 3.0% 23 23 0 8.7% 8.6% 29 31 2 10.9% 11.6%
1145 Little Snoring 309 311 2 313 318 5 27 29 2 8.6% 9.1% 4 7 3 1.3% 2.2% 31 36 5 9.9% 11.3%
1164 Northrepps 546 533 -13 568 557 -11 30 38 8 5.3% 6.8% 22 24 2 3.9% 4.3% 52 62 10 9.2% 11.1%
1089 Barton Turf 223 223 0 235 236 1 14 13 -1 6.0% 5.5% 12 13 1 5.1% 5.5% 26 26 0 11.1% 11.0%
1125 Thorpe Market 144 147 3 151 156 5 7 8 1 4.6% 5.1% 7 9 2 4.6% 5.8% 14 17 3 9.3% 10.9%
1063 Corpusty and Saxthorpe 367 366 -1 375 375 0 29 31 2 7.7% 8.3% 8 9 1 2.1% 2.4% 37 40 3 9.9% 10.7%
1013 Sculthorpe 361 362 1 376 377 1 23 25 2 6.1% 6.6% 15 15 0 4.0% 4.0% 38 40 2 10.1% 10.6%
1071 Alby With Thwaite 111 112 1 116 118 2 6 6 0 5.2% 5.1% 5 6 1 4.3% 5.1% 11 12 1 9.5% 10.2%
1127 Kettlestone 105 105 0 109 109 0 7 7 0 6.4% 6.4% 4 4 0 3.7% 3.7% 11 11 0 10.1% 10.1%
1140 Upper Sheringham 138 140 2 147 149 2 7 6 -1 4.8% 4.0% 9 9 0 6.1% 6.0% 16 15 -1 10.9% 10.1%
1004 Raynham 205 328 123 209 335 126 25 26 1 12.0% 7.8% 4 7 3 1.9% 2.1% 29 33 4 13.9% 9.9%
1086 Fulmodeston 230 232 2 233 235 2 20 20 0 8.6% 8.5% 3 3 0 1.3% 1.3% 23 23 0 9.9% 9.8%
1072 Edgefield 242 244 2 244 248 4 16 20 4 6.6% 8.1% 2 4 2 0.8% 1.6% 18 24 6 7.4% 9.7%
1139 Little Barningham 62 61 -1 63 62 -1 5 5 0 7.9% 8.1% 1 1 0 1.6% 1.6% 6 6 0 9.5% 9.7%
1105 Hickling 482 482 0 499 500 1 31 30 -1 6.2% 6.0% 17 18 1 3.4% 3.6% 48 48 0 9.6% 9.6%
1106 Hindolveston 249 255 6 259 267 8 12 13 1 4.6% 4.9% 10 12 2 3.9% 4.5% 22 25 3 8.5% 9.4%
1128 Thurning 34 34 0 34 34 0 3 3 0 8.8% 8.8% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 3 3 0 8.8% 8.8%
1066 Dilham 168 167 -1 171 172 1 12 10 -2 7.0% 5.8% 3 5 2 1.8% 2.9% 15 15 0 8.8% 8.7%
1087 Gimingham 209 214 5 215 220 5 10 13 3 4.7% 5.9% 6 6 0 2.8% 2.7% 16 19 3 7.4% 8.6%
1001 Potter Heigham 557 554 -3 580 580 0 28 24 -4 4.8% 4.1% 23 26 3 4.0% 4.5% 51 50 -1 8.8% 8.6%
1091 High Kelling 319 317 -2 321 321 0 17 23 6 5.3% 7.2% 2 4 2 0.6% 1.2% 19 27 8 5.9% 8.4%
1153 Matlaske 74 74 0 77 77 0 2 3 1 2.6% 3.9% 3 3 0 3.9% 3.9% 5 6 1 6.5% 7.8%
1150 Ludham 680 682 2 698 701 3 35 35 0 5.0% 5.0% 18 19 1 2.6% 2.7% 53 54 1 7.6% 7.7%
1172 Paston 115 113 -2 118 117 -1 5 5 0 4.2% 4.3% 3 4 1 2.5% 3.4% 8 9 1 6.8% 7.7%
1006 Roughton 456 452 -4 477 477 0 10 11 1 2.1% 2.3% 21 25 4 4.4% 5.2% 31 36 5 6.5% 7.5%
1161 Witton 163 167 4 171 174 3 6 6 0 3.5% 3.4% 8 7 -1 4.7% 4.0% 14 13 -1 8.2% 7.5%
1073 Aldborough and Thurgarton 300 299 -1 304 304 0 15 17 2 4.9% 5.6% 4 5 1 1.3% 1.6% 19 22 3 6.3% 7.2%
1112 Honing 150 149 -1 156 156 0 4 4 0 2.6% 2.6% 6 7 1 3.8% 4.5% 10 11 1 6.4% 7.1%
1103 Hempton 281 281 0 283 285 2 14 16 2 4.9% 5.6% 2 4 2 0.7% 1.4% 16 20 4 5.7% 7.0%
1116 Hoveton 1106 1111 5 1149 1150 1 33 37 4 2.9% 3.2% 43 39 -4 3.7% 3.4% 76 76 0 6.6% 6.6%
1174 Plumstead 59 59 0 61 61 0 2 2 0 3.3% 3.3% 2 2 0 3.3% 3.3% 4 4 0 6.6% 6.6%
1047 Beeston Regis 517 516 -1 524 527 3 22 21 -1 4.2% 4.0% 7 11 4 1.3% 2.1% 29 32 3 5.5% 6.1%
1110 Holkham 112 112 0 116 116 0 3 3 0 2.6% 2.6% 4 4 0 3.4% 3.4% 7 7 0 6.0% 6.0%
1115 Swafield 131 132 1 133 136 3 4 4 0 3.0% 2.9% 2 4 2 1.5% 2.9% 6 8 2 4.5% 5.9%
1162 Neatishead 264 265 1 270 272 2 8 9 1 3.0% 3.3% 6 7 1 2.2% 2.6% 14 16 2 5.2% 5.9%
1135 Trunch 488 489 1 495 497 2 20 21 1 4.0% 4.2% 7 8 1 1.4% 1.6% 27 29 2 5.5% 5.8%
1157 Melton Constable 320 322 2 325 326 1 16 15 -1 4.9% 4.6% 5 4 -1 1.5% 1.2% 21 19 -2 6.5% 5.8%
1130 Knapton 199 200 1 206 207 1 7 5 -2 3.4% 2.4% 7 7 0 3.4% 3.4% 14 12 -2 6.8% 5.8%
1165 Wood Norton 107 107 0 109 109 0 4 4 0 3.7% 3.7% 2 2 0 1.8% 1.8% 6 6 0 5.5% 5.5%
1054 Briston 1238 1250 12 1257 1272 15 40 47 7 3.2% 3.7% 19 22 3 1.5% 1.7% 59 69 10 4.7% 5.4%
1027 Stibbard 166 166 0 167 167 0 9 8 -1 5.4% 4.8% 1 1 0 0.6% 0.6% 10 9 -1 6.0% 5.4%
1090 Ryburgh 332 329 -3 334 334 0 16 13 -3 4.8% 3.9% 2 5 3 0.6% 1.5% 18 18 0 5.4% 5.4%
1023 Sloley 126 127 1 128 130 2 1 4 3 0.8% 3.1% 2 3 1 1.6% 2.3% 3 7 4 2.3% 5.4%
1167 Worstead 420 419 -1 428 428 0 13 14 1 3.0% 3.3% 8 9 1 1.9% 2.1% 21 23 2 4.9% 5.4%
1151 Westwick 40 39 -1 40 40 0 1 1 0 2.5% 2.5% 0 1 1 0.0% 2.5% 1 2 1 2.5% 5.0%
1061 Colby 215 213 -2 224 222 -2 2 2 0 0.9% 0.9% 9 9 0 4.0% 4.1% 11 11 0 4.9% 5.0%
1137 Tunstead 340 340 0 347 349 2 7 8 1 2.0% 2.3% 7 9 2 2.0% 2.6% 14 17 3 4.0% 4.9%
1082 Felmingham 250 251 1 255 256 1 5 7 2 2.0% 2.7% 5 5 0 2.0% 2.0% 10 12 2 3.9% 4.7%
1121 Tattersett 447 448 1 452 452 0 16 17 1 3.5% 3.8% 5 4 -1 1.1% 0.9% 21 21 0 4.6% 4.6%
1026 Stalham 1941 1966 25 1974 2013 39 49 44 -5 2.5% 2.2% 33 47 14 1.7% 2.3% 82 91 9 4.2% 4.5%
1024 Smallburgh 244 246 2 247 251 4 5 5 0 2.0% 2.0% 3 5 2 1.2% 2.0% 8 10 2 3.2% 4.0%
1120 Ingworth 51 51 0 51 51 0 2 2 0 3.9% 3.9% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 2 2 0 3.9% 3.9%
1117 Swanton Abbott 189 190 1 193 194 1 3 3 0 1.6% 1.5% 4 4 0 2.1% 2.1% 7 7 0 3.6% 3.6%
1078 Ashmanhaugh 86 85 -1 86 86 0 2 2 0 2.3% 2.3% 0 1 1 0.0% 1.2% 2 3 1 2.3% 3.5%
1076 Erpingham 303 305 2 309 310 1 7 5 -2 2.3% 1.6% 6 5 -1 1.9% 1.6% 13 10 -3 4.2% 3.2%
1037 Sutton 540 537 -3 545 543 -2 9 11 2 1.7% 2.0% 5 6 1 0.9% 1.1% 14 17 3 2.6% 3.1%
1022 Skeyton 100 102 2 103 104 1 2 1 -1 1.9% 1.0% 3 2 -1 2.9% 1.9% 5 3 -2 4.9% 2.9%
1058 Catfield 464 461 -3 471 470 -1 14 4 -10 3.0% 0.9% 7 9 2 1.5% 1.9% 21 13 -8 4.5% 2.8%
1077 Fakenham 4002 4117 115 4006 4125 119 53 58 5 1.3% 1.4% 4 8 4 0.1% 0.2% 57 66 9 1.4% 1.6%
1074 Antingham 151 151 0 151 151 0 1 2 1 0.7% 1.3% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 1 2 1 0.7% 1.3%
1166 North Walsham 6355 6361 6 6371 6384 13 67 56 -11 1.1% 0.9% 16 23 7 0.3% 0.4% 83 79 -4 1.3% 1.2%
1002 Pudding Norton 130 131 1 130 131 1 2 1 -1 1.5% 0.8% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 2 1 -1 1.5% 0.8%
1012 Scottow 454 454 0 456 455 -1 3 2 -1 0.7% 0.4% 2 1 -1 0.4% 0.2% 5 3 -2 1.1% 0.7%
1057 Brumstead 30 30 0 30 30 0 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0%
Blank Blank 41 60 19 41 60 19 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

TOTAL 55940 56196 256 58355 58857 502 4449 4508 59 7.6% 7.7% 2415 2661 246 4.1% 4.5% 6864 7169 305 11.8% 12.2%
Increase: 0.5% Increase: 0.9% Increase: 1.3% Increase: 10.2% Increase: 4.4%

Percentage of Second Homes as a % of Council Tax homes only = 2021 8.0% 2022 8.02%

All homes (Co Tax & NNDR)
Total Second & 
Holiday Homes

% Second & Holiday 
Homes (as % of all 

homes)All Co Tax homes Co Tax Second Homes NNDR Holiday homes
% Second Homes (as 

% of all homes)
% Holiday Homes (as 

% of all homes)

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

Source:- CTB (2021)

Total number 
of dwellings 

on the 
Valuation List

Number of 
dwellings  classed 
as second homes 
on 4 October 2021 %

Region
L City of London 7,636 1,713 22.43%
E North Norfolk 55,754 5,397 9.68%
L Kensington and Chelsea 89,542 8,035 8.97%
SW Isles of Scilly 1,148 93 8.10%
SW South Hams 45,606 3,455 7.58%
YH Scarborough 58,008 4,028 6.94%
NW South Lakeland 53,808 3,703 6.88%
L Camden 111,968 7,648 6.83%
SE Chichester 59,111 3,187 5.39%
SW Cornwall UA 277,512 13,260 4.78%
E Great Yarmouth 48,760 2,325 4.77%
NW Eden 27,368 1,285 4.70%
L Tower Hamlets 142,728 6,530 4.58%
E King's Lynn and West Norfolk 74,550 3,228 4.33%
SE Isle of Wight UA 71,825 2,946 4.10%
YH Richmondshire 23,668 930 3.93%
SW North Devon 47,678 1,784 3.74%
SW Cotswold 44,925 1,670 3.72%
E East Suffolk 119,727 4,113 3.44%
E Cambridge 58,993 2,001 3.39%
SW East Devon 72,115 2,348 3.26%
SW Dorset UA 181,702 5,726 3.15%
EM Derbyshire Dales 34,837 1,051 3.02%
SW Torridge 33,079 980 2.96%
YH Craven 28,006 804 2.87%
YH Ryedale 26,694 755 2.83%
SW Bournemouth, Christchurch and 187,858 5,147 2.74%
NW Allerdale 47,739 1,296 2.71%
SE Reading UA 74,523 2,023 2.71%
EM Lincoln 46,592 1,264 2.71%
NW Copeland 33,821 874 2.58%
SE Thanet 68,028 1,733 2.55%
NW Manchester 241,190 5,894 2.44%
SE Rother 45,857 1,092 2.38%
SW Torbay UA 67,903 1,574 2.32%
L Westminster 129,380 2,971 2.30%
L Hammersmith and Fulham 92,148 2,112 2.29%
SE Dover 54,068 1,235 2.28%
NE Northumberland UA 157,461 3,538 2.25%

Page 65



SE Swale 64,941 1,444 2.22%
L Southwark 144,584 3,168 2.19%
E Folkestone and Hythe  52,233 1,130 2.16%
SE Arun 76,651 1,606 2.10%
SW West Devon 26,297 538 2.05%
E Tendring 72,668 1,482 2.04%
SE New Forest 82,733 1,654 2.00%
SW Teignbridge 63,758 1,272 2.00%
SE Canterbury 69,376 1,377 1.98%
NE Newcastle upon Tyne 136,635 2,650 1.94%
SE West Oxfordshire 51,294 986 1.92%
EM East Lindsey 70,518 1,347 1.91%
WM Coventry 148,218 2,670 1.80%
SE Eastbourne 49,365 889 1.80%
L Barnet 155,910 2,775 1.78%
SE Hastings 43,842 763 1.74%
SW Somerset West and Taunton 74,093 1,272 1.72%
SE Portsmouth UA 93,673 1,587 1.69%
L Merton 86,133 1,415 1.64%
SE Oxford 62,490 1,000 1.60%
NW Salford 125,204 1,938 1.55%
SE Brighton and Hove 131,581 2,034 1.55%
SW Cheltenham 56,958 876 1.54%
L Kingston upon Thames 68,668 1,022 1.49%
EM Leicester UA 142,003 2,064 1.45%
NW Fylde 40,277 550 1.37%
SW Bristol 206,073 2,627 1.27%
YH Hambleton 43,497 545 1.25%
L Enfield 126,301 1,582 1.25%
NW Lancaster 65,922 807 1.22%
SE Windsor and Maidenhead UA 65,715 802 1.22%
E Babergh 42,060 506 1.20%
E Norwich 68,141 813 1.19%
WM Malvern Hills 37,158 441 1.19%
WM Stratford-on-Avon 62,919 737 1.17%
SW Sedgemoor 56,693 659 1.16%
YH East Riding of Yorkshire UA  159,817 1,846 1.16%
YH Bradford 220,088 2,530 1.15%
E Welwyn Hatfield 49,639 530 1.07%
WM Shropshire UA 147,414 1,573 1.07%
YH Harrogate 74,973 793 1.06%
WM Warwick 66,968 698 1.04%
L Hillingdon 115,660 1,202 1.04%
NW Barrow-in-Furness 33,977 349 1.03%
NW Carlisle 53,842 543 1.01%
EM Rutland UA 17,762 177 1.00%
E South Norfolk 64,214 633 0.99%
SE Wealden 71,924 707 0.98%
SW South Somerset 79,422 776 0.98%
E Mid Suffolk 46,469 454 0.98%

Page 66



SW Bath and North East Somerset 85,179 829 0.97%
SE Ashford 56,793 552 0.97%
NW Preston 65,482 610 0.93%
SW Stroud 54,998 500 0.91%
NW Blackpool UA 72,019 648 0.90%
SE Worthing 51,229 455 0.89%
SW Exeter 59,329 514 0.87%
L Redbridge 106,880 925 0.87%
E Maldon 29,230 244 0.83%
SE Slough UA 55,665 464 0.83%
SE Southampton UA 109,902 897 0.82%
E Ipswich 61,726 503 0.81%
WM Wychavon 60,016 486 0.81%
WM Wyre Forest 47,700 384 0.81%
NW Cheshire East UA 183,054 1,460 0.80%
SE Winchester 55,201 429 0.78%
E Colchester 84,266 641 0.76%
NW Trafford 101,752 763 0.75%
SW Plymouth UA 122,256 915 0.75%
EM High Peak 42,811 316 0.74%
SE Sevenoaks 51,763 379 0.73%
SE Milton Keynes UA (Revised) 117,687 858 0.73%
NW Ribble Valley 28,241 205 0.73%
SW Forest of Dean 39,308 285 0.73%
E Epping Forest 57,369 408 0.71%
SE Cherwell 68,970 490 0.71%
E Breckland 62,934 441 0.70%
E Southend-on-Sea UA 82,474 555 0.67%
L Hackney 118,597 786 0.66%
SE Guildford 59,895 395 0.66%
NE Sunderland 131,644 864 0.66%
SE East Hampshire 55,047 361 0.66%
YH Kirklees 190,275 1,234 0.65%
NW Cheshire West and Chester UA 162,099 1,047 0.65%
SW Wiltshire UA 226,408 1,461 0.65%
SE Waverley 55,194 356 0.64%
SE Crawley 46,609 300 0.64%
SE Lewes 45,939 289 0.63%
E Broadland 59,784 376 0.63%
WM Worcester 46,975 295 0.63%
SE Fareham 50,371 316 0.63%
NW St Helens 85,063 533 0.63%
NE Durham UA 250,232 1,562 0.62%
SW Mendip 53,208 332 0.62%
SE Gosport 37,638 232 0.62%
SE Tandridge 37,402 226 0.60%
E Hertsmere 45,377 274 0.60%
SW West Suffolk 81,565 489 0.60%
SE Adur 28,639 171 0.60%
YH Leeds 364,076 2,164 0.59%

Page 67



WM Stoke-on-Trent UA 118,376 695 0.59%
SW Mid Devon 37,291 213 0.57%
WM Stafford 62,302 353 0.57%
EM Charnwood 77,264 434 0.56%
L Harrow 94,765 532 0.56%
E East Cambridgeshire 38,962 217 0.56%
NW Pendle 40,950 226 0.55%
SE Mole Valley 39,008 215 0.55%
EM South Kesteven 65,625 348 0.53%
WM Herefordshire UA 87,462 460 0.53%
WM Staffordshire Moorlands 44,410 233 0.52%
YH Wakefield 161,194 836 0.52%
SE Woking 43,265 224 0.52%
SW Tewkesbury 43,045 221 0.51%
SE Reigate and Banstead 62,745 321 0.51%
NW Warrington UA 94,246 478 0.51%
SE Wokingham UA 72,206 366 0.51%
SE Rushmoor 41,327 208 0.50%
SE Tunbridge Wells 50,839 251 0.49%
SE Surrey Heath 37,707 183 0.49%
E South Cambridgeshire 69,862 338 0.48%
SE Havant 55,994 270 0.48%
L Waltham Forest 107,954 520 0.48%
WM East Staffordshire 53,576 257 0.48%
SE Elmbridge 58,803 282 0.48%
NE Darlington UA 52,348 251 0.48%
EM Broxtowe 50,970 244 0.48%
E Dacorum 65,937 311 0.47%
YH York UA 92,114 429 0.47%
EM South Holland 42,425 197 0.46%
EM Harborough 42,015 195 0.46%
E Uttlesford 38,839 179 0.46%
EM West Lindsey 44,660 202 0.45%
EM Amber Valley 58,980 264 0.45%
SE Horsham 64,889 290 0.45%
E North Hertfordshire 58,740 258 0.44%
YH North East Lincolnshire UA 74,221 325 0.44%
EM Rushcliffe 51,941 222 0.43%
E Chelmsford 78,560 335 0.43%
E Huntingdonshire 80,025 339 0.42%
L Wandsworth 149,706 634 0.42%
SW North Somerset UA 98,808 417 0.42%
YH North Lincolnshire UA 76,545 320 0.42%
NE Gateshead 94,489 394 0.42%
NW Bolton 126,218 525 0.42%
EM South Derbyshire 47,637 198 0.42%
NE Redcar and Cleveland UA 65,450 272 0.42%
L Croydon 162,703 673 0.41%
L Richmond upon Thames 85,235 349 0.41%
EM North Kesteven 52,919 214 0.40%

Page 68



NW Wirral 150,229 605 0.40%
SE South Oxfordshire 63,940 257 0.40%
SE Dartford 48,134 193 0.40%
YH Doncaster 140,340 556 0.40%
YH Calderdale 96,091 377 0.39%
E Fenland 46,457 182 0.39%
EM North East Derbyshire 47,091 184 0.39%
NW Blackburn with Darwen UA 62,309 243 0.39%
L Bromley 142,089 549 0.39%
EM Ashfield 56,681 219 0.39%
NE South Tyneside 72,495 280 0.39%
SW Gloucester 58,539 224 0.38%
E Brentwood 34,263 131 0.38%
YH Rotherham 119,292 448 0.38%
SE Mid Sussex 66,392 248 0.37%
NW Rossendale 32,292 120 0.37%
SE Buckinghamshire UA 230,694 857 0.37%
EM Bassetlaw 54,403 202 0.37%
YH Sheffield 255,248 946 0.37%
E Thurrock UA 69,394 257 0.37%
L Lewisham 130,609 480 0.37%
NW Burnley 42,192 153 0.36%
SE Tonbridge and Malling 55,677 199 0.36%
SE West Berkshire UA 69,951 247 0.35%
WM South Staffordshire 47,949 167 0.35%
YH Selby 41,170 142 0.34%
L Greenwich 121,760 419 0.34%
NW Stockport 131,737 452 0.34%
L Hounslow 106,834 366 0.34%
EM Newark and Sherwood 56,426 193 0.34%
WM Telford and Wrekin UA 79,801 271 0.34%
NE Hartlepool UA 44,462 146 0.33%
WM Wolverhampton 112,139 367 0.33%
WM Birmingham 453,348 1,479 0.33%
E Castle Point 39,119 126 0.32%
NW Sefton 129,226 414 0.32%
E St Albans 62,215 195 0.31%
SE Eastleigh 59,087 185 0.31%
NW Wigan 149,212 467 0.31%
SE Vale of White Horse 60,475 189 0.31%
WM Rugby 49,136 151 0.31%
NE North Tyneside 100,245 304 0.30%
SE Runnymede 37,603 114 0.30%
E Braintree 67,246 198 0.29%
EM West Northamptonshire 178,670 514 0.29%
NE Stockton-on-Tees UA 88,957 252 0.28%
EM North West Leicestershire 46,640 132 0.28%
NW Bury 84,391 238 0.28%
SE Basingstoke and Deane 78,954 222 0.28%
EM Chesterfield 50,139 139 0.28%

Page 69



EM North Northamptonshire 154,719 427 0.28%
WM Cannock Chase 44,979 124 0.28%
E Bedford UA 78,107 213 0.27%
NW West Lancashire 50,912 137 0.27%
EM Blaby 43,800 116 0.26%
L Lambeth 146,694 388 0.26%
EM Gedling 53,440 140 0.26%
NW Chorley 52,269 135 0.26%
NW Oldham 97,595 249 0.26%
NW Wyre 53,807 137 0.25%
E Harlow 39,213 98 0.25%
SE Test Valley 57,132 139 0.24%
L Islington 110,995 268 0.24%
EM Erewash 52,607 127 0.24%
E Rochford 36,925 89 0.24%
EM Nottingham UA 142,675 337 0.24%
SE Maidstone 75,034 175 0.23%
EM Boston 30,933 72 0.23%
WM Dudley 140,292 321 0.23%
WM Redditch 37,549 85 0.23%
EM Bolsover 37,270 84 0.23%
SE Medway UA 117,941 263 0.22%
E Central Bedfordshire UA 126,632 278 0.22%
E Peterborough UA 88,226 190 0.22%
WM Lichfield 46,982 101 0.21%
EM Oadby and Wigston 23,705 50 0.21%
NW Halton UA 58,467 123 0.21%
WM Nuneaton and Bedworth 58,636 123 0.21%
SE Hart 41,371 84 0.20%
YH Kingston upon Hull UA 123,367 250 0.20%
SE Spelthorne 43,826 88 0.20%
SW Swindon UA 99,220 196 0.20%
E Basildon 79,359 154 0.19%
WM Bromsgrove 42,510 82 0.19%
L Barking and Dagenham 77,168 148 0.19%
E Broxbourne 41,248 77 0.19%
E East Hertfordshire 64,740 118 0.18%
EM Melton 23,619 42 0.18%
L Brent 127,482 226 0.18%
NW Hyndburn 37,312 66 0.18%
EM Hinckley and Bosworth 50,937 90 0.18%
WM Walsall 117,137 205 0.18%
L Newham 124,284 216 0.17%
NW South Ribble 50,651 78 0.15%
L Havering 106,595 159 0.15%
L Ealing  142,740 210 0.15%
EM Mansfield 50,505 71 0.14%
E Stevenage 37,813 52 0.14%
L Sutton 85,109 106 0.12%
NW Tameside 103,908 121 0.12%

Page 70



EM Derby UA 112,061 130 0.12%
E Luton UA 82,936 96 0.12%
WM Solihull 94,078 102 0.11%
SE Epsom and Ewell 32,666 35 0.11%
E Three Rivers 38,466 32 0.08%
E Watford 40,744 33 0.08%
NW Knowsley 69,911 54 0.08%
NW Liverpool 234,529 177 0.08%
SW South Gloucestershire UA 123,178 92 0.07%
SE Gravesham 43,836 30 0.07%
WM Newcastle-under-Lyme 57,012 36 0.06%
WM Tamworth 33,940 20 0.06%
YH Barnsley 113,594 57 0.05%
NE Middlesbrough UA 64,833 27 0.04%
NW Rochdale 95,959 39 0.04%
L Bexley 99,918 37 0.04%
WM Sandwell 134,801 9 0.01%
SE Bracknell Forest UA 52,665 0 0.00%
L Haringey 111,276 0 0.00%
WM North Warwickshire 28,995 0 0.00%

England 24,987,468 253,357 1.01%

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Distribution of Existing Affordable Homes & Second/Holiday Homes 

BODHAM 62 242 26% 15.3%
WELLS-NEXT-THE-SEA 336 1560 22% 34.8%
GIMINGHAM 46 214 21% 8.6%
LITTLE BARNINGHAM 12 61 20% 9.7%
MORSTON 11 58 19% 52.2%
RYBURGH 62 329 19% 5.4%
FELBRIGG 18 99 18% 13.2%
BINHAM 43 238 18% 35.0%
FAKENHAM 726 4117 18% 1.6%
WARHAM 18 104 17% 19.8%
KNAPTON 34 200 17% 5.8%
HOVETON 188 1111 17% 6.6%
BACONSTHORPE 19 113 17% 16.1%
PUDDING NORTON 22 131 17% 0.8%
NORTH WALSHAM 1059 6361 17% 1.2%
CATFIELD 74 461 16% 2.8%
TUNSTEAD 54 340 16% 4.9%
HOLT 384 2426 16% 13.1%
ALDBOROUGH 47 299 16% 7.2%
FULMODESTON 36 232 16% 9.8%
LITTLE SNORING 48 311 15% 11.3%
SALTHOUSE 19 127 15% 50.0%
WIGHTON 20 135 15% 22.8%
BRISTON 182 1250 15% 5.4%
TRUNCH 70 489 14% 5.8%
STALHAM 270 1966 14% 4.5%
ROUGHTON 60 452 13% 7.5%
HORNING 87 661 13% 23.1%
WALSINGHAM 65 499 13% 21.5%
LUDHAM 87 682 13% 7.7%
SKEYTON 13 102 13% 2.9%
HINDRINGHAM 33 261 13% 20.9%
HIGH KELLING 40 317 13% 8.4%
WICKMERE 8 65 12% 14.9%
EDGEFIELD 30 244 12% 9.7%
BLAKENEY 67 561 12% 44.2%
WORSTEAD 50 419 12% 5.4%
FIELD DALLING 18 155 12% 17.4%
LANGHAM 27 235 11% 25.1%
HINDOLVESTON 29 255 11% 9.4%
ANTINGHAM 17 151 11% 1.3%
STIFFKEY 16 151 11% 36.4%
SWANTON ABBOTT 20 190 11% 3.6%
PLUMSTEAD 6 59 10% 6.6%
CROMER 485 4807 10% 14.0%
SCULTHORPE 36 362 10% 10.6%
MUNDESLEY 172 1742 10% 18.4%
HICKLING 47 482 10% 9.6%
BEESTON REGIS 49 516 9% 6.1%
HEMPTON 26 281 9% 7.0%

% Second & 
Holiday 
Homes*Parish

Affordable 
homes

All Council Tax 
homes

% Affordable 
Homes

Page 73



NORTHREPPS 49 533 9% 11.1%
FELMINGHAM 23 251 9% 4.7%
CLEY-NEXT-THE-SEA 30 330 9% 44.0%
SOUTHREPPS 40 445 9% 12.7%
PASTON 10 113 9% 7.7%
CORPUSTY 32 366 9% 10.7%
BARSHAM 11 127 9% 19.6%
EAST RUSTON 21 245 9% 11.6%
BECKHAM (E&W) 11 135 8% 17.1%
BACTON 63 786 8% 22.4%
SWANTON NOVERS 8 105 8% 17.8%
POTTER HEIGHAM 42 554 8% 8.6%
GREAT SNORING 8 106 8% 22.8%
GUNTHORPE 11 150 7% 21.8%
SUFFIELD 5 69 7% 15.5%
ERPINGHAM 21 305 7% 3.2%
HAPPISBURGH 29 436 7% 21.3%
GRESHAM 14 211 7% 14.8%
STIBBARD 11 166 7% 5.4%
HEMPSTEAD 6 91 7% 16.8%
SHERINGHAM 270 4145 7% 16.5%
SMALLBURGH 16 246 7% 4.0%
HONING 9 149 6% 7.1%
WEYBOURNE 26 432 6% 32.5%
SEA PALLING 18 303 6% 26.9%
ASHMANHAUGH 5 85 6% 3.5%
INGWORTH 3 51 6% 3.9%
UPPER SHERINGHAM 8 140 6% 10.1%
SLOLEY 7 127 6% 5.4%
SUTTON 27 537 5% 3.1%
NEATISHEAD 13 265 5% 5.9%
RUNTON (E&W) 44 903 5% 15.9%
THURSFORD 5 115 4% 26.5%
ITTERINGHAM 3 73 4% 20.7%
OVERSTRAND 23 595 4% 19.1%
SUSTEAD 4 109 4% 11.6%
DILHAM 6 167 4% 8.7%
HELHOUGHTON 4 117 3% 22.6%
SCOTTOW 14 454 3% 0.7%
LETHERINGSETT 4 135 3% 23.8%
COLBY 6 213 3% 5.0%
RAYNHAM 9 328 3% 9.9%
THORNAGE 3 110 3% 28.0%
ALBY 3 112 3% 10.2%
AYLMERTON 6 242 2% 14.3%
WIVETON 2 82 2% 35.9%
HORSEY 1 42 2% 18.8%
SWAFIELD 3 132 2% 5.9%
INGHAM 4 184 2% 11.9%
TRIMINGHAM 4 189 2% 11.8%
KETTLESTONE 2 105 2% 10.1%
SIDESTRAND 1 57 2% 30.3%
BRININGHAM 1 73 1% 23.1%
THORPE MARKET 2 147 1% 10.9%
MELTON CONSTABLE 4 322 1% 5.8%
WALCOTT 5 404 1% 17.1%

Page 74



WITTON 2 167 1% 7.5%
BARTON TURF 2 223 1% 11.0%
LESSINGHAM 2 380 1% 22.7%
TATTERSETT 2 448 0% 4.6%
BRINTON 0 113 0% 20.2%
BRUMSTEAD 0 30 0% 0.0%
DUNTON 0 54 0% 17.5%
HANWORTH 0 107 0% 17.0%
HOLKHAM 0 112 0% 6.0%
KELLING 0 111 0% 34.1%
MATLASKE 0 74 0% 7.8%
STODY 0 100 0% 12.4%
THURNING 0 34 0% 8.8%
WESTWICK 0 39 0% 5.0%
WOOD NORTON 0 107 0% 5.5%

Total 6366 56136 11% 12.20%

England comparison 4077310 22063368 18% 1.1%**
Source: stock data from RPs as at 1/4/21, Second & Holiday homes data from Council Tax and NDR data 1/4/22
* The % of Second and Holiday homes is of all homes - i.e. all council tax homes and self catering holiday homes 
** The England figure only includes Second homes, not Holiday homes 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



New Affordable Homes and Second/Holiday Homes

Ordered by delivery of new affordable homes

Parish
New Affordable 
Homes*

% Second/ 
Holiday Homes

Fakenham 197 1.6%
North Walsham 139 1.2%
Holt 132 13.1%
Wells 72 34.8%
Hoveton 63 6.6%
Stalham 54 4.5%
Cromer 37 14.0%
Briston 28 5.4%
Bacton 24 22.4%
Roughton 21 7.5%
Trunch 18 5.8%
Ludham 16 7.7%
Northrepps 16 11.1%
Binham 14 35.0%
Erpingham 14 3.2%
Knapton 14 5.8%
Sheringham 14 16.5%
Blakeney 13 44.2%
Edgefield 12 9.7%
Bodham 10 15.3%
Barney/Fulmodeston 8 9.8%
Felmingham 8 4.7%
Field Dalling 8 17.4%
Hindringham 8 20.9%
Little Barningham 8 9.7%
Mundesley 8 18.4%
Overstrand 8 19.1%
Upper Sheringham 8 10.1%
Hempton 7 7.0%
East Ruston 6 11.6%
(Great) Ryburgh 5 5.4%
Horning 4 23.1%
Potter Heigham 2 8.6%
Pudding Norton 2 0.8%
Badersfield/Scottow 1 0.7%
Honing 1 7.1%
Little Snoring 1 11.3%
Stiffkey 1 36.4%

TOTAL 1002 12.2%

* Affordable housing completions 2011/12 - 2021/22
Source NNDC monitoring and Council Tax/NNDR data 1/4/22

Page 77



Ordered by % of Second/Holiday homes

Parish
New Affordable 
Homes*

% Second/ 
Holiday Homes

Blakeney 13 44.2%
Stiffkey 1 36.4%
Binham 14 35.0%
Wells 72 34.8%
Horning 4 23.1%
Bacton 24 22.4%
Hindringham 8 20.9%
Overstrand 8 19.1%
Mundesley 8 18.4%
Field Dalling 8 17.4%
Sheringham 14 16.5%
Bodham 10 15.3%
Cromer 37 14.0%
Holt 132 13.1%
East Ruston 6 11.6%
Little Snoring 1 11.3%
Northrepps 16 11.1%
Upper Sheringham 8 10.1%
Barney/Fulmodeston 8 9.8%
Edgefield 12 9.7%
Little Barningham 8 9.7%
Potter Heigham 2 8.6%
Ludham 16 7.7%
Roughton 21 7.5%
Honing 1 7.1%
Hempton 7 7.0%
Hoveton 63 6.6%
Trunch 18 5.8%
Knapton 14 5.8%
Briston 28 5.4%
(Great) Ryburgh 5 5.4%
Felmingham 8 4.7%
Stalham 54 4.5%
Erpingham 14 3.2%
Fakenham 197 1.6%
North Walsham 139 1.2%
Pudding Norton 2 0.8%
Badersfield/Scottow 1 0.7%

TOTAL 1002 12.2%

* Affordable housing completions 2011/12 - 2021/22
Source NNDC monitoring and Council Tax/NNDR data 1/4/22

Page 78



Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect 

Journal of Urban Economics 

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jue 

On the economic impacts of constraining second home investments 

✩ 

Christian A.L. Hilber a , ∗ , Olivier Schöni b 

a London School of Economics & Centre for Economic Performance, Department of Geography and Environment, Houghton Street, London WC2A 2AE, United Kingdom 

b Laval University, Department of Finance, Insurance and Real Estate, Quebec City G1V 0A6, Canada 

a r t i c l e i n f o 

JEL classification: 

D63 

G12 

R11 

R21 

R31 

R52 

Keywords: 

Second homes 

Wealth inequality 

Land use regulation 

Housing policy 

House prices 

Unemployment 

a b s t r a c t 

We investigate how political backlash against wealthy second home investors in high natural amenity places 

affects local residents. We exploit a quasi-natural experiment: the ‘Swiss Second Home Initiative’, which banned 

the construction of new second homes in desirable seasonal tourist locations. Consistent with our model, we find 

that the ban substantially lowered (increased) the price growth of primary (second) homes and increased the 

unemployment growth rate in the affected areas. Our findings suggest that the negative effect on local economies 

dominated the positive amenity-preservation effect. We conclude that constraining second home construction 

in seasonal tourist locations where primary and second homes are not close substitutes may reinforce wealth 

inequality. 

1

 

w  

t  

d  

a  

t  

L

i

2

i

N

D

P

L

S

d

h

R

A

0

. Introduction 

Over the last two decades, fueled by a staggering amount of

ealth accumulation among a growing cohort of high earners, coun-
✩ We thank the Editor, Stuart Rosenthal, and two anonymous reviewers for helpfu

u Han, Blaise Melly, Raven Molloy, Henry Overman, Yu Qin, Stuart Rosenthal, Mar

nsightful comments and suggestions. We thank participants at the 2018 Meetings o

017 North American UEA sessions of the NARSC conference in Vancouver, 2017 In

n Copenhagen, 2016 IV IEB Workshop on Urban Economics in Barcelona, 2016 Wei

orth American UEA sessions of the NARSC conference in Portland. We also thank s

C, Swiss National Bank in Zürich, IEB University of Barcelona, LSE (SERC), Univers

aris, Lancaster University, University of Würzburg, University of Nuremberg, Unive

ondon, Kraks Fond in Copenhagen, and University of Barcelona/IEB for helpful com

wiss National Science Foundation (P2FRP1_155187) for providing research funding.

ata. All errors are the sole responsibility of the authors. 
∗ Corresponding author. 

E-mail addresses: c.hilber@lse.ac.uk (C.A.L. Hilber), olivier.schoni@fsa.ulaval.ca (

ttps://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2020.103266 

eceived 8 February 2019; Received in revised form 26 May 2020 

vailable online xxx 

094-1190/© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. Page
ries all over the world have seen a dramatic increase in wealthy in-

ividuals investing in ‘second homes’ – properties that are not used

s primary residence – with a particular concentration in seasonal

ourist locations and desirable (superstar) cities. This surge in second
l comments. We are grateful to Gabriel Ahlfeldt, John Clapp, Steve Gibbons, 

ia Sanchez, Kamila Sommer, Corentin Trevien, and Maximilian von Ehrlich for 

f the German Economic Association, 2018 RIETI Research Meeting in Tokyo, 

ternational AREUEA conference in Amsterdam, 2017 European UEA meetings 

mer School of Advanced Studies in Real Estate and Land Economics, and 2015 

eminar participants at the Federal Reserve Board of Governors in Washington 

ity of Bern, University College Dublin (Centre for Financial Markets), CREST in 

rsity of Bochum, University of Bonn, University of Durham, University College 

ments. Olivier Schöni is grateful to Laurent Donzé for his support and to the 

 We thank the Swiss Real Estate Datapool Association for providing the housing 

O. Schöni). 

 79

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2020.103266
http://www.ScienceDirect.com
http://www.elsevier.com/locate/jue
http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1016/j.jue.2020.103266&domain=pdf
mailto:c.hilber@lse.ac.uk
mailto:olivier.schoni@fsa.ulaval.ca
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2020.103266


C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

h  

c

 

o  

t  

i  

l  

f  

l

 

p  

f  

c  

d  

h  

u  

n  

i  

a

 

o  

l  

w  

f  

e  

a

 

t  

i  

t  

t  

l  

t

 

a  

s  

i

 

c  

q  

(  

a  

i

 

(  

o  

m  

s  

f  

b  

p  

s

 

m  

t  

r  

s  

a

N

v

t

p

G

i

i

p  

s  

e

 

a  

v  

r  

d  

t  

s  

o  

c  

i  

B  

t  

f  

p  

t  

c  

f  

l

 

i  

p  

d  

a  

M  

c  

d  

b  

o  

u  

i  

o  

s  

s  

i  

u  

o  

n  

b  

N  

o  

o  

w  

t  

p

 

r  

S  

s  

a  

I  

r  

d  

i  

C  
ome investments has triggered a serious political backlash in many

ountries. 1 

In this paper, we explore the local housing and labor market impacts

f one form of such political backlash: constraints or outright bans on

he construction of new second homes in seasonal tourist locations . While

n most countries far fewer people live and work in seasonal tourist

ocations than in superstar cities, when it comes to analyzing the market

or second homes, the former locations are arguably economically at

east as important as the latter. 

Seasonal tourist locations rich in natural amenities differ from high-

roductivity superstar cities in two important respects that are relevant

or both, our theoretical and empirical analysis. First, unlike in superstar

ities, in seasonal tourist locations, the tourist sector is typically the

ominant industry. Second, while in superstar cities primary and second

omes tend to be close substitutes, in seasonal tourist locations this is

sually not the case. For example, holiday homes at the beach often do

ot possess heating required for the winter season and wooden chalets

n the mountains are in specific micro-locations, typically near ski lifts,

nd are of a style that is not suitable for year-round living. 

To shed light on the mechanisms through which a constraint on sec-

nd homes in seasonal tourist locations may affect local housing and

abor markets, we develop a simple dynamic general equilibrium frame-

ork, where bans on second home investments have two opposing ef-

ects. They adversely affect local labor markets (negative ‘local economy

ffect’) but positively influence the primary residents’ valuation of local

menities (positive ‘local amenity effect’). 

We consider two alternative theoretical settings. The first assumes

hat primary and second homes are poor substitutes and therefore trade

n separate markets. The model with this setting yields three empirically

estable predictions. Constraining second home construction (i) nega-

ively impacts the price of primary homes, (ii) adversely affects local

abor markets, and (iii) increases the price growth of second homes in

he constrained areas. 

In contrast, the second setting assumes that the two types of homes

re perfect substitutes. In this case, the price of existing primary and

econd homes must move in the same direction. Whether the direction

s positive or negative is theoretically ambiguous. 

To empirically identify the local housing and labor market impacts of

onstraining the construction of new second homes, we exploit a unique

uasi-natural experiment in Switzerland – the ‘Second Home Initiative’

SHI). Voters narrowly approved this popular initiative in March 2012

nd effectively banned the construction of new second homes in munic-

palities with a share of such homes of 20% or more. 

Our empirical analysis builds on a standard difference-in-differences

DD) setting and addresses concerns of omitted variable bias and out-

f-treatment selection by first-differencing the DD-equation and instru-

enting the observed treatment assignment. Our preferred estimates

uggest that the SHI-ban lowered price growth of primary homes in af-

ected areas by 15%, increased the growth in local unemployment rates

y 12%, and increased price growth of second homes by 26%. Our em-

irical findings for Switzerland are thus consistent with a theoretical

etting where primary and second homes are poor substitutes. 

Overall, our empirical findings imply that the adverse local labor

arket effects dominated any anticipated positive landscape preserva-

ion effects. In fact, we do not observe any significant positive sorting

esponse from residents to the alleged benefits of the ban. Our results

uggest that in seasonal tourist locations, like in Switzerland, where
1 Countries that have implemented stringent policies to curb second home construction 

nd/or investments include Australia, Canada, China, Denmark, France, Germany, Israel, 

ew Zealand, Singapore, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. We pro- 

ide newspaper references documenting some second home policies implemented across 

he globe in Web-Appendix Table W-A1 . We also note that resentment can turn into sup- 

ort in places that are confronted with severe house price busts. A case in point is Spain’s 

olden Visa program, introduced in 2013, after the collapse of its real estate market. The 

ntention of the program has been to stimulate the housing market by attracting property 

nvestment into Spain through facilitating a path towards residency. 

d

 

t  

h  

t  

e  

s  

l  

h  

Page 8
rimary and second homes are not close substitutes, bans on the con-

truction of second homes may reinforce rather than reduce wealth in-

quality. 

Our paper relates to a relatively small but growing recent liter-

ture that focuses on the role played by residential real estate in-

estors in housing markets. Haughwout et al. (2011) investigate the

ole of investors during the Great Financial Crisis in the United States,

ocumenting that investors were heavily overrepresented in states

hat experienced the largest housing booms and busts. In a related

tudy, Chinco and Mayer (2016) compare local second homebuyers to

ut-of-town investors. They find that out-of-town buyers – unlike lo-

al second homebuyers – behave as misinformed speculators, increas-

ng future house prices and the implied-to-actual rent ratio. Finally,

ayer et al. (2020) classify investors into two categories according to

heir observed investment strategies: middlemen and speculators. The

ormer group aims to make profit by buying from motivated sellers at

rices below the market value and re-selling quickly, whereas the lat-

er group times their investments to markets displaying strong price in-

reases. By excluding the possibility that speculators possess superior in-

ormation on housing price dynamics, they indirectly establish a causal

ink between speculative behavior and housing price bubbles. 

A number of recent papers focus on international second home

nvestments in superstar cities. Cvijanovic and Spaenjers (2020) ex-

lore the effect of international demand for luxury secondary resi-

ences in Paris. They point out how investors concentrate in specific

reas, thereby increasing local housing prices. In line with Chinco and

ayer (2016) , they find that foreign investors realize lower capital gains

ompared to local ones. Badarinza and Ramadorai (2018) focus on Lon-

on and document how foreign real estate investors possess a “home

ias abroad ”. They invest in areas displaying high shares of residents

f the same country thus affecting housing prices and transaction vol-

mes. In a similar vein, Sá (2016) finds that the volume-share of res-

dential real estate investments in England and Wales performed by

verseas companies increases house prices and decreases homeowner-

hip rates. Suher (2016) explores the response of non-resident owners of

econd homes in New York City to targeted annual property taxes. Us-

ng the city’s 2013 change in the property tax treatment of condomini-

ms, he documents that non-resident buyers have a significant impact

n house prices within a subset of highly desirable neighborhoods, but

o impact outside of these areas. Finally, Favilukis and Van Nieuwer-

urgh (2017) develop and calibrate a spatial equilibrium model for the

ew York and Vancouver metro areas to investigate the welfare effects

f out-of-town homebuyers. Their findings suggest that higher levels of

ut-of-town buyers are associated with higher house prices and lower

elfare. However, taxing purchases made by foreign investors may lead

o welfare gains to the extent fiscal revenues are used to finance local

ublic goods. 

Studies on the economic impacts of restrictions on non-

esident buyers are still rare and have so far focused on China.

omerville et al. (2020) document that purchase restrictions in China

ignificantly reduced the housing transaction volume in restricted

reas in the short run but that these effects diminished over time.

nterestingly, they do not find any differential price effects between

estricted and unrestricted areas. The underlying mechanisms that

rive these results are quite different, however, from those proposed

n this paper. This is because the institutional settings differ starkly. In

hina, unlike in Switzerland or other Western countries, land supply is

etermined by government-controlled land auctions. 

Overall, the literature appears to support the widespread concern

hat non-resident investors into residential real estate increase local

ouse prices and fuel market instability. This gives potential legitimacy

o policies that aim to constrain non-resident real estate investments,

ither by imposing higher local taxes on non-primary owners or by con-

training the quantity of such investments. To date, however, we know

ittle about the economic effects of such investment constraints on local

ousing and labor market outcomes, and on the location decisions of
0



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

p  

p  

l  

u  

s

 

c  

S  

a  

W  

a

2

 

r  

p  

i  

i  

c  

c  

o  

s  

t  

m  

m  

t

 

s  

a  

J  

p  

i  

i  

m  

o  

s  

a  

 

c  

r  

t  

b  

b  

t  

m  

a  

a  

t  

l

 

y  

t  

f  

t  

i  

o

‘

u

a

v

o

p  

m  

a

 

t  

2  

t  

e  

l  

s  

f  

m  

r

 

l  

c  

a  

d  

r  

h  

S  

a  

 

s  

a  

t  

fi  

r  

t  

l  

i  

s  

a

 

t  

i  

s  

i  

m  

t  

s  

v  

l  

a  

s

3

 

m  

c  

e  

a

rimary residents, especially in Western advanced economies. This pa-

er aims to fill this gap. In particular, our analysis considers mid- and

ong-term investors and does not exclusively focus on short-term spec-

lators. The latter do not fully capture the significance of the global

econd home investment phenomenon. 

The remainder of this article is structured as follows. Section 2 dis-

usses the institutional setting and the specifics of the SHI. In

ection 3 we present the model and derive predictions for the empirical

nalysis. Section 4 discusses the data and provides descriptive statistics.

e outline our empirical setup in Section 5 and present the main results

nd robustness checks in Section 6 . The final section concludes. 

. Institutional background and the Second Home Initiative (SHI) 

Popular initiatives like the SHI are an instrument of direct democ-

acy that allows Swiss citizens to modify the country’s constitution. Sup-

orters of an initiative are required to collect 100 ′ 000 valid signatures

n favor of the initiative within 18 months. In order to avoid undue

nfluence of populous regions (in Switzerland called ‘cantons’ and ‘half-

antons’), the initiative must be approved by the majority of voters and

antons. Popular initiatives have a low approval rate: up to April 2015

nly 22 out of 198 initiatives obtained dual majority. This is for two rea-

ons. First, popular initiatives are often considered extreme and meant

o send a signal to policy makers rather than being intended to actually

odify the constitution. Second, authorities are allowed to formulate a

ore moderate counterproposal, often leading proponents to withdraw

he initiative. 

Supporters of the SHI, who argued a ban on the construction of new

econd homes is necessary to protect the natural landscape in tourist

reas and prevent ghost towns, collected enough validated signatures by

anuary 2008. The Federal Council, the Parliament, most of the political

arties and economic organizations recommended voting against the

nitiative, mainly for economic reasons. Thus it came as a surprise when

n March 2012 Swiss voters approved the SHI with the narrowest of

argins; 50.6% of the votes and 13.5 (12 cantons and 3 half-cantons)

f the 26 cantons (23 cantons and 6 half-cantons). Although voting polls

uggested that a tight majority in favor of the initiative is feasible, its

pproval by the majority of cantons was a complete bolt from the blue.

On January 1, 2013, the SHI ordinance came into force, banning

onstruction of new second homes in municipalities where such homes

epresented 20% or more of the total housing stock. The SHI stipulated

hat in the treated municipalities investors are not allowed to plan and

uild any new second homes going forward, though primary residences

uilt prior to 2013 can still be converted into second homes. Fiscal au-

horities in Switzerland legally categorize all housing units as either ‘pri-

ary’ or ‘second’ homes depending on whether or not a household uses

 housing unit as primary residence. 2 There is certainty about whether

 unit is a primary residence because households only pay local income

axes in their primary place of residence (i.e., in the place where they

ive more than half of the year). 3 

Two elements of the ordinance are particularly relevant for our anal-

sis. First, second homes that had obtained a construction permit prior

o the vote were still allowed to be built after the ordinance came into

orce. This prevented the number of newly built second homes above

he threshold to fall to zero in the years just after the approval of the

nitiative. Second, primary homes built – or possessing a construction
2 The second home status does not depend on the tenure (owner-occupied vs. renter- 

ccupied) of the unit. Developers can still build rental properties – sometimes labelled 

investment properties’ – post 2012 but, crucially, renter-occupiers must live in these new 

nits permanently, not just during the tourist season. 
3 Cantonal inspectors can monitor an occupier’s presence in a second home. They can 

lso conduct surprise visits for control purposes if they suspect misconduct. In a similar 

ein, in Israel authorities check the water usage of properties to determine whether an 

ccupier may falsely claim to use a property as second home. 

c

m

a

c

i

m

a

n

H

Page
ermit issued – before the ordinance came into force (i.e., before 2013)

ay still be converted into second homes, but those planned and built

fter the ordinance was enacted lost their conversion option. 4 

Both elements of the ordinance were defined after the approval of

he initiative, thus they were unknown to the voters prior to August

012. Although the wording of the initiative had to be introduced into

he Swiss constitution, implementation-specifics (and conformity with

xisting laws) were open to debate. In fact, the final text of a popu-

ar initiative is usually an arm-wrestled compromise between politicians

upporting the initiative and those representing lobbies’ interests. There-

ore, the uncertainty concerning the specific implementation of the SHI

ade anticipation strategies extremely unlikely even after the voting

esults were known. 

Treated areas in our setting – mountainous and other areas near

akes with shares of second homes above 20% – typically possess lo-

al economies that are reliant on tourism. A majority of voters in these

reas, on balance, benefit substantially from the second home industry,

irectly or indirectly. It is therefore no surprise that the majority of local

esidents – especially in municipalities with very high shares of second

omes and high homeownership rates – were strongly opposed to the

HI. The strong positive correlation between the SHI-share of no votes

nd the share of second homes in a municipality is illustrated in Fig. 1 .

In Appendix Table A1 we go one step further and present the re-

ults of a simple voting analysis, controlling for confounding factors,

nd reporting separate findings for the full sample of municipalities,

he control and the treatment group. Focusing on treated tourist areas

rst, we find that – consistent with our main results – permanent local

esidents in the affected areas weighed the adverse economic effects of

he SHI much more strongly than the anticipated positive effects high-

ighted forcefully by the supporters of the initiative. Permanent residents

n treated areas were more strongly opposed to the SHI, the higher the

hare of second homes, the higher the homeownership rate, the closer

 municipality to a major ski resort, and the higher the voter turnout. 

Despite their strong opposition and turnout, however, voters in the

reated areas did not succeed in preventing the approval of the SHI. This

s because voters in populous and non-tourist control areas also had a

ay. A simple analysis of the voting behavior in these non-treated areas

ndicates that the overall support may have been mainly driven by envy

otives of voters with little wealth: the higher the share of renters and

he lower the income in a non-treated municipality, the stronger was the

upport in favor of the SHI. Moreover, perhaps driven by an ‘existence

alue’ associated with the preserved landscape, the further away voters

ived from high amenity places, and therefore the higher the travel costs

ssociated with a second home, the greater is the likelihood that they

upported the SHI. 

. The model 

In this section, we present a simple dynamic general equilibrium

odel in the spirit of Rosen (1979) and Roback (1982) . We build on re-

ent work by Glaeser and Gottlieb (2009) who provide a general spatial

quilibrium setting for the structural analysis of housing prices, wages,

nd population growth in the presence of agglomeration economies. 5 
4 Initially authorities confined the ‘conversion option’ to sales that did not trigger the 

onstruction of a new primary home in the treated or another nearby municipality. This 

easure intended to avoid speculative behavior of primary homeowners, thus limiting 

rbitrage strategies over the period of our analysis. However, the restriction was not in- 

luded in the final law – implemented in January 2016 – because policy makers deemed it 

neffective. This is allegedly for two reasons. First, mobile skilled individuals are likely to 

ove over longer distances, so the restriction would not prevent them from moving away 

nd pocketing the proceeds from the conversion option. Second, implementation (coordi- 

ation across local jurisdictions) would have been very difficult and costly to monitor. 
5 Our theoretical framework also relates to recent work by Desmet and Rossi- 

ansberg (2013) , Gaubert (2018) , and Hsieh and Moretti (2019) . 

 81



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Fig. 1. SHI-voting results at municipality level with respect to second home percentage. 

 

o  

a  

e  

t  

t  

w  

c  

v

 

t  

t  

t  

d  

t

 

w  

e  

e  

t  

o  

t  

g  

k  

t  

l  

t  

e  

w  

f

S

s

c

a

l

i

3

 

s  

v  

o  

n  

G  

o  

d

𝑌  

w  

e  

𝑍  

l  

b  

c  

m  

i  

c

𝑁  

w  

t

3

We consider a system of local jurisdictions that differ in the quality

f major natural amenities, such as mountains or lakes. 6 High quality

menities attract second home investors and increase the production

fficiency of firms that exploit these amenities, leading local economies

o exclusively specialize in the tourism sector. 7 Mobile workers choose

heir primary residence by sorting across local jurisdictions according to

ages, housing prices, natural amenities, and the negative externalities

aused by second home investors. Investors generate such externalities

ia adversely affecting the landscape and creating ghost towns. 

One key assumption in our model is that primary and second homes

rade in two distinct markets within each local jurisdiction, that is, the

wo markets have separate demand and supply functions. This implies

hat primary and second homes are poor substitutes . In Section 3.6 we

iscuss the contrasting case of perfect substitutability along with predic-

ions. 

The assumption of poor substitutability is not far-fetched. It arises

hen second home investors and primary residents differ in their prefer-

nces for the micro-location within municipalities, the layout of a prop-

rty, or the quality of construction. For example, second home investors

end to have strong preferences for nice views onto mountaintops, lakes

r cityscapes or for quick access to ski lifts. These micro-locations are

ypically scarce. Vice versa, primary residents tend to strongly value

ood access to employment opportunities, local schools or supermar-

ets. Moreover, the layout of permanent homes often differs starkly from

hat of second homes. Differences in preferences for micro-locations and

ayouts, within municipality heterogeneity in locational access to ameni-

ies and services, and differences in the layouts of properties may thus

ffectively create separate markets. Strong wealth differentials between

ell-off second home investors and less well-off primary residents may

urther reinforce this market separation. 
6 We briefly discuss the generalization of our framework to superstar cities in 

ection 6.5 . 
7 In the interest of parsimony, we assume that the local economies of tourist locations 

olely consist of the tourism industry. A similar interpretation of the model would hold if 

onstruction were the sole industry. We refrain from interpreting the main local industry 

s being construction for two reasons. First, the construction industry is arguably not fully 

ocalized in tourist places. Second, the negative wage effect in the construction industry 

s likely of second order importance relative to the one in the tourism industry. 

 

D

𝑉  

a  

a  

𝑁  

e  

o  

Page 8
.1. Tourism industry 

The local tourism industry produces non-tradable goods and services

uch as local ski lifts or food services that are sold to second home in-

estors. We assume that residents in the municipality supply one unit

f labor inelastically and we ignore cross-commuting, such that the

umber of local residents corresponds to local employment. Following

laeser and Gottlieb (2009) and Hsieh and Moretti (2019) , the output

f firms is characterized by a Cobb-Douglas production function that

isplays decreasing returns to scale at the aggregate level: 

 𝑖𝑡 = 𝐴 𝑖𝑡 𝑁 

𝛽

𝑖𝑡 
𝐾 

𝛾

𝑖𝑡 
𝑍̄ 

1− 𝛽− 𝛾
𝑖 

, 0 < 𝛽, 𝛾 < 1 , 𝛽 + 𝛾 < 1 (1)

here Y it , A it , N it , and K it represent output, total factor productivity,

mployment, and traded capital in municipality i at time t , respectively;
̄
 𝑖 represents the municipality fixed stock of non-traded capital (e.g.

and) that makes returns to scale decreasing at the municipality level

ut constant for individual firms. The industry is assumed to be perfectly

ompetitive and firms choose the level of the factors of production to

aximize their profits. Traded capital is supplied with infinite elastic-

ty at an exogenous price set equal to 1. Labor and capital first order

onditions lead to the labor demand equation: 

 𝑖𝑡 ∝ 𝐴 
1 

1− 𝛽− 𝛾
𝑖𝑡 

𝑝 

1 
1− 𝛽− 𝛾
𝑖𝑡 

𝑊 

𝛾−1 
1− 𝛽− 𝛾
𝑖𝑡 

. (2)

here p it and W it denote, respectively, the price of tourism services and

he wages paid by the local tourism industry. 

.2. Local residents 

Local residents are perfectly mobile and equalize their indirect Cobb-

ouglas utility function 

 𝑡 = 𝜃𝑖 𝑁 

 𝜂

𝑖𝑡 

𝑊 𝑖𝑡 

𝑟 𝑎 
𝑖𝑡 

, 0 < 𝑎 < 1 , 𝜃𝑖 > 0 , 𝜂 < 0 (3)

cross municipalities, where the term 𝜃𝑖 𝑁 

 𝜂

𝑖𝑡 
denotes an endogenous

menity index that decreases as the number of second home investors

 

 
𝑖𝑡 

in the municipality increases. In our context, the factor 𝜃i reflects

ither the exogenously given value of natural amenities or the quality

f the social life in the municipality. The value primary residents attach
2



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

t  

t  

t  

e  

t  

h  

h

3

 

i  

c

𝑉

w

r  

i  

c  

s

a  

c  

t  

c

3

 

i  

b

–  

c  

𝑃  

o  

B  

e  

T  

v  

v

m  

 

r  

(  

p  

t

 

p  

t

𝐻  

 

s

w

h

A

g

b

s

 

i  

t  

i  

r  

o  

t

3

s

 

r  

f  

p  

fl

𝑃  

w  

d

D  

(  

i

 

 

i

i

 

c

C

 

d  

h  

o  

a  

e

𝐸

w  

d  

0  

a  

l

P  
o this index evolves dynamically according to the negative externali-

ies imposed by second home investors. The factor 𝜂 captures the extent

o which local residents care about the disamenity caused by the pres-

nce of investors. The term r it represents the cost of local housing in

he considered time period – i.e. the rental cost or the periodical cost of

omeownership. The parameter a is the constant expenditure share on

ousing. 

.3. Second home investors 

Second home investors sort across municipalities to maximize their

ndirect Cobb-Douglas utility, which we assume depends on the optimal

onsumption of natural amenities, tourism services, and housing: 

 

 
𝑡 

= 𝜃 
𝑖 
𝑁 

 𝜀 

it 

𝑊 

 
𝑡 

𝑝 1− 𝑏 
it 
𝑟  𝑏 
it 

, 0 < 𝑏 < 1 , 𝜃 
𝑖 
> 0 , 𝜀 ≤ 0 , (4) 

here, similar to the case of primary residents, the amenity index 𝜃 
𝑖 
𝑁 

 𝜀 

it 
eflects the potential dislike of an investor for the presence of other

nvestors. (When 𝜖 is strictly negative, the endogenous amenity index

ould also be interpreted as congestion costs associated with the con-

umption of tourism services such as the use of ski lifts.) The terms 𝑊 

 
𝑡 

nd 𝑟  
𝑖𝑡 

represent, respectively, the local second home market housing

osts and the exogenous wages of second home investors that are de-

ermined outside our system of municipalities. 8 The parameter b is the

onstant expenditure share on housing of second home investors. 

.4. Housing developers 

We describe the problem of developers of primary residences follow-

ng Glaeser (2008) . 9 Let us assume that in every municipality at an ar-

itrary point in time t 0 < t there is a fixed supply of housing units 𝐻 𝑖 𝐶 
𝜌𝑖 
𝑖 𝑡 0 

where H i , 𝜌i > 0 are parameters affecting the supply elasticity – that

an be built at a unitary cost of 𝐶 𝑖 𝑡 0 or less and sold at the market price

 𝑖 𝑡 0 
. Prices and heterogeneous construction costs are assumed to grow

r shrink at steady-state rates g i and 𝑔 𝑐 
𝑖 
, respectively, prior to the ban.

oth rates are lower than the interest rate r . Profit maximizing develop-

rs choose the optimal period t in which to develop and sell a property.

he profit at t 0 of developing a plot of land is given by the discounted

alue of the future property price 𝑃 𝑖𝑡 = ( 1 + 𝑔 ) 𝑡 − 𝑡 0 𝑃 𝑖 𝑡 0 less the discounted

alue of its future unit cost 𝐶 𝑖𝑡 = ( 1 + 𝑔 𝑐 ) 𝑡 − 𝑡 0 𝐶 𝑖 𝑡 0 : 

ax 
𝑡 

(
( 1 + 𝑟 ) − ( 𝑡 − 𝑡 0 ) 

((
1 + 𝑔 𝑖 

)𝑡 − 𝑡 0 𝑃 𝑖 𝑡 0 − 

(
1 + 𝑔 𝑐 

𝑖 

)𝑡 − 𝑡 0 𝐶 𝑖 𝑡 0 )), 𝑡 ≥ 𝑡 0 . (5)

Marginal development in period t occurs when the optimal stopping

ule – obtained by setting the derivative of the continuous version of

5) equal to zero – is satisfied. Waiting to develop after the period im-

lied by the stopping rule, decreases the profit function of developers,

hus harming them. 

As we assume that primary ( ) and secondary ( ) residences are

roduced by two distinct supply functions, the housing supply of each

ype of residence is then given by 

 

𝑗 

𝑖 

⎛ ⎜ ⎜ ⎜ ⎝ 
𝑟 − 𝑔 

𝑗 

𝑖 (
1 + 𝑔 

𝑗,𝑐 

𝑖 

)𝑡 − 𝑡 0 (
𝑟 − 𝑔 

𝑗,𝑐 

𝑖 

) 𝑃 𝑗 𝑖𝑡 
⎞ ⎟ ⎟ ⎟ ⎠ 
𝜌𝑖 

, 𝑗 ∈ {  ,  } . (6)

For ease of exposition, in what follows we only report the  super-

cript to distinguish second homes from primary ones. 
8 The wage 𝑊 

 
𝑡 

can be thought of as the share of wage that investors spend in the place 

here their second home is located. The wage 𝑊 

 
𝑡 

can easily be modified to incorporate ad 

oc taxes targeting second home investors, which would shift their demand downwards. 

dding such taxes, however, would require modelling the public good provision of local 

overnments and/or the tax revenue redistribution from higher-tier political units, a task 

eyond the aim of the present framework. 
9 Developers of second homes solve a similar optimization problem. See the right-hand 

ide of the market-clearing condition C5 in Web-Appendix C.1. 

c

i  

 

Page
We model a ban on second homes as the limiting case of an increase

n the cost of producing such houses. By exogenously increasing 𝑔  ,𝑐 
𝑖 

,

he second home supply becomes more inelastic. If the increase in costs

s large enough, the supply will become perfectly inelastic, which cor-

esponds to a ban on second homes. Comparative static results based

n the growth of construction costs of second homes thus correspond to

hose of a ban of such homes. 

.5. Equilibrium outcomes (when primary and second homes are traded in 

eparate markets) 

Having stated the problem of firms in the tourism sector, primary

esidents, second home investors, and housing developers, we can solve

or the equilibrium solution of the system. To link the endogenous stock

rice of primary and secondary residences to the value of their housing

ows, we use the standard dynamic price equation: 

 

𝑗 

𝑖𝑡 
= 

+∞∑
𝑙=0 

𝑟 
𝑗 

𝑖𝑡 + 𝑙 

( 1 + 𝑟 ) 𝑙 
= 

1 + 𝑟 

𝑟 − 𝑔 
𝑗 

𝑖 

𝑟 
𝑗 

𝑖𝑡 
, 𝑗 ∈ {  ,  } , (7)

here we assume that rents grow at a steady state rate 𝑔 
𝑗 

𝑖 
. We can now

efine the concept of dynamic equilibrium: 

efinition 1. A dynamic equilibrium is a vector

 

𝑊 𝑖𝑡 +1 
𝑊 𝑖𝑡 

, 
𝑃 𝑖𝑡 +1 
𝑃 𝑖𝑡 
, 
𝑁 𝑖𝑡 +1 
𝑁 𝑖𝑡 

, 
𝑃  
𝑖𝑡 +1 
𝑃  
𝑖𝑡 

, 
𝑁  
𝑖𝑡 +1 
𝑁  
𝑖𝑡 

, 
𝑝 𝑖𝑡 +1 
𝑝 𝑖𝑡 

) such that for every municipal-

ty i and every time period t : 

i) Local labor markets clear according to Eq. (2) . 

ii) Primary residents and second home investors equalize their indirect

utilities across municipalities according to Eqs. (3) and (4) , respec-

tively. 

ii) Housing markets of primary and secondary residences clear. 

v) The market of tourism services clears. 

As the dynamic system of equations characterizing local economies

an be linearized, we have 

orollary 1. There exists a unique dynamic equilibrium . 

Proof . See Web-Appendix C.1. 

We can use the dynamic equilibrium to make comparative static pre-

ictions about the impact of constraining the construction of new second

omes (i.e. increase their construction costs) on the outcome variables

f our model. Let 𝑦 
0 ,𝑗 
𝑖𝑡 +1 and 𝑦 

1 ,𝑗 
𝑖𝑡 +1 denote a given post-ban outcome vari-

ble if the ban would not have been/is enacted, respectively. We can

xpress the average treatment effect on the treated as 

 

(
ln 
(
𝑦 
1 ,𝑗 
𝑖𝑡 +1 

)
− ln 

(
𝑦 
0 ,𝑗 
𝑖𝑡 +1 

)|𝐷 = 1 
)

= 𝐸 

( 

ln 

( 

𝑦 
1 ,𝑗 
𝑖𝑡 +1 

𝑦 
𝑗 

𝑖𝑡 

) 

− ln 

( 

𝑦 
0 ,𝑗 
𝑖𝑡 +1 

𝑦 
𝑗 

𝑖𝑡 

) |𝐷 = 1 

) 

, 𝑗 ∈ {  ,  } (8) 

here 𝑦 
𝑗 

𝑖𝑡 
denotes pre-ban outcomes and D an observed treatment

ummy variable equal to 1 if the municipality is subject to the ban and

 otherwise. We obtain the following propositions for primary residents

nd second home investors, which we test in the empirical analysis be-

ow: 

roposition 1. If primary and second homes are not substitutable, then

onstraining the construction of new second homes 

i) reduces the price growth of primary homes, 

ii) reduces wage growth, and 

ii) has an ambiguous effect on the growth of the local population. The

sign depends on the extent to which local residents dislike second

home investors. 

Proof. See Web-Appendix C.1 and Web-Appendix Table C1. 
 83



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

 

f  

c  

a  

c  

e  

o  

t  

e

 

a  

c  

t  

i  

d  

a  

i  

f  

i  

m  

n  

t

P  

e  

i

 

(  

e  

c  

e  

r

 

u  

s  

P  

h  

f  

c  

a  

n  

d  

i  

w  

P  

v  

b  

i  

t  

f

3

s

 

s  

o  

b  

a

t

t

h

t

m  

s  

t  

o  

a  

a  

o  

i  

h  

u

 

o  

l  

i  

s  

b  

o  

w

 

t  

p  

t  

o  

l  

o  

h  

i

 

s  

k  

w  

o  

t  

p  

m  

r  

w  

a  

t  

e  

o  

a  

h  

s  

d

4

 

A  

d

4

4

 

l  

o  

t  
To understand the intuition behind Proposition 1 , consider the ef-

ects of a constraint (or outright ban) on new second homes on the lo-

al landscape and the local economy. If local residents don’t care much

bout the disamenity caused by the presence of investors ( 𝜂 ≈ 0), the

onstraint hurts the local tourism industry without providing any ben-

fit to primary residents, causing the growth in wages and the number

f residents to be lower in the new equilibrium. This negatively impacts

he aggregate housing demand for primary homes, leading to a negative

quilibrium price effect. 

Now consider the other extreme where local residents care a lot

bout the negative externality imposed by investors ( 𝜂 ≪ 0). In this

ase, the predictions of Proposition 1 hinge on the decreasing returns

o scale assumption, which would seem plausible for the local tourism

ndustry. That is, the constraint can be expected to attract local resi-

ents into treated municipalities relative to the counterfactual (positive

menity effect). However, in a setting with decreasing returns to scale

n the tourism industry, the constraint also reinforces the negative ef-

ect on local wage growth (deterring primary residents). In equilibrium,

n our setting with decreasing returns to scale, the effect on local de-

and for primary homes and primary house prices is unambiguously

egative, whereas the effect on the total number of primary residents is

heoretically ambiguous. 10 

roposition 2. If primary and second homes are not substitutable, the av-

rage price growth effect on second homes of constraining their construction

s positive . 

Proof . See Web-Appendix C.1 and Appendix Table C1. 

The intuition behind Proposition 2 is straightforward: A constraint

or outright ban) on new second homes makes supply more price in-

lastic, thus capitalizing future demand growth for second homes into

omparatively higher equilibrium prices (and price growth). More in-

lastic supply also implies fewer second home investors and this in turn

educes demand for tourism services, lowering prices for such services. 

Propositions 1 and 2 also have distributional implications, allowing

s to speculate about the impact of constraining the construction of new

econd homes on local residents and, more generally, wealth inequality.

roposition 1 implies that constraining the construction of new second

omes imposes a significant economic cost on local homeowners in the

orm of both, lower primary house price and wage growth, making lo-

al homeowners unambiguously worse off. Since prices are measured

s the present value of imputed rents, constraining the construction of

ew second homes is also expected to lower future rent levels. But this

oes not mean that renters are better-off. This is because the fall in rents

s commensurate to lower local wages. In a spatial equilibrium setting

ithout relocation costs, renters should be neither better nor worse off.

roposition 2 implies that (typically wealthy) existing second home in-

estors in treated locations should be better off as their investments

ecome more valuable. Overall, these predicted distributional effects

mply an increase in wealth inequality as a consequence of constraining

he construction of new second homes, hurting local homeowners and

avoring absentee second home investors. 

.6. Equilibrium outcomes when primary and second homes are perfect 

ubstitutes 

In a setting where existing primary and second homes are perfect

ubstitutes (both have a conversion option in both directions), the price

f the two types must be the same and, by implication, the impact of the

an on the price must go in the same direction and must be of the same
10 In Web-Appendix C.1, we explore whether Proposition 1 still holds when we instead 

ssume agglomeration economies (increasing returns to scale) in the local tourism indus- 

ry. We demonstrate that if agglomeration forces become very strong and exceed a certain 

hreshold, a constraint on new second homes may increase the price growth of primary 

omes and wages. However, simulations – documented in Web-Appendix C.2 – suggest 

hat such a threshold may be unrealistically high. 

u  

i  

c  

n  

Page 8
agnitude as well. Although the ban prevents the construction of new

econd homes, it does not prevent second home investors from entering

he location. This is because existing primary residents have the valuable

ption to sell their property to second home investors and either move

way or build a new – cheaper – primary home without conversion option

t the outskirts of the location. Nevertheless, the expected growth rate

f the number of second home investors should decrease post-ban. This

s because eventually the municipality will run out of existing primary

omes with a conversion option, at which point the ban puts an absolute

pper limit on the number of second homes. 

In our setting, if the expected growth rate of the number of new sec-

nd home investors decreases, this has a negative feedback effect on

ocal residents via the local labor market. Aggregate demand for hous-

ng in the local jurisdiction decreases, yet, at the same time, supply of

econd homes (or primary homes with a conversion option respectively)

ecomes more inelastic at the point in time of the ban. The net impact

f these two opposing effects on the equilibrium price growth of houses

ith a conversion option is theoretically ambiguous. 

In contrast to the separate market case, here primary homeowners re-

ain a ‘conversion option’ to sell their property to second home investors

ost-ban. How valuable this option for existing owners is, depends on

heir moving costs. In the extreme of ‘excessively high moving costs’ the

ption to convert is worthless. However, in reality the option may at

east partially hedge primary homeowners against the adverse effects

n the local economy. Put differently, ignoring moving costs, primary

omeowners may not be worse off compared to existing second home

nvestors. 

Interestingly, from a policy point of view, in a setting with perfect

ubstitutability, banning second homes is likely to reinforce some of the

ey concerns of the policy it is supposed to tackle: The ban reduces the

illingness-to-pay for housing of local residents due to the adverse effect

n local wages. The ban thus creates incentives for primary homeowners

o sell their properties to second home investors, whose willingness-to-

ay has not changed post-ban. Some primary residents may sell and

ove away, which would mean that the share of second home investors

elative to the total local population rises and the ‘ghost town’ problem

orsens. Some primary residents may sell their homes in the most desir-

ble micro-locations and purchase newly constructed primary dwellings

hat do not have a conversion option at the outskirts of the location, in

ffect creating a new separate market of ‘properties without a conversion

ption’ for primary residents. To the extent that existing primary homes

re clustered mainly in the center of municipalities and new primary

omes have to be built at the outskirts, this could reduce social cohe-

ion and may even increase sprawl – because a ban on second homes

oes not prevent construction of primary homes at the outskirts. 

. Data and descriptive statistics 

We combine housing data provided by the Swiss Real Estate Datapool

ssociation (SRED) with municipality-level data from various sources

iscussed below. 11 

.1. Data sources and variables 

.1.1. Housing transaction data 

The SRED collects and pools transaction data from various mortgage

enders – both private and cantonal banks. The SRED provided us data

n individual transaction prices and corresponding housing characteris-

ics for all of Switzerland and from 2000q1 to 2015q1. For each housing

nit, in addition to the transaction price, we know whether the buyer

ntends to use the unit as primary or secondary residence, the physi-

al characteristics of the unit (number of rooms, number of bathrooms,

umber of parking places, micro-location quality, housing unit quality,
11 We provide more detail on the sources and data in Web-Appendix D. 

4



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Table 1A 

Summary statistics – municipalities with share of second homes at or above 20%-threshold (treatment group). 

Variables (municipality level averages) 2010–2011 2013–2014 

Min Max Mean Sd Min Max Mean Sd 

Price of primary homes (1000 CHF) 100 3366.67 608.77 366.37 100 2396.67 592.07 312.74 

Unemployment rate (%) † 0.21 4.13 1.27 0.66 0.14 4.44 1.35 0.65 

Number of new residential units (1000) 0 0.15 0.01 0.02 0 0.20 0.02 0.03 

Nb. of elderly (1000) 0.01 4.60 0.36 0.48 0.01 4.88 0.42 0.53 

Resident population (1000) 0.03 24.89 1.87 2.58 0.07 26.09 2.03 2.73 

Wages (1000 CHF) 35.05 99.79 55.66 9.00 32.85 325.21 58.30 19.37 

Housing characteristics (primary homes) 

Number of rooms 2 10 4.25 1.19 1 9 4.09 1.18 

Number of bathrooms 1 4 1.85 0.47 1 4 1.79 0.52 

Number of parking places 0 2 0.61 0.50 0 2 0.58 0.50 

Micro-location (1 to 4, bad to excellent) 1 4 3.09 0.48 1 4 2.89 0.52 

Quality (standard of finishing) (1 to 4, bad to excellent) 1 4 2.73 0.67 1 4 2.52 0.64 

Condition (1 to 4, bad to excellent) 1 4 2.68 0.71 1 4 2.50 0.75 

Age of housing unit at time of transaction †† − 0.83 161 32.57 28.64 0 164 36.91 29.65 

Single-family house (yes/no) 0 1 0.49 0.40 0 1 0.50 0.41 

Number of transactions 1 121 7.12 12.85 1 148 6.25 12.46 

Fiscal variables 

Foreign residents (%) 0.00 61.18 15.90 10.26 1.79 60.75 17.14 10.25 

Mean net income (1000 CHF) 26.05 96.82 50.80 11.29 

Net income Gini index 0.38 0.71 0.49 0.07 

Other municipality characteristics (time-invariant or predetermined) 

Second home rate (%) 20.30 86.10 47.88 17.21 

Voting No (%) 26.20 88.90 60.99 12.47 

Unproductive surface (%) 0.00 95.00 22.73 22.27 

Distance to major city (km) 0 102.52 36.82 24.78 

Distance to major ski resort (km) 0 81.03 15.33 22.10 

Pct. of workers in the 3rd sector (%) 0.00 95.00 61.63 18.41 

Pct. of firms in the 3rd sector (%) 0.00 94.00 62.93 15.07 

Number of municipalities 276 255 

Note † Unemployment rates are expressed relative to total population. †† The age of the housing unit at time of transaction is defined as the year in which 

the transaction takes place minus the construction year. Since some dwellings are sold before being constructed, the variable can take negative values. 

Summary statistics for the price of 2nd homes are reported in the note of Table 3 . 

h  

u  

(

4

 

p  

A  

o  

u  

p  

s  

l  

e  

c  

S  

b

4

 

F  

e  

n  

l  

o  

r  

o  

o  

o  

m  

d  

F  

2

4

 

A  

i  

o  

o  

a  

a  

c  

n  

a

4

 

o  

l  

–  

m  

e  

t  

o  

v  

t  

n  

fi  

t  

m  

t  
ousing condition, construction year, and an indicator of whether the

nit is a single-family house or an apartment) and the unit’s location

municipal and cantonal identification codes). 

.1.2. Unemployment and wage data 

We use yearly data on unemployment at municipality level pre and

ost approval of the SHI provided by the State Secretariat for Economic

ffairs (SECO). 12 Our measure of local unemployment is the number

f unemployed individuals in a municipality divided by its total pop-

lation. We use total population as denominator rather than total em-

loyment, as the latter is not available at municipality level. As a con-

equence, our ‘unemployment rate’ measure is lower than that pub-

ished by official sources for more aggregate geographical levels. Av-

rage yearly wages of employees at the municipality level have been

omputed by merging the Population and Household Statistics of the

wiss Federal Statistical Office (FSO) with social-security data provided

y the Central Compensation Office (CCO). 

.1.3. Second home rates 

We obtained the municipality-level second home rate from the Swiss

ederal Office for Spatial Development (ARE). Using data from the Fed-

ral Register of Buildings and Dwellings of 2012, ARE computes the

umber of second homes per municipality as the total housing stock

ess the number of primary homes. Second home rates are thus fixed

ver the period of our analysis, although some municipalities – upon

equest – were allowed to revise their rates downwards. We use the sec-

nd home rates after revisions were taken into account to compute the

bserved treatment dummy, which equals one if a municipality’s sec-

nd home rate is greater or equal than 20%, and takes value zero if the

unicipality is below the 20% threshold or asked for a revision. Ad-

itionally, we use (‘historic’) second home rates provided by the 2000
12 Unemployment data by industry is not available at the municipality level. Page
ederal Population Census as an instrument for second home rates in

012. 

.1.4. Fiscal data 

Fiscal data at municipality level comes from the Swiss Federal Tax

dministration (FTA). In our analysis, we use the pre-policy municipal-

ty average net income after taxes, the municipality’s Gini index based

n the same underlying income measure, and the predetermined share

f foreign residents in the municipality represented by foreign individu-

ls paying local taxes. We note that predetermined values of these vari-

bles reflect not only the fiscal status of the municipality, but may also

apture a social amenity value: households may prefer to live in a mu-

icipality whose residents share a similar socio-economic background

s their own. 

.1.5. Other municipality characteristics 

The Federal Population Census provided by the FSO offers data

n the number of residents and its age structure at the municipality

evel from 2010. We use the number of local residents over 65 years

thus not working anymore according to the Swiss mandatory retire-

ent age – as an additional outcome variable to measure the amenity

ffect (we provide a rationale for this in Section 6.4 ). To proxy for

ime-invariant local natural amenities, we use the time-invariant share

f undevelopable land – including lakes, glaciers, and bedrock – pro-

ided by land use data sourced from the FSO. Geographical Informa-

ion System (GIS) data on the boundaries of administrative units at

ational, cantonal, and municipal level comes from the Federal Of-

ce of Topography (Swisstopo). GIS data allows us to compute the dis-

ance of each municipality from 15 major Swiss urban centers and 53

ajor ski resorts. These two measures capture how households value

he proximity to major labor markets and labor markets linked to the
 85



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Table 1B 

Summary statistics – municipalities with share of second homes below 20%-threshold (control group). 

VARIABLES (municipality level averages) 2010–2011 2013–2014 

Min Max Mean Sd Min Max Mean Sd 

Price of primary homes (1000 CHF) 120 3040 745.46 333.35 120 2880 805.33 332.31 

Unemployment rate (%) † 0.00 4.14 1.32 0.61 0.16 3.99 1.31 0.58 

Number of new residential units (1000) 0 1.75 0.03 0.07 0 0.66 0.03 0.05 

Nb. of elderly (1000) 0.01 62.45 0.77 2.37 0.01 62.23 0.84 2.42 

Resident population (1000) 0.13 374.92 4.54 13.69 0.11 388.07 4.80 14.24 

Wages (1000 CHF) 38.21 195.48 67.95 16.00 40.75 203.23 69.01 15.97 

Housing characteristics (primary homes) 

Number of rooms 2 12 4.85 0.84 2 11 4.74 0.88 

Number of bathrooms 1 4 2.05 0.43 1 4 2.03 0.44 

Number of parking places 0 3 0.87 0.52 0 3 0.82 0.52 

Micro-location (1 to 4, bad to excellent) 1 4 2.92 0.40 1 4 2.76 0.40 

Quality (standard of finishing) (1 to 4, bad to excellent) 1 4 2.96 0.54 1 4 2.85 0.55 

Condition (1 to 4, bad to excellent) 1 4 2.91 0.58 1 4 2.82 0.62 

Age of housing unit at time of transaction †† − 1 161 28.39 25.44 − 1 164 29.62 26.26 

Single-family house (yes/no) 0 1 0.61 0.32 0 1 0.59 0.34 

Number of transactions 1 798 14.94 33.85 1 855 13.23 32.17 

Fiscal variables 

Foreign residents (%) 0.62 51.67 16.09 9.40 0.24 55.09 17.48 9.62 

Mean net income (1000 CHF) 40.16 341.34 68.54 23.33 

Net income Gini index 0.31 0.81 0.44 0.06 

Other municipality characteristics (time-invariant or predetermined) 

Second home rate (%) 1.60 34.30 11.32 4.70 

Voting No (%) 28.70 84.20 50.38 7.12 

Unproductive surface (%) 0.00 86.70 2.90 6.36 

Distance to major city (km) 0 75.79 10.88 11.09 

Distance to major ski resort (km) 0 78.91 34.44 19.80 

Pct. of workers in the 3rd sector (%) 5.00 99.00 57.77 17.73 

Pct. of firms in the 3rd sector (%) 15.00 94.00 64.65 14.45 

Number of municipalities 1556 1524 

Note † Unemployment rates are expressed relative to total population. †† The age of the housing unit at time of transaction is defined as the year in 

which the transaction takes place minus the construction year. Since some dwellings are sold before being constructed, the variable can take negative 

values. Summary statistics for the price of 2nd homes are reported in the note of Table 3 . 

t  

l  

t  

S  

s  

t  

s

4

 

t  

(  

d  

t  

s  

n  

a  

s  

p

 

c  

h  

b  

w  

c  

a  

p  

p

 

b  

p

a  

p  

r  

t  

p  

g  

o  

g  

t  

i  

b

 

t  

o  

p  

p  

t  

c

 

1  

b  

a  

f  

q

 

l  

–  

p  

t  

a  
ourist industry in high natural amenity places, respectively. We col-

ected data from the FSO on the number of workers and firms active in

he service sector as measured in 2011. From the Housing Construction

tatistic published by the FSO we collected the number of newly con-

tructed residences from 2008 to 2014. This latter variable allows us

o investigate the impact of the SHI on the local residential real estate

ector. 

.2. Descriptive statistics of control and treated municipalities 

For the purpose of our regression analysis, we aggregate the data at

he municipality level and compute two-year averages for the pre-ban

2010–2011) and the post-ban (2013–2014) period. We consider an ad-

itional pre-period (2008–2009) to include lagged controls. Computing

wo-year averages allows us to increase the number of transactions ob-

erved in a given municipality and to include a greater number of mu-

icipalities in our sample. In our less restrictive specifications we retain

pproximately 60% of all Swiss municipalities. 13 We provide summary

tatistics in Tables 1A (treatment group) and 1B (control group) for the

re (2010–2011) and post (2013–2014) SHI-approval periods. 

Because there was great uncertainty concerning the practical appli-

ation of the initiative until August 2012, individuals may or may not

ave anticipated its effects during this year despite the ordinance not

eing in force, making its evaluation difficult. In our empirical analysis,

e thus drop 2012 observations from our sample. Finally, in order to

ompare only primary homes that possess a conversion option before

nd after the SHI-approval (i.e., to compare ‘like with like’), we drop

rimary residences built after 2012 from our sample when investigating

rimary house price dynamics. 

A comparison of Tables 1A and 1B reveals that the threshold imposed

y the initiative broadly divides mountainous locations (treatment) from
13 We excluded new municipalities that were created from mergers of existing munici- 

alities during the post-ban period from our analysis. 

i  

Page 8
reas with major urban centers (control). Below the threshold, munici-

alities are nearer to major urban centers and more distant to major ski

esorts. Control municipalities thus have – on average – a larger popula-

ion, more newly constructed housing units, and higher wages. Elderly

eople are more prone to live in municipalities belonging to the control

roup, likely due to better access to healthcare services. The percentage

f individuals and firms active in the service sector is similar for the two

roups, suggesting that local economies in treated places mostly rely on

ourism and that agriculture may only play a marginal role. Interest-

ngly, we do not observe any marked difference in unemployment rates

etween treatment and control municipalities. 

Fig. 2 illustrates the geographic distribution of treated municipali-

ies: most of them are situated in or near the Alps, further supporting

ur claim that for these municipalities the tourist industry is the main

illar of their local economies, consistent with our model. Given this

roximity to the Alps, treated municipalities have more natural ameni-

ies, as measured by the share of unproductive surface, compared to the

ontrol group. 

Focusing next on the housing stock and house prices, Tables 1A and

B reveal that treated municipalities have lower average house prices,

oth before and after the approval of the initiative. House prices

re lower in treated municipalities in part because they are further

rom major urban areas, but in part also because of lower housing

uality. 

Fig. 3 depicts pre-trends of our three main outcome variables – the

og price of primary and second homes and local unemployment rates

providing visual support for the common trend hypothesis. We com-

ute bi-annual averages of the three measures pre and post approval of

he SHI, consistent with the bi-annual averages we use in our empirical-

nalysis (outlined below). While all three outcome variables display sim-

lar pre-trends, consistent with our theoretical priors, post acceptance
6



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Fig. 2. Treatment and control group. 

Fig. 3. Parallel trend graphs for main outcome measures. 

o  

s  

p

 

t  

a  

t  

s  

s  

h  

C  

o  
f the SHI the trends of the treatment and control group go in oppo-

ite directions. In Section 6 , we test more formally for differences in the

re-trends of the main outcome variables. 

Two remaining points are worth noting. First, as illustrated in Fig. 4 ,

he SHI did not noticeably affect the pattern of primary housing trans-

ctions with respect to second home rates: primary homes are mainly
Page
ransacted in and nearby major urban centers, which typically possess

econd home rates between 10% and 15%. Similarly, very little of the

econd home demand from the above-20%-municipalities appears to

ave shifted to control municipalities just below the 20% threshold.

onsistent with this, Tables 1A and 1B show that the average number

f transacted primary homes has not been significantly affected by the
 87



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Fig. 4. Histogram of transacted primary and second homes according to second home percentage. 

p  

S  

s

5

 

i  

F  

a  

m

 

o  

a  

o  

d

l  

w  

i  

d  

o  

m  

i

t

o  

t  

u

 

i  

a  

t  

p  

l

Δ  

w  

l  

d  

o

 

v  

p

𝐷  

w  

i  
olicy in treated municipalities. Second, the threshold imposed by the

HI is situated at the tail of the second home rate distribution, making

ample restrictions around the threshold extremely challenging. 14 

. Empirical research design 

Let 𝑦 𝑖 10−11 and 𝑦 𝑖 13−14 denote the outcome variable in municipality i

n 2010–2011 (pre-period) and 2013–2014 (post-period), respectively.

ocusing on the two years directly following the approval of the SHI

llows us to empirically identify theoretical mechanisms of the ban that

ight disappear in the longer run. 15 

To empirically test our model predictions, we consider three main

utcome variables: the local price of primary and second homes as well

s the local unemployment rate (in Section 6.4 we investigate additional

utcome measures). We start by estimating the following two-period

ifference-in-differences (DD) model: 

n ( 𝑦 𝑖𝑡 ) = 𝛼 + 𝛾𝐷 𝑖 + 𝜏𝑑 𝑡 + 𝛿 𝑑 𝑡 ×𝐷 𝑖 + 𝜷1 𝒙 𝑖𝑡 −1 + 𝜷2 𝒄 𝑖 + 𝑢 𝑖𝑡 , (9)

here D i represents the observed treatment assignment defined accord-

ng to the second home rate sr i (after revisions were taken into account),

 t is a time dummy equal to 1 for post-initiative observations and zero

therwise, 𝒙 𝑖𝑡 −1 is a vector of pre-determined covariates including infor-

ation on local housing markets and fiscal variables, and c is a vector
i 

14 See Web-Appendix Figure W-B1 for an illustration of this point. 
15 For example, one might expect the positive impact of the SHI on unemployment rates 

n treated areas to decrease over time, as local residents may move to non-treated regions 

o access better employment opportunities. 

h

m  

b  

e

 

𝐸  

Page 8
f time-invariant variables that captures locational and geographic fea-

ures of the municipality, including canton fixed effects. The variable

 it is a stochastic error term. 

Unbiased estimation of the coefficient of interest 𝛿 is obtained

f 𝐸( 𝑢 𝑖𝑡 |𝑠 𝑟 𝑖 ) = 0 . Two main sources of endogeneity may invalidate this

ssumption in our setting, namely omitted variable bias and out-of-

reatment selection. To partially address the former, in a first step we

artial out unobserved municipality heterogeneity by estimating the fol-

owing first-difference (FD) model: 

ln ( 𝑦 𝑖 13−14 ) = 𝜏 + 𝛿𝐷 𝑖 + 𝜷1 Δ𝒙 𝑖 10−11 + Δ𝑢 𝑖 13−14 , (10)

here the outcome variable is given by Δln ( y 𝑖 13−14 ) = ln ( 𝑦 𝑖 13−14 ) −
n ( 𝑦 𝑖 10−11 ) , the term Δ𝒙 𝑖 10−11 = 𝒙 𝑖 10−11 − 𝒙 𝑖 08−09 captures pre-determined

ynamics, and Δ𝑢 𝑖 13−14 = 𝑢 𝑖 13−14 − 𝑢 𝑖 10−11 denotes contemporaneous un-

bserved dynamics. 

To address the latter, in a second step we rely on an instrumental

ariable (IV) approach and estimate model (10) by 2SLS (FD-IV). More

recisely, we instrument the observed treatment assignment as 

 𝑖 = 𝛾0 + 𝜋𝑧 𝑖 00 + 𝜸1 Δ𝒙 𝑖 10−11 + v 𝑖 , (11)

here the instrument z i 00 is given by the second home rate as measured

n the 2000 Federal Population Census. This ‘historic’ measure of second

ome rates is strongly correlated with the observed treatment dummy –

aking it a relevant instrument – and could not have been manipulated

y municipalities according to the treatment assignment, thus removing

ndogeneity issues linked to out-of-treatment selection. 

The 2SLS estimate of the treatment effect is thus consistent if

( Δ𝑢 𝑖 13−14 |𝑧 𝑖 00 ) = 0 and if the instrument affects outcome variables only
8



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Table 2 

Impact of SHI on price growth of primary homes and unemployment rates: FD-IV estimates. 

Panel A: Pre and post - Second stage 

Dependent variable ∆ Log price of primary homes ∆ Log unemployment rate 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Observed treatment − 0.152 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.147 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.190 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.121 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.118 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.111 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0461) (0.0448) (0.0443) (0.0252) (0.0257) (0.0254) 

Lagged difference of controls No Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

Predetermined outcome level No No Yes No No Yes 

Observations 1406 1406 1406 1406 1406 1406 

Kleibergen-Paap F 1623 1619 1632 1623 1619 1620 

First stage 

Dependent variable Observed treatment 

2.066 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.068 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.043 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.066 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.068 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.067 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0513) (0.0514) (0.0506) (0.0513) (0.0514) (0.0513) 

Panel B: Parallel pre-trend (placebo test) - Second stage 

Dependent variable ∆ Log price of primary homes ∆ Log unemployment rate 

Observed treatment 0.0272 0.0118 − 0.0288 − 0.0189 − 0.0249 − 0.0253 

(0.0346) (0.0319) (0.0313) (0.0213) (0.0219) (0.0219) 

Parallel pre-trend (placebo test) - second stage 

Dependent variable Observed treatment 

2.048 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.061 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.039 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.048 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.061 ∗ ∗ ∗ 2.061 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0478) (0.0477) (0.0478) (0.0478) (0.0477) (0.0477) 

Lagged difference of controls No Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

Predetermined outcome level No No Yes No No Yes 

Observations 1462 1462 1462 1462 1462 1462 

Kleibergen-Paap F 1840 1869 1818 1840 1869 1867 

Notes: Heteroscedastic-robust standard errors are reported in parentheses ( ∗ ∗ ∗ p < 0.01, ∗ ∗ p < 0.05, ∗ p < 0.1). Each numbered column describes the impact of the SHI 

on a given outcome variable for a given set of controls. Municipalities that have missing values for a given set of controls are excluded from all specifications. In 

Panel A, the two-period analysis is carried out by dividing the data into pre (2010–2011) and post (2013–2014) approval of the SHI. We consider an additional pre 

period (2008–2009) to include the lagged difference of controls. In Panel B, the two-period analysis is carried out by dividing the data into pre (2008–2009) and post 

(2010–2011) periods. We consider an additional pre period (2006–2007) to include the lagged difference of controls. Data is aggregated at the municipality level 

by computing two-year averages for these periods. The sample includes municipalities for which housing transactions were available pre and post implementation 

of the SHI. Houses built after 2012 are excluded. The observed treatment dummy is instrumented using second home rates as measured by the Federal Population 

Census in 2000. In Panel B, we do not control for lagged changes in foreign residents and new construction in columns 2–3 and 5–6 due to lack of available data. 

t  

fi  

o  

e  

m  

u  

f  

r

 

o  

d  

F  

a  

m  

o  

t  

h  

T  

c

 

a  

t  

e  

n  

a  

l  

W  

r  

b  

b  

b  

t  

t  

t  

e  

m  

m  

c  

e

6

6

u

 

E

16 We combine a sample restriction based on second home rates with CBD exclusion 

because some major urban areas in the control group – such as Geneva and Bern – have 

second home rates in the narrow band of 15% − 20% below the threshold set by the SHI. 
17 We report heteroscedasticity-robust standard errors. Clustering standard errors by 

cantons – which are the “most aggregate ” institutional entities in Switzerland – does not 

alter the statistical significance of our main results. See Web-Appendix Table W-E1. How- 
hrough the first-stage Eq. (11) . These two conditions may not be satis-

ed if the instrument captures permanent differences in the unobserved

utcome dynamics between the control and treatment group after the

ffect of other control variables has been partialled out. In fact, we

ight worry that short-term outcome dynamics of major CBDs and sub-

rban areas (which usually have low historical second home rates) dif-

er from those of tourist areas (which have high historic second home

ates). 

To partially solve this problem, we examine the robustness of

ur treatment estimates when we include the natural log of the pre-

etermined outcome variable 𝑦 𝑖 10−11 among our controls in the FD and

D-IV models ( 𝑑 𝑡 ⋅ ln ( 𝑦 𝑖 10−11 ) in the case of the DD model). This variable

llows us to control for pre-policy differences in outcome levels , likely

aking the direct effect of ‘historic’ second home rates on short-term

utcome dynamics irrelevant. For example, municipalities with high ini-

ial levels of house prices or unemployment rates – such as CBDs – might

ave outcome dynamics that differ from those with low initial levels.

his approach also allows us to control for mean reversion in the out-

ome variables. 

We further investigate the robustness of our FD-IV estimates by bal-

ncing treatment and control group. Specifically, we drop municipali-

ies near major CBDs and highly touristic places from our sample. We

mploy two strategies. The first relies on directly excluding those mu-

icipalities situated within a 10 km radius from major CBDs and those

djacent to a major ski resort. The second follows Greenstone and Gal-

agher (2008) and is akin to a fuzzy regression discontinuity design:

e drop municipalities within a 10 km radius from major CBDs while

e

Page
estricting the sample to municipalities that have a second home rate

etween 15 and 30%. 16 To the extent that dynamic unobservables are

alanced in our restricted samples – Altonji et al. (2005) suggest that

alancing according to observed covariates may indeed reduce omit-

ed variable bias – the two approaches provide consistent estimates of

he treatment effect, even when the instrument is not exogenous for

he whole sample, i.e. even when 𝐸( Δ𝑢 𝑖 13−14 |𝑧 𝑖 00 ) ≠ 0 . Additionally, the

xclusion restriction is likely satisfied for the restricted samples, as per-

anent differences between control and treatment group have been re-

oved. The two approaches are data demanding – the sample size is

onsiderably reduced – which translates into a higher variance of the

stimated treatment effect. 

. Results 

.1. Main results: impact of ban on price of primary homes and local 

nemployment 

In Panel A of Table 2 we report treatment effects estimates of

q. (10) using the FD-IV approach outlined in the previous section. 17 
ver, standard errors may not be reliable due to the small number of clusters. 

 89



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

T  

o  

4  

t  

d  

o  

i  

m

 

n  

h  

b  

i  

l  

t  

c  

p  

p  

i

 

e  

c  

s  

t  

m  

h

 

n  

s  

K  

s  

m

 

p  

o  

y  

a  

P  

i  

r

 

t  

r  

m  

i  

h  

e  

t

6

 

t  

a  

t  

l  

t  

S

e

t

a

p

f

Table 3 

Impact of SHI on price growth of second homes: DD estimates. 

Panel A: Pre and post 

Dependent variable Log price of second homes 

(1) (2) (3) 

Observed treatment × Post 0.259 0.256 ∗ 0.252 ∗ 

(0.184) (0.146) (0.146) 

Observed treatment Yes Yes Yes 

Time fixed effects Yes Yes Yes 

Lagged and time-invariant controls No Yes Yes 

Predetermined outcome level × Post No No Yes 

Observations 323 323 323 

R-squared 0.015 0.562 0.562 

Panel B: Parallel pre-trend (placebo test) 

Observed treatment × Post − 0.0498 − 0.121 − 0.157 

(0.200) (0.160) (0.159) 

Observed treatment Yes Yes Yes 

Time fixed effects Yes Yes Yes 

Lagged and time invariant controls No Yes Yes 

Predetermined outcome level × Post No No Yes 

Observations 324 324 324 

R-squared 0.004 0.557 0.570 

Notes: Heteroscedastic-robust standard errors are reported in parentheses 

( ∗ ∗ ∗ p < 0.01, ∗ ∗ p < 0.05, ∗ p < 0.1). The two-period analysis is structured sim- 

ilarly to the one of Table 2 . In Panel A, data available for all municipalities 

has been pooled for the pre (2010–2011) and post (2013–2014) periods. 

We consider an additional pre period (2008–2009) to include lagged con- 

trols. In Panel B, the two-period analysis is carried out by dividing the data 

into pre (2008–2009) and post (2010–2011) periods. We consider an addi- 

tional pre period (2006–2007) to include the lagged difference of controls. 

The average price of second homes in the full sample was about 597 ′ 000 

CHF in 2010–2011 and 638 ′ 000 CHF in 2013–2014 in not treated munic- 

ipalities. In these municipalities, the average number of transactions was 

2.26 (2010–2011) and 1.54 (2013–2014), respectively. In treated munic- 

ipalities, the average price was about 630 ′ 000 (2010–2011) and 647 ′ 000 

(2013–2014), with an average number of transactions equal to 7.5 (2010–

2011) and 7.38 (2013–2014), respectively. Full summary statistics for all 

variables (including controls) are available from the authors upon request. 

F  

g  

t  

o  

s  

h  

n  

o  

O  

s

 

p  

n  

h  

u  

t  

t  
o test the predictions of our theoretical model, we consider the price

f primary homes (columns 1–3) and unemployment rates 18 (columns

–6). For each of these two outcome variables, we progressively increase

he set of controls. The FD-IV approach allows us to partially address en-

ogeneity concerns related to potential omitted variable bias and out-

f-treatment selection. This is our preferred approach to evaluate the

mpact of the SHI on local residents and its estimates are used as bench-

ark in subsequent robustness checks. 

The FD-IV estimates suggest, consistent with Proposition 1 , a strong

egative impact of the second home ban on the price growth of primary

omes: on average, the SHI lowered the price growth of primary homes

y about 15% (preferred estimate reported in column (2) ). To give an

dea of the magnitude of this effect in levels, this equates to about 12%

ower house prices over a 20 year horizon. 19 The estimated average

reatment effect is highly significant, independent of the set of included

ontrols. The stability of the treatment estimates to the inclusion of the

re-determined outcome level suggests that pre-policy differences in the

rice of primary homes do not strongly affect post-policy price dynam-

cs. 

Table 2 (columns 4–6) further reveals that the SHI increased the un-

mployment growth rate by about 12% in the treated compared to the

ontrol areas (preferred specification reported in column (5) ). The re-

ults are strongly statistically significant and remain extremely stable to

he inclusion of additional controls, as in the case of the price of pri-

ary homes. Remarkably, pre-existing patterns of the outcome variable

ardly affect the magnitude of the treatment estimates. 

First stage coefficients of our instrument have the expected sign, de-

oting a strong and highly significant relationship between ‘historic’

econd home rates and those measured more than a decade later. The

leibergen–Paap F statistics are extremely high for all specifications,

uggesting that weak identification is not a problem in any of the esti-

ated specifications. 

To verify that no treatment effect was present before the policy im-

lementation, we conduct a (placebo-)pre-trend analysis for the peri-

ds immediately pre-dating the SHI approval. Specifically, we use the

ears 2006–2007 and 2008–2009 as pre-policy periods, and 2010–2011

s post-policy period. We report the corresponding estimation results in

anel B of Table 2 . The (placebo-)treatment effect is statistically insignif-

cant and close to zero for both primary home prices and unemployment

ates. First-stage results are unchanged. 

The fact that pre-ban outcome dynamics are not different, adds fur-

her credibility to our main FD-IV estimates, as ‘historic’ second home

ates do not appear to capture permanent differences between treat-

ent and control group through the first-stage equation. Put differently,

f ‘historic’ second home rates were simply dividing major CBDs from

ighly touristic places through the treatment assignment, and these ar-

as have permanently different outcome dynamics, then the pre-ban

reatment effect should be significant. This, however, is not the case. 

.2. Main results: impact of ban on price of second homes 

Another pertinent question is whether the SHI positively affected

he price growth of second homes ( Proposition 2 ). Only a small percent-

ge of second homes are traded below the threshold set by the SHI and

hese are traded only in a small number of control municipalities. This

ack of data makes estimating the treatment effect on second homes ex-

remely challenging. In particular, we cannot reliably estimate FD and
18 We report wage results, as well as results for other outcome variables, separately in 

ection 6.4 . We motivate our focus on unemployment rates to capture the negative local 

conomy effect with the fact that in Switzerland wages are extremely sticky downwards. 
19 House prices grew roughly 4% annually during the 10 years preceding the SHI. Using 

his number as a benchmark, our preferred estimate implies that post SHI-approval and as 

 direct consequence of the ban, going forward primary house prices grew 0.6% percentage 

oints less annually. This equates to around 12% lower primary house prices in 20 years 

rom the approval, compared to the counterfactual scenario without a ban. 

h  

v  

c

 

m  

d

t  

p  

a  

Page 9
D-IV models because very few municipalities are present in the control

roup in these samples. 20 These caveats aside, in an attempt to never-

heless shed some light on the impact of the SHI on the price growth

f second homes, we estimate a DD model as in Eq. (9) , but to increase

ample size, we do not restrict the sample to municipalities for which

ousing transactions were observed both before and after the SHI ordi-

ance came into force. We report results in Table 3 (Panel A). The sign

f the treatment effect is positive and fairly stable across specifications.

nce controls are included in the model, the effect becomes statistically

ignificant, although only weakly so. 

This finding is consistent with our theoretical model that assumes

oor substitutability between primary and second homes. This should

ot be too surprising in the case of Switzerland’s tourist areas. Second

omes are usually located where access to ski resorts is easiest, are built

sing specific materials – wood-built chalets – and usually lack some of

he comforts of primary residences, such as access to broadband connec-

ion and covered parking garages. Additionally, it may be that primary

omes that were good substitutes for second homes were already con-

erted into second homes in the past, leaving only properties without

onversion potential in the stock of primary residences. 

Another possible explanation is that post SHI-implementation, pri-

ary residences that retained a conversion option systematically

ropped out from our sample – as they were sold as second homes –

hus causing a selection bias. This seems unlikely for two reasons. First,

rimary homes built before 2012 do retain a conversion option. If they

re systematically sold as second homes, it means that potential primary
0



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

Table 4 

Summary of alternative identification strategies and robustness checks. 

Dependent variable ∆ Log price of primary homes ∆ Log unemployment rate 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Panel A: Standard strategies (non-IV) 

DD estimates − 0.142 ∗ ∗ − 0.152 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.119 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0787 0.0823 ∗ 0.0969 ∗ ∗ 

(0.0571) (0.0450) (0.0456) (0.0602) (0.0428) (0.0396) 

FD estimates − 0.142 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.140 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.191 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0787 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0757 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0651 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0386) (0.0376) (0.0365) (0.0231) (0.0236) (0.0230) 

Panel B: Alternative FD-IV estimates, 2nd stage only 

Restricted Sample 1 a) − 0.172 ∗ ∗ − 0.195 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.237 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0962 ∗ 0.0931 ∗ 0.105 ∗ 

(0.0734) (0.0703) (0.0661) (0.0568) (0.0546) (0.0563) 

Restricted Sample 2 b) − 0.561 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.370 ∗ ∗ − 0.353 ∗ ∗ 0.243 ∗ 0.292 ∗ ∗ 0.252 ∗ ∗ 

(0.169) (0.149) (0.149) (0.125) (0.116) (0.105) 

Excluding close to 

treated (within 5 km) 

− 0.148 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.142 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.191 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.113 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.112 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.105 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0459) (0.0441) (0.0441) (0.0250) (0.0251) (0.0248) 

Including primary homes built 

after 2012 

− 0.135 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.130 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.180 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0441) (0.0430) (0.0426) 

Lagged diff. of controls c) No Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

Predeterm. outcome level c) No No Yes No Yes Yes 

Notes: Heteroscedastic-robust standard errors are reported in parentheses ( ∗ ∗ ∗ p < 0.01, ∗ ∗ p < 0.05, ∗ p < 0.1). Web-Appendix Tables W-E2, W-E3 and W-E5 to W-E8 

provide detailed estimation results. Web-Appendix Table W-E4 reports balancing tests for the two restricted samples (Tables W-E5 and W-E6). The two-period analysis 

is carried out by dividing the data into pre (2010–2011) and post (2013–2014) approval of the SHI. We consider an additional pre period (2008–2009) to include 

the lagged difference of controls. Data is aggregated at the municipality level by computing two-year averages for these periods. The observed treatment dummy 

is instrumented using second home rates as measured by the Federal Population Census in 2000. a) We exclude municipalities situated within a 10 km radius from 

major CBDs and/or are adjacent to a major ski resort. b) We exclude municipalities within a 10 km radius from major CBDs and/or having a second home rate below 

15% or above 30%. c) For DD estimates the corresponding set of controls are FEs and lagged controls. 

r  

a  

o  

n  

m

 

r  

m  

e  

a

6

 

f  

u  

A  

e  

F  

a  

u  

m  

f  

p  

t  

l

p

o

o

t

r

w

W

a

 

T  

m  

g  

d  

t  

m  

a  

d  

a  

e  

h  

2

 

i  

s  

e  

1  

r  

f  

m  

B  

n  

w  

n  
esidents prefer to buy properties that do not have a conversion option,

n unlikely case. Second, if primary residences that have a conversion

ption are systematically converted post policy, we should observe a sig-

ificant drop in the number of transacted primary residences in treated

unicipalities, and this did not happen (see Fig. 4 ). 21 

As in the case of the price of primary homes and unemployment

ates, we also conduct a (placebo-)pre-trend analysis for the periods im-

ediately pre-dating the SHI approval. Panel B of Table 3 shows that the

stimated (placebo-)treatment effect is statistically insignificant across

ll specifications. 

.3. Results for alternative identification strategies and robustness checks 

Table 4 summarizes the results for alternative strategies of identi-

ying the impact of the SHI on the price of primary homes and local

nemployment as well as some additional robustness checks. 22 In Panel

 of Table 4 we replicate our main specifications from Table 2 , but

mploy a standard DD and FD estimator, respectively, instead of our

D-IV approach. The estimated effects for the price of primary homes

re virtually identical to our main specifications. The estimates for local

nemployment rates are qualitatively similar, but somewhat smaller in

agnitude and statistically less significant. The fact that the FD results

or the price of primary homes are quite similar to our main results, re-

orted in Table 2 , implies that municipalities may not have made use of

he option to revise their second home rate endogenously according to

ocal housing market conditions. 
20 Even in the less restrictive FD specification, estimates become erratic when including 

redetermined controls. 
21 Municipalities had to ascertain that the conversion of primary residences into sec- 

ndary ones was not driven purely by speculative motives. For example, primary home- 

wners were not allowed to convert their residence and directly build/buy a new one in 

he same (or nearby) municipality. 
22 The Web-Appendix Tables W-E2, W-E3 and W-E5 to W-E8 provide detailed estimation 

esults. Additionally, in Web-Appendix F we report further robustness checks and results, 

hich include investigating the parallel trend assumption over older time-periods (Tables 

-F1 to W-F3), controlling for second home rate polynomials (Tables W-F4 and W-F5), 

nd the estimation of heterogeneous treatment effects (Table W-F6). 

v

 

i  

a  

a

s

o

G

b

Page
Panel B of Table 4 reports results for a number of additional checks.

o begin with, one concern with our FD-IV estimates is that they

ight be affected by intrinsic differences between treatment and control

roup. To the extent that our “historic ” instrument captures persistent

ifferences between the two groups – which in turn correlate with short-

erm dynamics – treatment effect estimates may not be consistent. To

itigate this concern, we balance observed covariates in the treatment

nd control group. We use two alternative sample restrictions. The first

rops municipalities situated within a 10 km radius from major CBDs

nd/or adjacent to a major ski resort (Restricted Sample 1). The second

xcludes municipalities within a 10 km radius from major CBDs and/or

aving a second home rate below 15 or above 30% (Restricted Sample

). 23 

Dropping major CBDs and highly touristic places makes the negative

mpact of the initiative on the price growth of primary homes somewhat

tronger, with estimates ranging from 17 to 24%. The impact on un-

mployment growth becomes slightly less pronounced (between 9 and

0% increase compared to around 12% in our preferred specification

eported in column (5) of Table 2 ). The even stricter sample restriction

urther amplifies the negative effect of the ban on the price growth of pri-

ary homes and the positive effect on the unemployment growth rate.

oth effects are highly statistically significant. We interpret the mag-

itude of the estimated effects in the most stringent sample restriction

ith due caution, however, as the sample size – and in particular the

umber of municipalities belonging to the treatment group – becomes

ery low, thus considerably increasing the variance of our estimates. 

To further verify the robustness of our estimates to potential sort-

ng effects, we estimate the FD-IV model for the price of primary homes

nd the local unemployment rate when we use as control group mu-
23 Web-Appendix Table W-E4 shows that these two sample restrictions balance treatment 

nd control group. Of course, balancing observable covariates does not ensure that unob- 

ervable ones are balanced, however, it likely reduces considerably the bias coming from 

mitted variables ( Altonji et al. 2005 ). Additionally, as pointed out by Greenstone and 

allagher (2008) , balancing covariates renders the (linear) functional-form assumption 

etween an outcome variable and the covariates irrelevant. 

 91



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

n  

o  

t  

t  

i  

p  

b  

t  

e  

i  

T

 

t  

o  

l  

t  

t  

h  

i  

t

 

l  

v  

g  

l  

m  

(  

h  

e  

a  

A  

n

 

b  

p  

T  

‘  

a  

s  

e  

(  

d  

r  

T  

q

6

 

o  

t

F

i

o

f

r

n

s

p

w

e

s

v

r

Table 5 

Impact of SHI on other outcome measures (FD-IV estimates, 2nd stage only). 

Dependent variable (1) (2) (3) 

∆ Log newly built residential units − 0.187 ∗ − 0.197 ∗ − 0.231 ∗ ∗ 

(0.107) (0.107) (0.101) 

∆ Log of number of elderly 0.00246 0.00322 − 0.00205 

(0.00839) (0.00840) (0.00849) 

∆ Log of population − 0.00911 − 0.00797 − 0.00932 

(0.00654) (0.00650) (0.00669) 

∆ Log of wages 0.0124 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0137 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.00612 

(0.00380) (0.00380) (0.00419) 

Lagged difference of controls No Yes Yes 

Predetermined outcome level No No Yes 

Notes: Heteroscedastic-robust standard errors are reported in parentheses 

( ∗ ∗ ∗ p < 0.01, ∗ ∗ p < 0.05, ∗ p < 0.1). Web-Appendix Tables W-E9 to W-E12 pro- 

vide detailed estimation results. The two-period analysis is carried out by 

dividing the data into pre (2010–2011) and post (2013–2014) approval of 

the SHI. We consider an additional pre period (2008–2009) to include the 

lagged difference of controls. Data is aggregated at the municipality level 

by computing two-year averages for these periods. The observed treatment 

dummy is instrumented using second home rates as measured by the Federal 

Population Census in 2000. 

n  

a

 

t  

i  

m  

b  

s  

t  

(  

l  

o  

n

 

t  

b  

m  

e  

T  

h  

f  

n  

p  

a  

c  
icipalities situated more than 5 km away from the nearest treated

nes (see Fig. 2 for a visual representation of dropped municipali-

ies). Excluding municipalities near treated ones allows us to exclude

hose places where households and investors are most likely to sort

nto, according to the incentives created by the initiative. For exam-

le, households may move to the nearest municipality not affected

y the ban to find a job. Similarly, second home investors may shift

heir housing demand to those non-restricted municipalities in clos-

st proximity to major natural amenities. Reassuringly, the estimated

mpacts are virtually identical to our baseline estimates reported in

able 2. 24 

We explain the absence of sorting of households across municipali-

ies as follows. First, as argued by Glaeser and Gottlieb (2009) , sorting

f individuals in response to economic incentives is likely to occur in the

ong-run. As our analysis takes place right after the implementation of

he SHI ordinance, sorting mechanisms may simply not have had enough

ime yet to materialize. Second, local residents may not consider second

ome investors a disamenity, which would eliminate any localized pos-

tive effect of the ban. The voting results in Appendix Table A1 support

his view. 25 

Third, the SHI reinforced the price differential of primary residences

ocated in control and treated municipalities. This implies lower asset

alues for primary homeowners in treated locations post-ban and sug-

ests that they may no longer have had sufficient wealth to buy a simi-

ar property in a control-location. 26 Fourth, the entire second home de-

and in municipalities that did not exceed the threshold is very small

less than 0.5% of the total transactions of primary residences), thus

ardly affecting local price growth of primary homes in non-treated ar-

as. Fifth, investors may value the close proximity to amenities – such

s ski resorts – and would rather invest in a neighboring country (e.g.

ustria or France) than losing the benefit of this proximity (i.e., even

earby municipalities may not be sufficiently close substitutes). 

The final row in Panel B of Table 4 reports results for the effect of the

an on the price growth of primary homes using a sample that includes

rimary homes built after 2012. In our main specifications, reported in

able 2 , we dropped these observations because our aim is to compare

like with like’ housing units pre and post ban (and primary homes built

fter 2012, in contrast to those built earlier, no longer possess a conver-

ion option). Including primary homes built after the ban, allows us to

stimate the ‘total’ effect of the ban – the sum of a compositional effect

properties without a conversion option may be traded post ban) and a

irect effect (i.e., the effect we are primarily interested in). The results

eveal that the ‘total’ effect is similar to our main results reported in

able 2 , suggesting that the compositional effect may not be important

uantitatively. 

.4. Impact of ban on other outcomes 

In Table 5 we report the FD-IV estimates of the impact of the SHI

n several additional outcome variables: new residential construction,
24 The choice of a 5 km distance band is arbitrary. In a further robustness check, we 

hus vary the distance band continuously to document that the estimated effects of our 

D-IV specifications are robust to the choice of the distance. The results are illustrated 

n Web-Appendix Figure W-B2. The estimates are extremely stable over a wide range 

f distance bands used to exclude the nearest-to-treated control municipalities, providing 

urther evidence that the potential spatial sorting of individuals across municipalities is not 

elevant in our setup. These results suggest that the demand of second home investors may 

ot have shifted from treated- to control-municipalities post-SHI but, instead, the fixed 

hares of income that ‘marginal’ investors spent for second homes and tourism services 

re-SHI may have shifted to a reservation locale outside Switzerland post-SHI, consistent 

ith our theoretical framework. 
25 The voting results are indicative that the SHI was approved at least in part for social 

nvy reasons of primary residents in non-affected (largely urban) areas, although land- 

cape preservation-considerations might also have played a role to swing the decision of 

oters in these areas. 
26 The scenario in which homeowners sell their properties to become renters in non- 

estricted municipalities seems highly unlikely. 

a  

s  

i  

t  

r  

t  

o  

t  

e

 

i  

m  

o  

t  

m  

t

Page 9
umber of elderly, population size and wages (all measures are in logs

nd first differenced). 27 

First, we explore the impact of the ban on residential construction in

he treated municipalities. As expected, the impact on new construction

s negative and statistically significant. The effect is also economically

eaningful, with the ban reducing residential construction growth by

etween 19 and 23 percent, depending on the specification. This is de-

pite the fact that several residential projects were approved prior to

he SHI and therefore had permission to go ahead during the post-period

2013–2014). To the extent that the local construction industry employs

ocal residents and is more strongly adversely affected in the longer run,

ur unemployment results thus provide a conservative estimate of the

egative impact of the ban on local economies. 28 

Our second outcome measure is the number of elderly. We focus on

he elderly, as their mobility decisions can be expected to be affected

y local amenities in the treated areas rather than by the local labor

arket conditions. If the SHI had a positive amenity effect, we would

xpect more elderly to move to the treated locations, all else equal.

able 5 reveals however that the impact of the SHI on the sorting be-

avior of elderly remains insignificant and close to zero. This may be

or two reasons. First, sorting of the elderly likely depends on factors

ot measured by our controls, such as family ties (making relocation

articularly costly) and access to healthcare services. Second, a positive

menity effect may not materialize for a few years to come. This is be-

ause the ban did not apply to already approved second home projects

nd construction of these projects takes time. However, if the ban on

econd homes was indeed perceived to positively affect the landscape

n the medium and longer run, one would expect that the elderly move

o the treated areas in anticipation of this effect and that this should be

eflected in higher house prices, all else equal, at least partially offset-

ing the negative economy effect. Given that our overall effect of the SHI

n the price of primary homes is negative is thus indicative that, locally,

he negative economy effect outweighs any potential positive amenity

ffects. 

Our findings so far are indicative that sorting may not be of primary

mportance in our empirical setting. In a next step, we test more for-

ally whether sorting of households occurred, by estimating the effect

f the SHI on the growth of the resident population. The coefficient of

he treatment dummy is statistically insignificant and close to zero in

agnitude in all specifications, providing further support for the view

hat there was no noticeable sorting in response to the SHI. 
2



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

 

p  

e  

m  

a  

s  

b  

b  

a  

t  

t  

a  

i  

h  

m  

i  

i  

i  

c

6

 

t  

o  

s

 

a  

a  

s  

a  

v

 

c  

o  

a  

b  

n  

t  

i  

a  

T  

o  

l  

b  

w  

o

 

s  

m  

n  

m  

t  

a  

R

W

i

T

w

t

s

c

t

b  

c  

t  

b  

p  

t  

a  

i  

i

 

o  

e  

l  

t  

o  

c  

h  

l  

w  

b  

f  

h  

a  

c

7

 

i  

p  

s  

b

 

o  

u  

S  

t  

e  

h

 

e  

s  

t  

t  

n

 

i  

v  

b  

c  

e  

b  

h  
Our last alternative outcome measure is local wages. The results re-

orted in Table 2 strongly suggest that the SHI negatively affects local

conomies of treated municipalities by increasing the local unemploy-

ent growth rate. This finding is consistent with a setting where wages

re sticky downwards. In our theoretical framework, however, we as-

ume that wages are flexible, thus predicting a negative impact of the

an on local wage growth. As we document in Table 5 , however, the

an does not significantly affect wage growth once pre-trends in wages

re accounted for. 29 Our wage results seem sensible in the context of

he Swiss institutional setting. This is for two reasons. First, it is ex-

remely uncommon for employers, due to de facto ‘upward-only’ wage

djustments at industry level, to be able to renegotiate wages for exist-

ng workers downwards. Second, by international standards Switzerland

as one of the most liberal labor laws. For example, employers can ter-

inate an employment relationship lasting ten years (or more) by giv-

ng a three months’ notice and without providing any justification for

t. Thus, to counter an unexpected negative shock to the local economy,

t would appear to be much easier for firms to fire workers or not rehire

ertain seasonal workers rather than to lower wages. 

.5. Contextualization of results 

The upside of our empirical analysis is a clean quasi-natural setting

hat allows us to rigorously study the impact of a ban on the construction

f new second homes. Our findings are, however, to some extent context-

pecific. 

While in seasonal tourist locations like ski or beach resorts, primary

nd second homes are often poor substitutes as in the Swiss setting, there

re many tourist places where the two types of properties are close sub-

titutes. In these latter locations, we would expect the price of primary

nd second homes to move in the same direction and the option to con-

ert an existing primary into a second home to be valuable. 

Anecdotal evidence supporting this assertion stems from a ban on the

onstruction of second homes that was introduced in St. Ives and a few

ther smaller British seaside towns in 2016. Interestingly, this ban was

pproved by local voters. Data on transaction prices suggests that the

an in St. Ives caused the demand of second home investors to shift from

ewly built to existing homes, thereby intensifying the seasonal ghost

own character. This shift drove up the price of existing homes, slash-

ng construction levels and the price of newly built homes, adversely

ffecting local tourism and construction businesses ( Economist 2019 ).

he only potential beneficiaries of the ban have been already existing

wners of housing in St. Ives, including many retirees who welcome

andscape preservation effects but may care little about the local la-

or market. Young would-be buyers, lower income renters and the local

orkforce in the tourism and construction sectors are the ones who lose

ut. 

We would also expect the effects of a ban to be different in super-

tar cities such as London or New York, where labor markets are much

ore diversified and less dependent on buyers of second homes. The

egative effects of a ban on the local economy may therefore be more

uted. The price effects would again depend on the degree of substi-

utability of primary and second homes. If the two types of housing

re close substitutes, then demand of investors should shift from newly
27 We provide detailed estimation results, including first stage results and results for the 

estricted Samples 1 and 2 (discussed in Section 6.3 ), in Web-Appendix Tables W-E9 to 

-E12. 
28 We note however, that the estimated effect on new construction becomes statistically 

nsignificant when we progressively balance the sample. See Web-Appendix Table W-E9. 

he finding of an adverse short-term effect on construction should therefore be interpreted 

ith some caution. 
29 Somewhat surprisingly the coefficient of the treatment dummy is positive, albeit sta- 

istically insignificant in the most rigorous specification reported in column (3) . Reas- 

uringly, the statistical significance further deteriorates as we balance the treatment and 

ontrol group. In fact, the impact of the ban becomes negative for the specification with 

he strictest sample restriction. See Web-Appendix Table W-E12 for details. 

t  

t  

o

 

l  

t  

a  

u  

q

 

t  

t  

Page
uilt to existing homes, further accentuating the housing affordability

rises in superstar cities (although this effect may not be very impor-

ant quantitatively). In contrast, in the case of poor substitutability, a

an may somewhat dampen the upward pressure on housing rents and

rimary house prices. Lower housing costs compared to the counterfac-

ual in turn may attract more labor to superstar cities. In the presence of

gglomeration externalities, this may raise local wages in non-tourism

ndustries and may lead to an increase in the aggregate productivity, as

n Hsieh and Moretti (2019) . 

Finally, the overall distributional impact of a ban depends crucially

n who owns real estate assets in the affected areas. Second home own-

rs may be foreign investors, domestic ‘out-of-town’ buyers, or, in fact,

ocal residents who possess a second home in their own municipality

hat they rent out during holiday seasons only (if a property is rented

ut on a permanent basis, it is not classified as a ‘second home’). In the

ase of Switzerland, it is quite rare that local residents possess vacation

omes locally. Rather, wealthy local residents tend to own undeveloped

and locally or they rent out on a permanent basis. In both cases, they

ill be negatively affected by the ban due to the adverse effect of the

an on the market for primary homes and, by implication, the market

or undeveloped land (as the ban removes the option to build second

omes). Thus, in Switzerland, most local homeowners in treated areas

re likely worse off. However, this does not necessarily apply to other

ountries and settings. 

. Conclusion 

Rising inequality has led to a political backlash against wealthy elites

n many countries. One increasingly popular policy is to constrain or im-

ose an outright ban on the construction of new second homes in sea-

onal tourist places. The Swiss Alps may be the most prominent example,

ut it is by no means the only one. 

In this paper, we explore the economic impacts of an outright ban

n the construction of new second homes. We do so by exploiting the

nique empirical setting provided by the unexpected approval of the

wiss SHI in March 2012. We find that the SHI-induced ban substan-

ially reduced the price growth of primary homes, increased local un-

mployment, and increased the price growth of already existing second

omes. 

Our findings are consistent with the predictions derived from a gen-

ral equilibrium model that treats primary and second homes as poor

ubstitutes that are traded in separate markets. In such a setting, the op-

ion to convert a primary residence into a second home is worthless and

hus does not provide a hedge against the negative impact of banning

ew second homes. 

Constraining the construction of new second homes hurts local (typ-

cally immobile) homeowners via lower primary house prices and ad-

erse effects on the local labor market. Renters benefit from lower rents

ut, overall, they are likely not better off because the fall in rents is

ommensurate to the negative effects on the local economy. In a spatial

quilibrium setting without relocation costs, renters should be neither

etter nor worse off. Our empirical findings indicate that existing second

ome investors were the real beneficiaries in the treated areas: The es-

imated effect of the ban on the price growth of second homes is consis-

ently positive, representing a positive wealth effect for existing owners

f such homes. 

Whether the landscape preservation effect of the ban for residents

iving in unaffected (urban) areas compensates the documented nega-

ive effects for local residents in treated areas, is an open question. The

ggregate welfare effect of banning second home investors thus remains

ncertain. We leave the further theoretical and empirical analysis of this

uestion for future research. 

Our findings hold important lessons for other countries with highly

ouristic areas, in which inequality has led to a political backlash against

he wealthy and, in particular, against (foreign) second home investors.
 93



C.A.L. Hilber and O. Schöni Journal of Urban Economics 118 (2020) 103266 

O  

o  

i  

e  

c  

a  

s

A

S

 

t

C

 

g  

p  

v  

m  

s  

W

R

A  

 

B  

B  

 

C  

C  

D  

E  

F  

G  

G  

G  

G  

H  

 

H  

R  

R  

 

S  

S  

S  
verall, our findings are indicative that constraining the construction

f new second homes may reinforce rather than reduce wealth inequal-

ty in highly touristic areas. While bans do nothing to improve local

conomies, local annual taxes on the value of land or second homes

ould potentially help local economies (via increasing local tax revenue

nd reducing the ghost town character), whilst at the same time pre-

erving the landscape. 

ppendix 

Table A1 

SHI-voting results. 

Dependent variable Share of no votes 

(1) (2) (3) 

All Only control Only treated 

Second home rate 0.1225 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.0246 0.1961 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0270) (0.0454) (0.0596) 

Voting turnout 0.0837 ∗ ∗ 0.0241 0.2347 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0327) (0.0296) (0.0592) 

Average net income 0.0009 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0006 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0012 

(0.0002) (0.0002) (0.0007) 

Gini coefficient for net income − 0.0607 0.1145 ∗ − 0.1893 

(0.0644) (0.0592) (0.1289) 

Number of primary residents − 0.0003 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.0004 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0056 ∗ ∗ 

(0.0001) (0.0001) (0.0026) 

Share of foreign residents 0.0206 0.0305 − 0.0670 

(0.0291) (0.0250) (0.0715) 

Unproductive surface 0.0335 0.0476 ∗ − 0.0020 

(0.0266) (0.0281) (0.0311) 

Share of residents in the − 0.0070 − 0.0010 − 0.0061 

service sector (0.0118) (0.0113) (0.0452) 

Share of firms in the − 0.0692 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.0754 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.0985 

service sector (0.0207) (0.0193) (0.0825) 

Homeownership rate 0.0841 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.0610 ∗ ∗ ∗ 0.3199 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0173) (0.0154) (0.0687) 

Distance from major CBD − 0.0002 0.0000 − 0.0012 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0002) (0.0002) (0.0004) 

Distance from major ski resort − 0.0010 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.0004 ∗ ∗ ∗ − 0.0032 ∗ ∗ ∗ 

(0.0002) (0.0001) (0.0005) 

Cantonal FEs Yes Yes Yes 

Observations 1688 1422 266 

R-squared 0.6297 0.5858 0.6441 

Notes: Robust standard errors are reported in parentheses ( ∗ ∗ ∗ p < 0.01, ∗ ∗ 

p < 0.05, ∗ p < 0.1). All municipalities for which second home rates, voting re- 

sults, and included controls were available in 2010–2011 are included in the 

sample. Municipalities that have revised their second home rate are not in- 

cluded. 
Page 9
upplementary materials 

Supplementary material associated with this article can be found, in

he online version, at doi:10.1016/j.jue.2020.103266 . 

RediT authorship contribution statement 

Christian A.L. Hilber: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Investi-

ation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Su-

ervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - re-

iew & editing. Olivier Schöni: Conceptualization, Data curation, For-

al analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Re-

ources, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing - original draft,

riting - review & editing. 

eferences 

ltonji, J.G. , Todd, E.E. , Taber, C.R. , 2005. Selection on observed and unobserved vari-

ables: assessing the effectiveness of catholic schools. J. Polit. Econ. 113 (1), 151–184 .

adarinza, C. , Ramadorai, T. , 2018. Home away from home? Foreign demand and London

house prices. J. Financ. Econ. 130 (3), 532–555 . 

ayer, P., Geissler, C., Mangum, K., Roberts, J.W., 2020. Speculators and middlemen:

the strategy and performance of investors in the housing market. Rev. Financ. Stud.

doi: 10.1093/rfs/hhaa042 , forthcoming . 

hinco, A. , Mayer, C. , 2016. Misinformed speculators and mispricing in the housing mar-

ket. Rev. Financ. Stud. 29 (2), 486–522 . 

vijanovic, D., Spaenjers, C., 2020. “We’ll always have Paris ”: out-of-country buyers in the

housing market. Manage. Sci. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3248902 , forthcomingdx.doi.org/ . 

esmet, K. , Rossi-Hansberg, E. , 2013. Urban accounting and welfare. Am. Econ. Rev. 103

(6), 2296–2327 . 

conomist, 2019. St. Ives’s Second-Home Crackdown has Unintended Consequences. The

Economist, London Print edition from July 18 . 

avilukis, J.Y. and Van Nieuwerburgh, S. 2017. Out-of-Town Home Buyers and City Wel-

fare. CEPR Discussion Paper, No. 12283. 

aubert, C. , 2018. Firm sorting and agglomeration. Am. Econ. Rev. 108 (11), 3117–3153 .

laeser, E.L. , 2008. Cities, Agglomeration, and Spatial Equilibrium. Oxford University

Press . 

laeser, E.L. , Gottlieb, J.D. , 2009. The wealth of cities: agglomeration economies and

spatial equilibrium in the United States. J. Econ. Lit. 47 (4), 983–1028 . 

reenstone, M. , Gallagher, J. , 2008. Does hazardous waste matter? Evidence from the

housing market and the superfund program. Q. J. Econ. 123 (3), 951–1003 . 

aughwout, A., Lee, D., Tracy, J., and van der Klaauw, W. (2011). Real estate investors,

the leverage cycle, and the housing market crisis. Federal Reserve Bank of New York

Staff Reports, 514. 

sieh, C.T. , Moretti, E. , 2019. Housing constraints and spatial misallocation. Am. Econ.

J. 11 (2), 1–39 . 

oback, J. , 1982. Wages, rents, and the quality of life. J. Polit. Econ. 90 (6), 1257–1278 .

osen, S. , 1979. Wage-based indexes of urban quality of life. In: Mieszkowski, Peter,

Straszheim, Mahlon (Eds.), Current Issues in Urban Economics. Johns Hopkins Uni-

versity Press, Baltimore and London, pp. 74–104 . 

á, F. (2016). The effect of foreign investors on local housing markets: evidence from the

UK. Centre for Macroeconomics Discussion Paper, No. 1639. 

omerville, T. , Wang, L. , Yang, Y. , 2020. Using purchase restrictions to cool housing mar-

kets: a within-market analysis. J. Urban Econ. 115, Article #103189 . 

uher, M. (2016). Is anybody home? The Impact of Taxation of Non-Resident Buyers. NYU

Furman Center, mimeo, February. 
4

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2020.103266
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0001
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0001
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0001
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0001
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0002
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0002
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0002
https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhaa042
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0004
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0004
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0004
https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3248902
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0006
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0006
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0006
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0007
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0008
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0008
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0009
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0009
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0010
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0010
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0010
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0011
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0011
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0011
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0012
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0012
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0012
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0013
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0013
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0014
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0014
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0015
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0015
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0015
http://refhub.elsevier.com/S0094-1190(20)30037-1/sbref0015


Investment in second homes has been surging 
around the world. Christian Hilber explores the 
underlying causes of this boom and the political 
backlash against wealthy investors. His analysis 
explains how one increasingly popular policy 
– banning new second home investments in 
desirable tourist locations – may end up hurting 
rather than helping local residents. It may even 
lead to a further rise in wealth inequality.

S
econd homes – properties that are 

not used as a primary residence, 

bought for leisure or investment 

purposes or a mix of the two – 

are in strong demand among investors, 

especially in superstar cities and places rich 

in natural amenities. Such investments are 

growing globally. 

The data are patchy but the surge 

seems to have emerged during the mid-

1990s. It has been dramatic in some 

countries, more moderate in others. 

The UK and China belong in the former 

category. The number of second homes in 

the UK more than doubled between 1995 

and 2013 alone (English Housing Survey). 

In China, the number of investors surged 

from 6.6% of urban households in 2002 to 

15% in 2007 (Huang and Yi, 2011).

The United States and Canada have 

seen more moderate expansion: between 

1995 and 2005, the number of second 

homes in these countries increased by 20% 

and 22%, respectively (Belsky et al, 2007; 

Canadian Survey of Financial Security). 

What explains this marked increase 

in second home investments? Growing 

income and wealth inequality with a 

staggering amount of wealth accumulation 

among a growing cohort of ‘top earners’ 

Second home investments 
have certainly contributed.

As housing is a ‘normal good’, a rise 

in income and wealth implies greater 

housing consumption. And one way that 

this manifests itself at the top end of 

the income and wealth distribution is in 

growing consumption of second homes. 

But housing is also an ‘investment 

good’: a strongly growing cohort 

of wealthy individuals implies 

disproportionately more investment 

in second homes. A lack of attractive 

alternative investment opportunities further 

reinforces the boom.

The surge in second home investments 

has not gone unnoticed. In fact, it has 

ultimately triggered a serious political 

backlash in many countries, especially 

in tourist areas and superstar cities. The 

backlash has at least in part been driven 

by legitimate concerns, such as ever more 

unaffordable housing, destruction of areas 

of natural beauty or creation of ghost 

towns during large parts of the year.

Figure 1:

Newspaper coverage of sentiments against  
second home investors

Sources: BBC News; Guardian; Evening Standard

CentrePiece Autumn 2018

25Page 95



The crucial question is how politically 

to address these legitimate concerns. Some 

countries, such as the UK, and cities, such 

as Vancouver, have introduced substantive 

transaction taxes on the purchase of 

second homes.

Another policy that has become 

increasingly popular, also in the UK, 

are constraints or outright bans on the 

construction of new second homes. The 

latest example is the Cornish seaside town 

of St. Ives. Other local communities in 

Cornwall and across the rest of the country 

have signalled interest in including similar 

policies in their own Neighbourhood Plans.

What are the economic impacts of  

such bans on local housing and labour 

markets? This is the question that my 

co-author, Olivier Schöni, and I explore 

in a recent CEP study that features both 

theoretical and empirical analysis (Hilber 

and Schöni, 2018).

In our theoretical analysis, we  

illustrate the underlying mechanisms and 

reveal under what conditions we should 

expect constraints on second home 

investments to have positive or negative 

effects on local housing and labour 

markets. 

One key insight of our analysis is that 

competing effects are at play. First, a ban 

on the construction of new second homes 

may help to preserve the local character 

and beauty of the area and ease congested 

roads and overcrowding of other local 

infrastructure during the tourist season. 

This ‘amenity effect’ – and its anticipation 

– should be positively capitalised into the 

value of both primary and second homes.

Second, a ban on the construction of 

new second homes renders the supply of 

new second homes perfectly unresponsive 

to price increases. In a dynamic setting, 

this ‘supply effect’ should raise the price of 

second homes, all else equal.

Third, a ban on the construction of 

new second homes adversely affects local 

construction and other local economic 

activity – importantly tourism. This ‘local 

economy effect’ lowers prospective 

earnings or, to the extent that local 

wages are sticky downwards, increases 

unemployment. In turn, it adversely 

affects local demand for primary homes 

and, all else equal, ultimately is negatively 

capitalised into the price of primary homes.

In a setting where primary and second 

homes are perfect substitutes (that is, the 

two types of properties are very similar in 

style, quality and location, and thus equally 

suitable for primary residents and second 

home investors), the price of primary and 

second homes must move in the same 

direction, but it is theoretically ambiguous 

whether the positive or the negative effects 

on the price dominate. It depends on their 

relative importance.

If primary and second homes are poor 

substitutes (think of two types of buildings 

traded in the same town but in separate 

sub-markets: wooden chalets near ski lifts 

suitable for second home investors and 

concrete buildings close to the local school 

and the supermarket suitable for primary 

residents), then we demonstrate that under 

realistic conditions, the price effects can 

be expected to go in opposite directions: 

positive for second homes and negative for 

primary homes. Labour market effects are 

unambiguously negative, either in the form 

of lower wages, higher unemployment or a 

mix of the two.

In our empirical analysis, we exploit a 

unique quasi-natural experiment, the Swiss 

Second Home Initiative (SHI), to test these 

theoretical predictions and identify causal 

effects of a ban on the construction of new 

second homes.

Popular initiatives – such as the SHI – 

are common in Switzerland as instruments 

of direct democracy that allow citizens to 

modify the country’s constitution. Initiatives 

must be approved by both the majority 

of voters and the majority of regional 

jurisdictions, known as cantons.

The SHI requested that construction 

of new second homes be banned in 

Figure 2:

Yes and No campaigns in the Swiss Second Home Initiative: 

Sources: www.zweitwohnungsinitiative.ch and INFOsperber. Yes campaign: We must stop setting 

our landscape in concrete; versus No campaign: Approving initiative would destroy your dream of 

a second home. 

Switzerland’s 
ban on the 
construction 
of new second 
homes lowered 
the price of 
primary homes 
but raised  
the price of 
second homes

The negative 
effect on local 

economies 
of banning 

second home 
construction 

outweighs the 
positive effect of 
preserving local 

amenities

CentrePiece Autumn 2018

26 Page 96



municipalities where such homes represent 

more than 20% of the total housing stock. 

The SHI was approved by the narrowest of 

margins – 50.6% of votes and 13.5 of 26 

cantons – in March 2012. It came into force 

in January 2013. 

Voters in tourist municipalities with 

very high shares of second homes were 

heavily opposed (see Figure 3), presumably 

due to fears about adverse effects on the 

local economy. This contrasts with voters 

in the larger Swiss cities who favoured the 

initiative.

So what were the effects of banning 

the construction of new second homes in 

desirable Swiss tourist locations? Consistent 

with our theoretical framework and a 

setting where primary and second homes 

are rather poor substitutes (so are traded 

in different sub-markets), we find that the 

effects on the prices of primary and second 

homes go in opposite directions.

The ban on the construction of new 

second homes lowered the price of 

primary homes, adversely affecting local 

homeowners, but increased the price of 

second homes, further raising the wealth 

of existing – typically already wealthy – 

second homeowners. We also find that the 

policy increased unemployment rates, thus 

harming the local labour force.

All in all, our findings suggest that the 

local economy effect (affecting primary 

house prices negatively) outweighed the 

amenity-preservation effect (affecting 

primary house prices positively), resulting 

in an overall fall in the price of primary 

homes. They also suggest that constraining 

the construction of new second homes 

reinforces rather than reduces wealth 

inequality, at least in a setting like the 

Swiss one (and many other tourist places 

rich in natural amenities) where primary 

and second homes are quite imperfect 

substitutes. 

One fascinating puzzle is the following: 

whereas in Switzerland, local voters in 

affected tourist areas voted heavily against 

a ban on the construction of new second 

homes, in St. Ives in Cornwall, local 

residents overwhelmingly supported the 

policy. How can we make sense of this?

Figure 3:

Second home share and opposition to the Swiss Second Home Initiative

Sources: Hilber and Schöni (2018).

1

0.8

0.6

0.4

0.2
0 20% 40% 60% 80%

Second homes as a percentage of the total housing stock in a municipality 

Sh
ar

e 
o

f 
vo

te
s 

ag
ai

n
st

 b
an

n
in

g
 c

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 o

f 
n

ew
 s

ec
o

n
d

 h
o

m
es

Constraining 
the construction 

of new second 
homes reinforces 

rather than 
reduces wealth 

inequality

CentrePiece Autumn 2018

27Page 97



An annual local 
tax on the value 
of second homes 
would be a much 
superior policy 
response to an 
outright ban 

One plausible explanation is that  

in the particular case of St. Ives, the pivotal 

local voter may actually have benefited 

from the ban. This could be because St. Ives 

consists of a high share of wealthy retirees 

who own their homes and may care little 

about the local construction industry 

or tourism sector but far more about 

preserving the landscape and character  

of the seaside town.

In other words, local workers who 

depend on the tourism and construction 

industries may be in a political minority. 

Then, to the extent that primary and 

second homes are reasonably close 

substitutes and the amenity effect 

outweighs the local economy effect, the 

ban on new-build second homes may 

actually cause the price of both primary 

and second homes to increase. 

So there may be an important 

difference here with the Swiss case: the 

pivotal local voter may be made better 

off by the ban, at least in the short run. 

Importantly though, this will come at the 

cost of younger renters – would-be buyers 

who are priced out of stepping onto the 

owner-occupied housing ladder – who 

work locally, typically in the adversely 

affected industries.

It is this group that is arguably critical 

for the livelihood of the seaside town 

in the longer run. Or put differently, the 

main effect of the ban on new-build 

second homes in St. Ives may have been 

to limit overall housing supply even more 

tightly, helping existing local homeowners 

to protect their accumulated capital 

gains (which arose from tight planning 

regulations in the first place), at the cost of 

the younger generation of local people.

Ultimately, the crucial question is 

whether there are better policy options for 

places rich in natural amenities and heavily 

dependent on tourism, such as the Swiss 

Alps or UK seaside towns or superstar 

cities, such as London or Vancouver.  

The answer is an unequivocal yes.

If the primary goals are to make 

housing more affordable, prevent vacant 

homes and ghost towns, generate more 

local tax revenue and reduce local wealth 

inequality, then an annual local tax on the 

value of second homes (or better even: 

the value of their land) would be a much 

superior policy response to an outright ban. 

An annual local tax would also be 

superior to a one-time transaction tax 

(stamp duty) as the latter generates a 

mismatch in the housing market (Hilber 

and Lyytikäinen, 2017) and does not 

provide any incentives to keep houses 

occupied.

An annual tax wouldn’t be an entirely 

‘free lunch’ of course. This is because the 

local tourism and construction sectors and 

their workers are still bound to be hit by 

the comparable lack of investment as a 

consequence of tax-induced disincentives 

to build new second homes. 

More generally, second home investors 

– especially foreign ones – are often really 

just a popular scapegoat. In England, 

for example, the housing affordability 

crisis is predominantly driven by an 

extremely inflexible and dysfunctional land 

use planning system and a tax system 

that provides virtually no incentives to 

local authorities to permit residential 

development (Cheshire, 2014; Hilber, 2015; 

or Hilber and Vermeulen, 2016).

Banning the construction of new 

second homes or imposing transaction 

taxes on second home purchases may be 

politically popular policies in the short run. 

But they won’t do anything to cure the 

underlying causes of the problems.

This article builds in parts on a published 

interview given to Hites Amir from the 

International Monetary Fund:  

The Unassuming Economist, Global  

Housing Watch Newsletter, July 2018  

(http://unassumingeconomist.com/2018/07/ 

the-surge-in-second-home-investments-

causes-consequences-and-cures/).

Christian Hilber is professor of economic 

geography at LSE and a research associate  

in CEP’s urban programme.

Further reading

Eric Belsky, Zhu Xiao Di and Dan McCue 

(2007) ‘Multiple-home Ownership and the 

Income Elasticity of Housing Demand’, in  

Land Policies and their Outcomes edited by 

Gregory Ingram and Yu-Hung Hong, Lincoln 

Institute of Land Policy.

Paul Cheshire (2014) ‘Turning Houses 

into Gold: The Failure of British Planning’, 

CentrePiece 19(1): 14-18 (http://cep.lse.ac.uk/

pubs/download/cp421.pdf).

Christian Hilber (2015) ‘UK Housing and 

Planning Policies: The Evidence from 

Economic Research’, CEP Election Analysis 

No. 33 (http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/

ea033.pdf).

Christian Hilber and Teemu Lyytikäinen (2017) 

‘Stamp Duty, Mobility and the UK Housing 

Crisis’, CentrePiece 22(3): 17-20 (http://cep.lse.

ac.uk/pubs/download/cp516.pdf).

Christian Hilber and Olivier Schöni (2018) 

‘The Economic Impacts of Constraining 

Second Home Investments’, CEP Discussion 

Paper No. 1556 (http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/

download/dp1556.pdf). 

Christian Hilber and Wouter Vermeulen (2016) 

‘The Impact of Supply Constraints on House 

Prices in England’, Economic Journal 126(591): 

358-405.

Youqin Huang and Chengdong Yi (2011) 

‘Second Home Ownership in Transitional 

Urban China’, Housing Studies 26(3): 423-47.

CentrePiece Autumn 2018

28 Page 98



1 

 

http://spatial-economics.blogspot.com/2019/08/why-banning-construction-of-

second.html 

 

CEP Urban Programme Blog (‘SERC blog’) 

 

Christian Hilber, 19 May 2019 

 

Why banning the construction of second homes in St. Ives and 

elsewhere has been a bad idea and what to do instead 
 

In May 2016 the local residents of St. Ives approved a referendum that stops newly built 

houses in town from being used as a second home. A few other Cornish towns have 

followed suit. And tourist destinations in other parts of the country are contemplating 

similar policies. The Economist, the Times and the BBC recently  pointed to unintended 

consequences of these policies: higher prices for existing homes, less construction of 

newly built homes and an adverse effect on the local economy—mainly tourist and 

construction businesses.  

In recent research (here and here for the academic piece) we explored the economic 

impacts of banning the construction of new second homes in the touristy parts of 

Switzerland. The Swiss Second Home Initiative was approved in March 2012 and 

banned the construction of new second homes in municipalities with more than 20% of 

such homes.  

There is one crucial difference between the Swiss Alps and St. Ives. In the Swiss Alps, 

primary and second homes are very different; think of wooden chalets near ski lifts as 

second homes and stone or brick buildings near schools and stores as primary homes. 

In St. Ives and other towns in Cornwall, primary and second homes tend to be rather 

similar—they are close ‘substitutes’. This has important implications.  

When the ban was introduced in Switzerland, demand of second home investors shifted 

elsewhere, perhaps to the French or Austrian Alps. Unemployment rates started rising 

and the price of primary homes started falling relative to the unaffected areas. And 

because already built second homes became dearer (no new construction allowed!), the 

price of these rose with the unintended consequence of financially benefiting the 

owners.  

In St. Ives, where the typical primary and second home tend to be rather similar, demand 

of investors shifted from newly built to existing homes, increasing the price of existing 

homes and reducing the price of newly built ones. The emerging gap between the two 

prices is the so called ‘conversion option’ of existing homes—the monetary value of 

the option to convert a primary into a second home. Newly built homes no longer 

possess such an option.  

So it seems the bans in Switzerland and Cornwall backfired. In the case of St. Ives, 

existing housing has become even less affordable for young would-be buyers who want 

to get their feet on the owner-occupied housing ladder, and, there is less new 

construction of affordable housing. But also local firms, particularly construction and 

tourism businesses and, importantly, their workforce, lose out. If the ban intended to 

help young local residents who struggle to find decent jobs and affordable homes, then 

it backfired spectacularly.  

Page 99

http://spatial-economics.blogspot.com/2019/08/why-banning-construction-of-second.html
http://spatial-economics.blogspot.com/2019/08/why-banning-construction-of-second.html
https://www.economist.com/britain/2019/07/18/st-ivess-second-home-crackdown-has-unintended-consequences
https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/ban-on-second-homes-backfires-in-cornwall-nnn9mth32
https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/m0007nb9
http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cp543.pdf
http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/91677/1/Hilber_The-economic-impacts-of-constraining_Author.pdf


2 

 

The ban in St. Ives will likely not even succeed in improving the local community 

‘character’. One particular concern in tourist destinations like St. Ives is that they are 

seasonal and thus, for much of the year, resemble ghost towns. The trouble with the ban 

is that it does encourage second home investors to buy up existing homes from local 

residents. Over time, St. Ives is thus set to become more—not less—like a ghost town. 

Exactly what the ban intended to avoid.  

The only potential beneficiaries of the ban are already existing owners of housing in St. 

Ives—owners of existing primary and second homes. They financially benefit because 

their assets are higher in demand and thus become more valuable.  

So what can and should be done to address the legitimate concerns of local residents in 

touristy places?  

First and foremost, local policy makers and local residents have to ask themselves 

whether they are really willing to accept and bear the long-run adverse consequences 

associated with keeping second home investors out, namely, an adverse effect on the 

local construction and tourism businesses. If (big if) the answer is ‘yes’, then local 

authorities should consider alternative policies to a ban.  

A much better policy would be a sizeable annual local tax on the current value of 

second homes. Compared to a ban on the construction of second homes, such a tax has 

important advantages. First, it generates revenue for the local authority and this may be 

used to provide or improve local public services for permanent residents—think of local 

schools, libraries or social services. A ban, in contrast, generates zero revenue and 

moreover limits the potential of local authorities to benefit from Section 106 

agreements—private agreements between local authorities and developers attached to 

a planning permission to make development, that would otherwise be unacceptable, 

palatable to local authorities. Second, since the proposed tax has to be paid every year, 

it discourages buying property for investment purposes. It makes the investment less 

attractive financially. This will help with the affordability of existing homes. A sizeable 

local annual tax will most effectively repel those investors who consider second homes 

as pure investment and not as consumption. The second home investors who still buy, 

mainly for consumption motives, can be expected to be around more often. Seasonal 

tourist locations will look and feel less like ‘ghost towns’.   

But why not just a tax on the transfer of properties? The trouble is that the Stamp Duty 

does not encourage second home investors to use the property more intensively. In fact, 

the longer the investor holds the property, the less important, is the Stamp Duty relative 

to the capital gain at point of sale. The same argument applies to potential new second 

home investors. A rise in Stamp Duty will lead to a small one-time downward 

adjustment in the price (reflecting the increased anticipated tax burden). Once prices 

adjust, new second home investors may still mainly consider expected capital gains and 

not the presumed consumption value of the property. And it is important that the tax is 

local because otherwise it does not generate local tax revenue, benefiting local 

residents. 

Allowing local authorities to charge a multiple of the Council Tax to second home 

investors may be a sensible ‘second best policy’ that is clearly preferable to a ban. The 

trouble is, that the Council Tax is highly regressive. It thus won’t much discourage 

wealthy investors from buying large underutilised properties.  

How could the proposed policy work in practice? One could just take the last sale price 

of a house (from the Land Registry) and the corresponding local house price index to 

Page 100



3 

 

adjust the price to the current market price. The local authority could set a tax rate on 

the so assessed current price. A high (low) tax would reduce house prices significantly 

(moderately) but also strongly (only weakly) adversely affect the local economy. 

The political backlash against second home investors is not confined to Cornwall or 

Switzerland. It is a worldwide phenomenon. There has been a staggering amount of 

wealth accumulation among a growing cohort of high earners that has led to a dramatic 

increase in second home investments in the more desirable seasonal tourist areas 

worldwide (and in ‘superstar cities’ such as London). The ensuing political backlash 

has been spreading quickly around the world.  

Second home investors are a popular scapegoat—In Britain mainly for the ongoing 

housing affordability crisis. However, the nation-wide crisis has little to do with second 

home investors. The underlying causes are mainly a dysfunctional planning system and 

a lack of fiscal incentives for local authorities to permit residential development (see 

here or here). If national policy makers are serious about addressing the national 

housing crisis, they should focus on the underlying causes, otherwise, like the ban in 

St. Ives, their policies are likely to backfire as well. 

 

 

Page 101

http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/ea033.pdf
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ecoj.12213


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

ENVIRONMENT & QUALITY OF LIFE SCRUTINY PANEL: PUBLIC CONVENIENCE 

STRATEGY REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATIONS  

 

Summary The Council has sought to prepare a Public 
Convenience Strategy aimed at providing a clear path 
to future management of this non-statutory function that 
is felt to be essential for both visitors and the local 
population.  Public toilets are crucial to tourism and 
town centre economies but are facing ever increasing 
costs to provide. 
 

Options considered The panel has reviewed in-depth over the past 6 
months, the Draft Public Convenience Strategy and 
sought expertise and guidance from both officers and 
external consultants regarding a range of options and 
ideas.  The group also sought opinions from local Town 
and Parish Councils. 
 

Conclusion In general the panel supports the provision of a 
Strategy to ensure a holistic approach to the future 
management of the Council’s extensive portfolio of 38 
public conveniences across the District.  The following 
recommendations are made regarding the Draft Public 
Toilet Provision Strategy Document.  
 
The Panel reviewed current provision, sought to identify 
options for the future and reviewed means of obtaining 
and achieving customer expectation. 
 

Recommendations The working group has made fourteen 
recommendations which are listed throughout the 
report and summarised in Appendix 3 on page 10 
of the report.  
 

Reasons for 
Recommendations 

To ensure that the Council’s public conveniences are 
managed and maintained efficiently and effectively to a 
high standard for public use by residents and visitors.   

 

LISTOF BACKGROUND PAPERS AS REQUIRED BY LAW 

(Papers relied on to write the report, which do not contain exempt information and which are 

not published elsewhere) 

Public Conveniences Strategy 

Cabinet Member(s):  Ward(s) affected:  All 

Contact officer, telephone and email: 

Maxine Collis Maxine.collis@north-norfolk.gov.uk  

01263 516256 

 

 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Maxine.collis@north-norfolk.gov.uk


2 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Following the delivery of a report to Cabinet on the Council’s public toilet provision and 

its current challenges, Cabinet requested the provision of a Public Convenience 

Strategy to satisfy the following Corporate Delivery objective: 

Corporate Plan Theme: Financial Sustainability and Growth 

Objective 1: Continuously reviewing our service delivery arrangements, fees and 

charges to ensure that we deliver value for money  

The Over view & Scrutiny Working Panel were requested to review the Public 

Convenience Strategy in December 2021 and offer its comments and 

recommendations. 

 

2. Findings and recommendations 

 2.1 At the first meeting it was agreed to look at the four elements of the document 

pertaining to the four areas given in the diagram below. 

 

 

2.2 Quality of Provision  

The panel supports greater analysis of customer complaints to inform improvements. 

The panel felt that as part of ongoing provision a ‘standard’ of cleansing should be agreed as 

part of the SERCO cleansing contract thus ensuring cohesive approach and clear expectation 

of performance. 

The Panel actively supported the installation of new changing places facilities. 

Page 104



3 
 

The Panel was pleased to be assured that Property Services are taking steps to standardise 

equipment use across the portfolio and to review and embrace environmentally friendly 

solutions on a regular basis. 

2.3 Auditing Current Facilities 

It was felt that whilst the Council holds various types of financial and operational information 

on our assets, there is not one comprehensive audit of our facilities to best inform change.  

The counters that were installed in 2018 have provided an insight into use but there are other 

elements that could be included in such an audit.  Many of the desirable features, from both a 

customer service and asset management point of view, are illustrated in the British Toilet 

Association best practice guidelines and Appendix 1 gives details of key elements we believe 

should be included in the initial audit suggested as point 2 in the Action Plan, but this is not 

exhaustive and could be tailored to the needs of the service area. 

Also as part of the audit some assessment of site suitability should be undertaken to identify 

where provision is hampered by site location or accessibility. 

2.4 Current Opinion  

The Panel sought feedback from Town and Parish Councils on the current public convenience 

provision.  Feedback was mixed and highlighted some key areas for focus.  It is anticipated 

the audit will help to consolidate and evidence required changes/improvements. 

QUALITY OF PROVISION RECOMMENDATIONS 

 To recommend that an external audit of the Council’s public conveniences is 

undertaken to review factors including: lighting, signage, cleanliness, site 

position, energy efficiency etc.  

 To recommend that a review of the outcomes of the external audit alongside 

current structural surveys is undertaken during winter 2022-23 to develop an 

action plan for the facilities in 2023-24 and annually thereafter, actioned by 

Property Services, Estates and the Environmental Services (cleansing).  

 To recommend that a simple customer feedback system is created and promoted 

to obtain and maintain ongoing feedback to support and evidence need for future 

changes or address any issues. 

 To recommend that the Strategy is reviewed and updated at least every 4 years, 

and that an annual review of the service provision and customer feedback is 

undertaken by Property Services and cleansing providers, and considered by 

the Overview & Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny Panel.  

 To recommend that a cleansing standard is established (or evidence requested) 

and approved to ensure appropriate levels of cleansing is achieved and 

monitored in all facilities across the District. (Example Appendix 2) 

 

2.5 Location 

The Panel felt that some public toilets did not function well because of their location.  It was 

felt that greater effort should be made to review /rate each assets location as part of the audit 

undertaken.  Facilities should be easy to locate, feel safe to use and be in key locations.  

The Panel acknowledged alternative options are not always available but that facilities should 

be subject to consideration prior to installing new-build facilities. 

 

Page 105



4 
 

2.6 Decision Matrix 

The panel reviewed and ‘tested’ the decision matrix and felt, as a tool for Officer and Members 

to determine need, it was not without merit and should be used as part of the assessment of 

provision in future. 

LOCATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

 To recommend that the decision making matrix be used and refined to determine 

future need. 

 To recommend that location suitability be assessed as part of the PC external 

audit/review. 

 To recommend that consideration be given to extend and enable out of hours 

accessibility of disabled toilets in major tourism locations, through security 

improvements.  

 

2.7 Costs & Opportunities 

The panel acknowledged that building, repairs and maintenance are equally suffering from 

current rising prices so reducing annual spend was unlikely without reduced provision.  The 

suggestion of standardising equipment and spares and new build design may help reduce 

costs.  

The panel discussed experience of other coastal locations to only provide banks of self-

contained units which prevent wasted building, fitting and cleaning of internal lobbies which 

also may reduce opportunity for vandalism.  Individual units could be opened to reflect need 

(ie close some units during winter) to again reduce costs and vandalism. 

Automatic opening and closing systems was also briefly discussed as a means to reduce costs 

but this had been tried at North Walsham and was found to be very problematic with issues of 

people being locked in as well as breakdowns and failures. 

COSTS AND OPPORTUNITIES RECOMMENDATIONS 

 To recommended that a standard design ‘type’ be adopted that is flexible enough 

to fit most locations where new build may be an option.  The use of single self-

contained WC cubicles would eliminate wasted lobby areas, address equality 

and diversity needs and allow partial closures during quieter months or 

maintenance works. 

 To recommend that design and cost-benefit analysis of self-contained cubicle 

facilities are undertaken for all new public conveniences or major 

refurbishments (where possible) to offer single sex and gender neutral facilities 

in line with current legislation. 

 To recommend that all opportunities are regularly explored to improve the 

financial sustainability and continuation of public conveniences across the 

District such as service costs and maintenance, to include new technology, 

advertisement and commercial opportunities.  

 

2.8 Environment and Future proofing 

The Panel is supportive of these facilities using green technology and solutions to reduce 

carbon footprint.  The panel was pleased to learn a carbon-neutral facility is being designed 

and costed for installation in North Walsham. 

Page 106



5 
 

The Panel discussed the issues caused by campervans emptying their waste in public facilities 

– a situation acutely felt at Weybourne where such practices has swamped the eco facility.  It 

was mentioned that Emily Capps had sought solutions with camp sites in the area with little 

positive result.  The Panel wondered if County Council managed waste disposal sites could 

accommodate such waste. 

ENVIRONMENT AND FUTURE PROOFING RECOMMENDATIONS 

 To recommended that when a new build or major refurbishment is required that 

the decision matrix is used to determine if the facility is of an appropriate size 

(i.e. numbers of cubicles) and in a desirable location (see audit/review results).  

 To recommended that any major refurbishments or new builds include costings 

for green/renewable technology to reduce environmental impact (energy 

efficiency, water use, carbon reduction) and cost efficiencies so that Members 

can select the most appropriate course of action for each location. 

 To recommend the investigation of the potential for installation of campervan 

waste disposal facilities at existing suitable public convenience sites and 

County run public recycling centres with subsequent advertisement.  

 
3. Implications and Risks  

It is felt the inclusion of the recommendations made would have positive implications for the 

Strategy and reduce risk by clarifying overall objectives. 

4. Financial Implications and Risks  

It is understood a budget has already been agreed for the audit process.  There may be 

financial implications regarding setting cleansing standards.  Otherwise there are no additional 

financial implications to the recommendations made. 

5. Sustainability  

Sustainability options and future proofing of facilities are discussed in this report. 

6. Equality and Diversity  

The public conveniences provision and this Strategy does support equality and diversity and 
recommends these are considered and embraced in future provision. 

7. Section 17 Crime and Disorder considerations  

Crime and Disorder considerations should form part of the audit report. Public toilet designs 

are always reviewed by the Police to highlight any design concerns. 

 

 

 

  

Page 107



6 
 

Appendix 1 

External audit of current public toilet facilities 

An audit of facilities should look at assessing the following features of ‘good, quality toilet 

provision’.  The review should take into account an assessment of each facility and offer 

recommendations for improvements.  The audit should be made from the customer 

perspective and an understanding of expectation and knowledge of public toilet use is 

expected. 

It may be possible to solicit public opinion as part of this process.  

The check list can be used to help ensure new facilities meet these standards. 

1. Signage & Communication 

2. Décor and Maintenance 

3. Fixtures and Fittings 

4. Cleanliness & Hygiene 

5. General comfort and customer care 

6. Accessibility 

7. Additional facilities 

8. Opening hours 

9. Security 

10. Energy efficiencies and green  technology 

11. Location 

The following list is not exhaustible and some answers can easily be provided in house.   

Ideally costed recommendations for change should be provided as part of this review. 

 

Public Convenience Provision Audit 

Facility  

Location (address)  

Day and Date audited  

Opening hours  

 

 Criteria Score 1-
51 

1) Signage and communication 

1.1 Is the facility well signposted from key areas such as, main pedestrian 
routes and town centres? 

 

1.2 Has the facility got an identifiable name?  

1.3 Are the opening times and other key information clearly displayed? 
Including contact details and ownership including cleansing? 

 

1.4 Is any other information provided? (ie health promotion)  

1.5 Are there ‘No Smoking’ signs?  

2) Décor and Maintenance 

2.1 Is the external décor clean and tidy/ well maintained?  

                                                           
1 1 is not existent, 2 is some provision or provision is poor, 3 is acceptable provision, 4 is good but could easily 
be improved further, 5 is excellent.  Where an answer is Yes or NO. If the response is NO =1 and if YES - then 
rate the quality/quantity of provision. (eg: Yes there is some natural light but overgrown bushes outside means 
the overall light provided naturally is poor – 2) 

Page 108



7 
 

2.2 Is the internal décor clean and tidy/ well maintained?  

2.3 Is the facility well lit in all areas?  

2.4 Is lighting low energy, vandal resistant, flush fitting?  

2.5 Is safety flooring fitted?  

2.6 Is there good ventilation?  

2.7 Do the windows open?  

2.8 Are there any areas poorly maintained or showing signs of 
degradation? 

 

3) Fixtures and fittings 

3.1 Does the facility provide a family room?  

3.2 Are baby change facilities accessible and in good condition?  

3.3 Are the hand drying units energy efficient?  

3.4 Is at least one ambient cubicle provided?  

3.5 Do urinals have flush control systems to reduce water consumption?  

3.6 Is there suitable/sufficient sanitary and nappy waste disposal facilities?  

3.7 Is the facility decorated to the corporate colours/style?  

3.8 Do cubicle door open inwards?  

3.8 Are locks easy to open and close?  

3.9 Are handbag /coat hooks provided on backs of doors?  

4) Cleanliness 

4.1 On a scale of 1 – 10 how would you rate the standard of cleanliness 
during your visit? 

 

4.2 How often is the facility cleaned (Serco)?  

4.3 Are the facilities monitored at peak times?  

4.4 Are there any signs of graffiti?  

4.5 Is there evidence to suggest wilful damage?  

4.6 Are the soap dispensers’ hands free?  

4.7 Are the toilet roll dispensers fit for purpose? Maintained (ie not run 
out)? 

 

4.8 Is there an electric air ventilation system?   

4.9 Are there air freshening units in busy toilets?  

4.10 If waste bins are provided are they overflowing?  

5) General comfort and customer care 

5.1) How often are the toilets inspected by senior providers.. 
For hygiene? 
For maintenance? 

 

5.2 Is hot water available for washing?  

5.3 Are bags and disposal units provided in women’s cubicles?   

5.4 Are vending machines provided? (eg: nappies, sanitary products)  

5.5 Are the cubicles easy to access/use/ exit safely and comfortably  

6) Accessible toilets and changing places 

6.1) Do entrance doors open outwards?  

6.2) Are doors of a contrasting colour?  

6.3) Is an extractor fan fitted/working?  

6.4) Are grab rails fitted adjacent to WC?  

6.5) Are hand basins close enough/ accessible from the WC?  

6.6)  Are coat hooks and mirrors fitted at the correct height?  

6.7) Are details given on where a radar key can be purchased?  

6.8) Are emergency alarm cords or buttons within reach at both floor and 
waist level? 

 

6.9)  How is help provided when alarm cord pulled?  

6.10) Is all the changing places equipment in good, clean order and working?  

6.11) Is there signs of deterioration/misuse or damage?  

6.12) Is the access easy to enter and exit the facility for an incumbent user?  

Page 109



8 
 

6.13) Are all access ways ramped or level?  

7) Baby change facilities 

7.1) Does the facility have a wide door for double buggy access?  

7.2) Is the baby change unit; clean, sturdy,   

7.3) Are the straps clean, useable and safe?  

7.4) Are the lights bright and the water warm?  

7.5) Is a toddler toilet seat fitted?  

7.6) Is the room decorated to provide a child friendly environment?  

8) Opening Hours 

8.1) What are the opening hours  

8.2) BTA recommends at least 12 hours per day – does this facility comply?  

8.3) Is a 24 hour facility available in each locality?  

8.4) Is provision made for longer openings at peak periods?  

9) Security 

9.1) Is the lighting provided ensure ALL the external areas are well lit?  

9.2) Is the facility subject to antisocial behaviour? (ie: 4 or more incidents in 
12 month period) 

 

9.3) Are security/attendance visits undertaken daily?  

9.4) Are CCTV cameras in operation on external areas or lobbies on high 
risk facilities? 

 

9.5) Are prosecution warning signs clearly visible?  

10) Energy efficiencies – are any of the following installed? 

10.1 PIR sensor lights?  

10.2 Infra-red flushing systems  

10.3 Solar powered lighting  

10.4 Solar powered heating?  

10.5 Non-concussive taps installed?  

10.6 Toilet cistern reduction systems?  

10.7 Is there good natural light?  

10.8 Recycled products  

10.9 Are the cleansing chemicals environmentally friendly products?  

11) Location 

11.1 Is the location well situated for users?  

11.2 Is parking or a transport hub located close by?  

11.3 Is the site (within NNDC ownership) well maintained?  

 TOTAL SCORE  

 

  

Page 110



9 
 

Appendix 2 

Below is an example of a cleansing routine. 2   Cleaning methodologies including chemical 

use, equipment use and method to be used for different elements and situations should form 

part of the cleansing operatives training.  Regular checks should be made by supervisors to 

ensure acceptable standards are met. 

An example of instructions for Cleaning Public Toilets 

DAILY 
Step 1) Use the correct COSHH approved cleaning products including, 
cleaning chemicals, cleaning tools, dispenser refills, personal protection and safety signs. 
Step 2) Initial Inspection 
- Place safety signs to prevent visitor entry 
- Wear the correct protective clothing including gloves and goggles. 
- Report any misuse, vandalism or malfunctioning eqipment 
Step 3) Clean toilets and urinals 
- Pour a generous amount of cleaning solution into the toilet bowl and allow to soak for 
approx 10 minutes. 
- Using a toilet mop swab inside the toilet bowl thoroughly and flush. 
- Using a damp microfiber cloth soaked in cleaning solution wipe the exterior including seats 
and handles. 
- Repeat the above for urinals 
Step 4) Sweep floors and remove litter 
- Remove bin liner and sanitize the bin 
- Replace bin liner 
- Remove bin liners and replace for feminine care receptacles. 
These are to be placed in a separate offensive waste stream. 
Step 5) Clean cubicles, sinks, mirrors and all surfaces – pay extra attention to key surfaces 
such as  push plates and taps, flush mechanisms 
- Work from top to bottom 
- Use glass cleaning solution for mirrors 
Step 6) Refill dispensers 
- Refill toilet paper 
- Refill hand soap dispensers 
- Check metered air fresheners if necessary replace cartridges 
Step 7) Mop floor 
- Prepare buckets with water and cleaning solution 
- Rinse the mop in between different areas 
Step 8) Final Inspection 
- Check everything is in working condition 
- Restroom should be free from litter and odour 
- Remove safety sign 
 
WEEKLY 
Step 9) Clean/dust high level surfaces as appropriate 
 
MONTHLY 
Step 10) Clean external windows inside and out, clean associated signage (opening times etc) 

 
Further example of cleaning manual 
Microsoft Word - HCC Care Cleaning Manual June 2018 final_(HF000016796843).doc (hants.gov.uk) 

 

                                                           
2 A Step By Step Guide on How to Clean Public Toilets (thenugroup.co.uk) 

Page 111

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/adultservices/Procedures/HCC-Care-Cleaning-Manual.pdf
https://www.thenugroup.co.uk/blog/a9/a-step-by-step-guide-on-how-to-clean-public-toilets


10 
 

Appendix 3  

Recommendations Summary  

1. To recommend that an external audit of the Council’s public conveniences is 

undertaken to review factors including: lighting, signage, cleanliness, site position, 

energy efficiency etc.  

2. To recommend that a review of the outcomes of the external audit alongside current 

structural surveys is undertaken during winter 2022-23 to develop an action plan for 

the facilities in 2023-24 and annually thereafter, actioned by Property Services, 

Estates and the Environmental Health (Cleansing).  

3. To recommend that a simple customer feedback system is created and promoted to 

obtain and maintain ongoing feedback to support and evidence need for future 

changes or address any issues. 

4. To recommend that the Strategy is reviewed and updated at least every 4 years, and 

that an annual review of the service provision and customer feedback is undertaken 

by Property Services and cleansing providers, and considered by the Overview & 

Scrutiny Committee or Scrutiny Panel.  

5. To recommend that a cleansing ‘standard’ is established, embedded and reported 

on to ensure cross facility standards are maintained across the District. 

6. To recommend that the decision making matrix be used and refined to determine 

future need. 

7. To recommend that location suitability be assessed as part of the PC external 

audit/review. 

8. To recommend that consideration be given to extend and enable out of hours 

accessibility of disabled toilets in major tourism locations, through security 

improvements.  

9. To recommended that a standard design ‘type’ be adopted that is flexible enough to 

fit most locations where new build may be an option.  The use of single self-

contained WC cubicles would eliminate wasted lobby areas, address equality and 

diversity needs and allow partial closures during quieter months or maintenance 

works. 

10. To recommend that design and cost-benefit analysis of self-contained cubicle 

facilities are undertaken for all new public conveniences or major refurbishments 

(where possible) to offer single sex and gender neutral facilities in line with current 

legislation. 

11. To recommend that all opportunities are regularly explored to improve the financial 

sustainability and continuation of public conveniences across the District such as 

service costs and maintenance, to include new technology, advertisement and 

commercial opportunities.  

12. To recommended that when a new build or major refurbishment is required that the 

decision matrix is used to determine if the facility is of an appropriate size (ie 

numbers of cubicles) and in a desirable location (see audit/review results).  

13. To recommended that any major refurbishments or new builds include costings for 

green/renewable technology to reduce environmental impact (energy efficiency, 

water use, carbon reduction) and cost efficiencies so that Members can select the 

most appropriate course of action for each location. 

14. To recommend investigation of the potential for installation of campervan waste 

disposal facilities at existing suitable public convenience sites and County run 

public recycling centres with subsequent advertisement.  

 

Page 112



North Norfolk District Council 
Cabinet Work Programme  

For the Period 01 July to 30 November 2022 
 

  Key Decision – a decision which is likely to incur expenditure or savings of £100,000 or more, or affect two or more wards. (NNDC 
Constitution, p9 s12.2b) 
* Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (As amended by the Local Authorities (Access to Information) (Exempt Information) (England) Order 
2006) 

        

Committee(s) Meeting Report title Cabinet member Corporate Plan theme Decision Details 

September 2022      

Cabinet 11 July 2022 Engagement 
Strategy 

Virginia Gay 
Steve Hems 
Director for 
Communities 

Quality of Life  Pre-scrutiny 

Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny 
 
Council 
 

06 Sept 2022 
 
14 Sept 2022 
 
21 Sept 2022 

Out-turn report 
2021/2022 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 
Chief Technical 
Accountant 
 

Financial Sustainability  

Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny 
 
Council 

06 Sept 2022 
 
14 Sept 2022 
 
21 Sept 2022 

Treasury 
Management 
Annual Report 
2021/2022 
 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 
Chief Technical 
Accountant 
 

Financial Sustainability  

Cabinet 
 

06 Sep 2022 Property 
Transactions 
Cromer – Collector’s 
Cabin 
 
Cedar House, NW 

Eric Seward 
Nicky Debbage 
Renata Garfoot 
 
 

Financial Sustainability 
Local Homes for Local 
Need  

Possible Exempt 
information 

Cabinet 
 
 

06 Sept 2022 
 
14 Sept 2022 
 
21 Sept 2022 
 

Debt Management 
Annual Report 
2021/2022 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 
Chief Technical 
Accountant 
 

Financial Sustainability  

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 14



North Norfolk District Council 
Cabinet Work Programme  

For the Period 01 July to 30 November 2022 
 

  Key Decision – a decision which is likely to incur expenditure or savings of £100,000 or more, or affect two or more wards. (NNDC 
Constitution, p9 s12.2b) 
* Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (As amended by the Local Authorities (Access to Information) (Exempt Information) (England) Order 
2006) 

        

September 2022      
Cabinet 06 Sept 2022 Managing 

Performance Q1 
Tim Adams 
Steve Blatch 
Chief Executive 

  

October 2022      
Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny 
 

03 Oct 2022 
 
12 Oct 2022 
 

Council Tax 
Discount 
Determination 
2021/22 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 
Chief Technical 
Accountant 

Financial Sustainability  

Cabinet  03 Oct 2022 Youth Council 
Update – terms of 
reference 
 

Lucy Shires 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services 
Manager 

  

November 2022      
Cabinet 
 
Scrutiny 
 
Council 

03 Oct 2022 
 
12 Oct 2022 
 
16 Nov 2022 
 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 
 

Eric Seward 
Lucy Hume 
Chief Technical 
Accountant 

Financial Sustainability  

 

P
age 114



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

Meeting Topic Officer / Member Objectives & desired outcomes Time cycle 
May 2022     

Scrutiny 
Anglian Water – Sewage Outflows 
Briefing/Q&A 

 
To receive a briefing on sewage outflow events and 
efforts/investment made to address these + Q&A 

Council 
Request 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny  

Officer Delegated Decisions 
Emma Denny 
Cllr T Adams 

To review officer delegated decisions   

Scrutiny  
O&S Draft 2022/23 Work 
Programme 

Matt Stembrowicz 
Cllr N Dixon 

To review and approve the Committee’s draft 
2022/23 Work Programme 

Annual  

Scrutiny 
Cabinet 

Pre-Scrutiny: Engagement 
Strategy 

Karen Hill 
Cllr V Gay 

Pre-scrutiny of the emerging wider Councils’ 
Engagement Strategy prior to Cabinet approval  

 

Scrutiny 
Cabinet 

Pre-Scrutiny: Parklands Property 
Disposal  

Neil Turvey  
Cllr E Seward 

Pre-scrutiny oversight of Cabinet decision on 
Parklands property transaction  

 

Scrutiny  
Cabinet 

Levelling-Up Fund Round 2  
Steve Blatch 
Cllr T Adams 

Received as Urgent item  

June     

 Finance Reports Delayed    

 Finance Reports Delayed    

 Finance Reports Delayed    

Scrutiny Enforcement Board Update 
Martyn Fulcher 
Cllr N Lloyd/J Toye 

To receive an update on the work of the 
Enforcement Board 

Bi-annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Performance Monitoring Q4 
Steve Blatch 
Cllr T Adams 

To monitor the Council’s performance and consider 
any recommendations to Cabinet 

Quarterly 

Scrutiny Benchmarking Report 
Helen Thomas 
Cllr T Adams 

To review performance benchmarking data 
comparatively with similar authorities 

Quarterly 

 
Sheringham Leisure Centre 
Project Closedown Update  

   

Scrutiny  
Council 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Annual Report  

Matt Stembrowicz  
Cllr N Dixon 

To approve annual summary of Committee work for 
2021-22 

Annual 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 15



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

 

Meeting Topic Officer / Member Objectives & desired outcomes Time cycle 

July     

Scrutiny 
Ambulance Response Times 
Monitoring: EEAST & Integrated 
Care Board   

Matt Stembrowicz 
Cllr V Holliday 

To receive an briefing on the status of ambulance 
response times issues in coastal areas of the District 

Committee 
Request 

Scrutiny 
Impact of Second Homes & 
Holiday Lets – Data Report   

Matt Stembrowicz 
Cllr L Withington  

To review the Council’s new Housing Strategy  
Committee 
Request 

Scrutiny  
Cabinet 

EQL Scrutiny Panel: Public 
Convenience Recommendations 

Maxine Collis 
Cllr H Blathwayt 

To review summary report and recommendations to 
Cabinet made by EQL Scrutiny Panel 

TBC 

Scrutiny 
Waste Contract: Verbal update on 
TOM implementation 

Steve Hems 
Cllr N Lloyd 

A verbal update to provide assurance that TOM 
implementation remains on-track for September 

Committee 
Request  

September     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Budget Monitoring P4 Cllr E Seward To review the budget monitoring position Periodical 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Performance Monitoring Q1 
Steve Blatch 
Cllr T Adams 

To monitor the Council’s performance and consider 
any recommendations to Cabinet 

Quarterly 

Scrutiny Benchmarking Report 
Helen Thomas 
Cllr T Adams 

To review performance benchmarking data 
comparatively with similar authorities 

Quarterly 

Scrutiny 
Planning Service Improvement 
Plan 

Martyn Fulcher 
Cllr J Toye 

To review the Planning Service Improvement Plan 
and responses to the Customer Experience Survey 

Committee 
Request 

Scrutiny NWHSHAZ Project Monitoring 
Rob Young 
Cllr R Kershaw 

To monitor the implementation of the NWHSHAZ 
Project. 

Quarterly 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Debt Management Annual Report 
(Cabinet recommendation) TBC 

Sean Knight 
Cllr E Seward 

Committee to consider recommendation to Council 
Annual - 
Delayed 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Treasury Management Annual 
Report  
(Cabinet recommendation) TBC 

Cllr E Seward  Committee to consider recommendation to Council 
Annual - 
Delayed 

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Council  
Out-turn report TBC Cllr E Seward  

To make any recommendations to Council – To 
include an update on savings proposals  

Annual - 
Delayed 

Scrutiny 
Sheringham Leisure Centre 
Project Review TBC 

Rob Young 
Cllr V Gay 

To review the implementation of the Sheringham 
Leisure Centre Project 

Committee 
Request 

P
age 116



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

 

Meeting Topic Officer / Member Objectives & Desired Outcomes Time cycle 

October     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Council Tax Discount 
Determinations (Cabinet 
Recommendation) 

Lucy Hume 
Cllr E Seward 

To determine the Council Tax discounts for 2023/24 Annual 

Scrutiny Car Park Usage Monitoring Cllr E Seward 
To undertake an annual review of the usage and 
revenue of the Council’s public car parks  

Annual  

Cabinet WP 
Scrutiny 

NWHSHAZ Project Monitoring 
Rob Young  
Cllr R Kershaw  

To monitor the implementation of the NWHSHAZ 
Project.  

Quarterly 

Scrutiny Beach Huts & Chalets Monitoring 
Renata Garfoot 
Cllr E Seward 

To monitor the occupancy, condition and revenue of 
the beach huts and chalets.  

Annual  

Scrutiny Waste Contract: Serco Briefing 
Steve Hems 
Cllr N Lloyd 

To receive a formal update on the implementation of 
the  revised waste contract TOM  

Committee 
request 

 
 
 

   

November     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Budget Monitoring P6 Cllr E Seward To review the budget monitoring position Periodical  

Scrutiny Coastal Protection Briefing 
Cllr A Fitch-Tillett 
Rob Goodliffe 

Review maintenance of sea defences, the impact of 
coastal erosion on residents and associated costs 

Committee 
request 

 
 

    

 
  

    

December     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Treasury Management Half-Yearly 
Report  
(Cabinet recommendation) 

Cllr E Seward Committee to consider recommendation to Council Six Monthly 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Performance Monitoring Q2 
Steve Blatch 
T Adams 

To monitor the Council’s performance and consider 
any recommendations to Cabinet 

Quarterly 

Scrutiny Enforcement Board Update  
Martyn Fulcher 
N Lloyd/J Toye  

To receive an update on the work of the 
Enforcement Board 

Bi-annual 

    
 
 

 
 

    

P
age 117



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

 

Meeting Topic Officer / Member Objectives & Desired Outcomes Time cycle 

January 2023     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Pre-Scrutiny: Draft MTFS 2023-26 
incorporating draft Base Budget 
2023-24 

Cllr E Seward To review the proposed budget and projections Annual 

Cabinet WP 
Scrutiny 

NWHSHAZ Project Monitoring 
Rob Young 
Cllr R Kershaw  

To monitor the implementation of the NWHSHAZ 
Project.  

Quarterly 

    
 
 

 
 

    

February     

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Treasury Strategy  
(Cabinet recommendation) 

Lucy Hume 
Cllr E Seward 

Committee to consider recommendation to Council Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Capital Strategy  
(Cabinet recommendation) 

Lucy Hume 
Cllr E Seward 

Committee to consider recommendation to Council Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny 

Council 

Investment Strategy  
(Cabinet recommendation)  

Lucy Hume 
Cllr E Seward 

Committee to consider recommendation to Council Annual 

Cabinet 
Scrutiny  

Council  
Fees & Charges Cllr E Seward 

To undertake an annual review of the Council’s fees 
and charges and consider any recommendations for 
changes 

Annual 

Scrutiny 
Ambulance Response Times 
Monitoring  

Cllr V Holliday 
To monitor ambulance response times data across 
the District  

Six-Monthly 

    
 
 

P
age 118



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 

 

Meeting Topic Officer / Member Objectives & Desired Outcomes Time cycle 

March     

Cabinet  
Scrutiny 

Budget Monitoring P10 Cllr E Seward To review the budget monitoring position Periodic  

Scrutiny 
Cabinet  

Performance Monitoring Q3 
Steve Blatch 
T Adams 

To monitor the Council’s performance and consider 
any recommendations to Cabinet 

Quarterly 

Scrutiny Crime and Disorder Briefing  
Nigel Dixon 
M Stembrowicz 

PCC Briefing and Q&A – Topic TBA Annual 

    
 
 

    
 
 

April     

Cabinet WP 
Scrutiny 

NWHSHAZ Project Monitoring 
Rob Young 
Cllr R Kershaw  

To monitor the implementation of the NWHSHAZ 
Project.  

Quarterly 

 
 

    

  
 
 

  

 
 
 

   

 ITEMS TBC    

 
Mental health services in North 
Norfolk TBC 

 
Consider existing work of NHOSC in response to 
CQC rating 

 

 
Economic Development Strategy – 
TBC awaiting production  

   

 Cost of living crisis   
Consider options available to the Council to further 
assist residents 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY: OUTCOMES & ACTION LIST - JUNE 2022 
                    

REPORT, RECOMMENDATIONS & ACTIONS ACTION BY DATE  

10. MANAGING PERFORMANCE QUARTER 4 AND CUMULATIVELY FOR 2021/2022  
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. To note this report and endorse the actions being taken by Corporate Leadership Team detailed in 

Appendix A – Managing Performance. 
 
ACTIONS 
 
2. To revise and present new performance management framework data focusing on 

outcomes/issues and/or exceptions reporting and present at the September O&S meeting. 
 

3. To review the new performance management framework and agree on key outcomes/issues or 
exceptions reporting at September O&S meeting 

 
 
 

 
O&S Committee 
 
 
 
 

PPMO 
 
 
O&S Committee 

 
 

 
 

June 2022 
 

 
 
 
September 2022 

 
 

September 2022 
 
 

 

11. NNDC PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKING 
 
RESOLVED 
 
To Receive benchmarking information as follows;  
 
1. Use the CIPFA nearest neighbours comparator group  
2. Report on a quarterly basis at the same time as the performance reporting.  
3. Seven key benchmarking areas to be included in the initial report as laid out in appendix 1.  
4. Performance areas are reviewed on a six-monthly basis. 
 

 
 

 
 
O&S Committee 

 
 

 
 
 
 

June 2022 

 

12. ENFORCEMENT UPDATE – JUNE 2022 
 
RESOLVED  
 
1. To note the continued progress of the Enforcement Board and the Combined Enforcement Team 

 
2. To request that Members are notified of all major enforcement action taken, or any significant 

progress made on cases within their wards, as outlined in the Member-Officer Protocol.  
  

 
 
 
 

O&S Committee 
 
CLT/ Combined 

Enforcement 
Team 

 
 
 
 

June 2022 
 

June 2022 
 
 

 

  

P
age 121



13. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 
 
RESOLVED 
 
1. To recommended that Council notes the report, affirms the work of the Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee, and considers the following concerns raised within the report:  
 

• Additional Committee substitutes required to adequately address the number of apologies 
given.  

• Late submission of reports continues to cause volatility in the Work Programme.  

• Too many ‘last minute’ requests to include items under Urgent Business which degrades both 
the quality of scrutiny and the opportunity to add maximum value to the process. 

 

 
 
 
 

Full Council 

 
 
 
 

June 2022 

 

 

P
age 122



Start Date Action Owner Status Completion Date

14.07.21
That a project review be added to the Committee’s Work 

Programme for consideration after opening of facility Matt Stembrowicz/Rob Young

Added to Work 

Programme 
16.07.21

14.07.21
Quarterly NWHSHAZ project updates to be added to Work 

Programme with the inc. budget/cash flow & project risks Matt Stembrowicz/Rob Young

Added to Work 

Programme 
16.07.21

14.07.21
To write to EEAST to express Committee's support for retaining 

the CFR - Rapid Response Vehicles Matt Stembrowicz

Letter sent to EEAST - 

Awaiting Response

14.07.21
Six-monthly updates to be added to the Committee Work 

Programme on Ambulance response times Matt Stembrowicz

Added to Work 

Programme 
16.07.21

14.07.21
Request information on the geographical location of the District’s 

Community First Responders. Matt Stembrowicz/Cllr V Holliday
Outstanding

15.09.21
RM to review Business Rates debts to uncover any potential 

issues relating to specific sector Sean Knight Data received - MS to report to O&S
13.10.21

15.09.21
Original deadlines alongside updated, and benchmarking data 

included in Performance report, where possible. CLT

Updated report 

provided
08.12.21

15.09.21
Ongoing consideration is given to improving the format & 

presentation of the performance report (TBC November) CLT

Updated report 

provided
08.12.21

15.09.21
Scrutiny Officer to arrange meeting to agree working 

arrangements of Scrutiny Panel(s). Matt Stembrowicz Discussion held
19.10.21

13.10.21
EASM to provide additional information relating to NNDC Beach Huts and ChaletsReanata Garfoot Awaiting information

11.11.21

13.10.21
DFC to arrange SERCO briefing/attendance at future Committee meeting.Steve Hems

Added to Work 

Programme 
14.10.21

10.11.21
DSGOS to seek appointments to Scrutiny Panel from Group 

Leaders Matt Stembrowicz Confirmed
20.12.21

08.12.21
Monthly verbal updates from DFC on Serco progress 

implementing waste contract revised TOM Steve Hems

Added to Work 

Programme 
20.12.21

08.12.21
Add Serco Briefing to the Work Programme for April 2022 for full 

update on implementation of the waste contract TOM Matt Stembrowicz

Added to Work 

Programme 
20.12.21

08.12.21
To arrange a Member Workshop on the use of the LG Inform 

benchmarking software. Matt Stembrowicz/CDU

Arranged for 

10.02.22

08.12.21
Less historic information within EB matrix, focus placed on 

metrics and commentary on complex cases in summary report Phillip Rowson June O&S EB Update
15.06.22

08.12.21
Review provision of EB information to local Members and 

Parish/Town Councils. Cllr J Toye/ADP

12.01.22
Consideration be given to including estimated costs of the Net 

Zero Strategy within the MTFS Cllr E Seward/Cllr N Lloyd/Duncan Ellis

12.01.22
To request that the Communications Team prepare a news item 

covering the outcomes of the MTI Project Matt Stembrowicz/Joe Ferrari

TBC Awaiting Final 

Completion

12.01.22
 Proposals for additional staff to support car park management 

reqire full business case if consideration of proposal supported. Duncan Ellis NA
NA

09.02.22
Member Briefing of Cromer Pier Matt Stembrowicz

Arranged for 

15.03.22
28.02.22

09.02.22
Written responses required on questions relating to the Pier Cllr V Gay

Responses provided 

during Pier Briefing
15.03.22

09.03.22
PCC to meet with Member Champion for Domestic Abuse Matt Stembrowicz

Meeting held 

05.04.22

09.03.22
Member Workshop be arranged to review and scrutinise 

benchmarking data in greater detail. Matt Stembrowicz Covered at June O&S
15.06.22

09.03.22
Draft Planning survey be shared with the Committee prior to 

release Martyn Fulcher

Completed at April 

O&S

09.03.22
Request that representatives of the Norfolk CCG and EEAST 

attend a future Overview & Scrutiny Committee Meeting Matt Stembrowicz

Requested - awaiting 

confirmation

06.04.22
DFC to update on implementation of the new collections TOM at 

July O&S meeting. Steve Hems

Added to Work 

Programme 

06.04.22
Review implementation of new collections target operating model 

at October O&S meeting Steve Hems

Added to Work 

Programme 

11.05.22
AW to improve communitincations with NNDC and residents to 

improve awareness of sewerage discharge events Matt Stembrowicz

NNDC contact 

updated, other 

11.05.22
AW Water Recycling Centre Visit Matt Stembrowicz Booked for 14.07.22

15.06.22
Revised peroformance data reporting format to be considered at 

September meeting Helen Thomas Due September 22

15.06.22
Review new framework and agree key outcomes/issues or 

exceptions reporting O&S Committee Due September 22

Page 123



15.06.22

Page 124


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Declarations of Interest
	Pages from Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 V2 0121
	Guidance on Local Government A_ Local Government Association 41

	10 Ambulance Response Times Monitoring: ICB (Former CCG) & EEAST
	11 CCfA: Impact of Second Homes and Holiday Lets Data Report
	CCfA Impact of Second and Holiday Homes Data Report FINAL
	Appendix A Second & Holiday homes 2022
	Sheet1

	Appendix B1 Second Homes 2022 (Portrait)
	Appendix B2 Holiday & Second Homes combined 2022 (Portrait)
	Appendix C national 2nd home comparisons
	Sheet1

	Appendix D AH Vs 2nd & holiday homes
	Sheet1

	Appendix E AH completions & 2nd Holiday homes
	Analysis

	APPENDIX F1 Evidence from eleswhere
	On the economic impacts of constraining second home investments
	1 Introduction
	2 Institutional background and the Second Home Initiative (SHI)
	3 The model
	3.1 Tourism industry
	3.2 Local residents
	3.3 Second home investors
	3.4 Housing developers
	3.5 Equilibrium outcomes (when primary and second homes are traded in separate markets)
	3.6 Equilibrium outcomes when primary and second homes are perfect substitutes

	4 Data and descriptive statistics
	4.1 Data sources and variables
	4.1.1 Housing transaction data
	4.1.2 Unemployment and wage data
	4.1.3 Second home rates
	4.1.4 Fiscal data
	4.1.5 Other municipality characteristics

	4.2 Descriptive statistics of control and treated municipalities

	5 Empirical research design
	6 Results
	6.1 Main results: impact of ban on price of primary homes and local unemployment
	6.2 Main results: impact of ban on price of second homes
	6.3 Results for alternative identification strategies and robustness checks
	6.4 Impact of ban on other outcomes
	6.5 Contextualization of results

	7 Conclusion
	Appendix
	Supplementary materials
	CRediT authorship contribution statement
	References


	APPENDIX F2 Evidence from eleswhere
	APPENDIX F3 Evidence from eleswhere

	12 EQL Scrutiny Panel: Public Conveniences Review & Recommendations Report
	14 The Cabinet Work Programme
	15 Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme and Update
	O&S Outcomes and Actions List 15.06.22
	O&S Actions Log




